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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board, | would like to present the audited annual results
of the Company for the year ended 31st December, 2009.

I. REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Entering 2009, the Chinese government put in place a progressive
financial policy and a moderately loose monetary policy, meanwhile
fully implementing and continuing to perfect a basket of schemes to
address the international financial crisis. The substantial increase in
fiscal expenditure, the implementation of structured tax reduction,
the maintenance of the rapid growth of monetary credit, the
enhanced sustainability of the monetary policy and the expansion of
the scale of direct financing satisfied the funding demand for
economic and social developments and increased internal demand
effectively. The downward trend of economy growth was turned
around quickly and the momentum of stability and positive signs
became evident gradually. In 2009, the GDP in China reached
RMB33.5 trillion, representing a year on year growth of 8.7%, but
the rate of increase decreased by 0.9% compared to last year. The
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

money supply accelerated its growth with new loans amounted to
RMB9.6 trillion, representing an increase of RMB4.7 trillion compared
to last year. Investment maintained its growth at a fast pace as
China’s fixed asset investments amounted to RMB22.5 trillion,
representing a year on year growth of 30.1%, increased by 4.6%
over last year. This brought about a larger development space for the
equipment industries in China, such as heavy-duty vehicles,
construction machinery, vessels and power generation.

In 2009, China’s heavy-duty trucks market showed restrain at the
beginning but then grew in the later past of the year. Impacted by
the international financial crisis, in the first two months it was
obvious that the heavy-duty trucks market was suffering a downward
trend. From March onward, the growth of the heavy-duty trucks
market had been driven directly by domestic real estate, road and
bridge construction and large-scale civil engineering construction, as
well as the corresponding significant growth of the mining industry
and energy demand. During the year, the domestic sales of heavy-
duty trucks totaled approximately 636,000 units, representing a
year-on-year growth of 17.7%. In particular, the forth quarter
became the top performing quarter of the year with total sales of
approximately 185,000 units, representing a year-on-year growth of
191.4%. With regard to the segmented markets of heavy-duty
trucks, the market share of complete vehicles and heavy-duty
incomplete vehicles increased by 2 and 1.3 percentage points,
respectively.

During the reporting period, the overall status of China’s heavy-duty
trucks market did not see much change and the strong players
remained strong, although competition was becoming more intense.
According to the statistics of A B /5 8 T % 1% & (China Association
of Automobile Manufacturers), the performance of the Company's
major customers such as Bt 74 & # /5 B F [R 2 A (Shaanxi Heavy-
duty Motor Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company), 4t /5 %&
M 32 R 15 A BR 2 7 (Beigi Futian Motor Company Limited), £ 884t
7B E A R B A R & (T A A (Baotou North-Benz Heavy-Duty
Truck Co., Ltd.), and % BT /)7 8 & 1» B BR 22 B (Anhui Jianghuai
Automotive Co., Ltd.), etc. all maintained their leading position,
hence driving the Company general market share increased slightly.
The Company’s aggregate sales of heavy-duty truck engines reached
approximately 226,000 units in 2009, representing a year-on-year
increase of 14.60%. According to the statistics of A B /5 5 T % #
& (China Association of Automobile Manufacturers), the Company’s
market share in the 14 tonnes (and above) gross weight heavy-duty
truck market reached 35.6%. Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, reported an aggregate sales of
approximately 58,000 units of heavy-duty trucks, representing a
decrease of 8.75% over last year. BRPEA TS & & AR & £ 2 A
(Shaanxi Fast Gear Co. Ltd.), a subsidiary of the Company, reported
an aggregate sales of approximately 532,000 units of heavy-duty
gear boxes, representing an increase of 14.54% over last year, and
maintained its leading position as the largest heavy-duty vehicle gear
boxes manufacturer in China.

In 2009, China’s engineering machinery market suffered a rather
large impact from the international financial crisis, the severe
contraction in the overseas export market and the shrinking demand
for coals and iron ore. Consequently, market sales recorded a year-
on-year fall. Since China is still undergoing rapid urbanization and
industrialization, the implementation of strategies such as the
Western China Development strategy, the Rise of Central China
strategy, the invigoration of industrial base in the Northeast and
development of new villages, and the crisis-fighting measures have
driven the growth of China’s infrastructural investments in areas such
as railways, roads, ports, projects for people’s well-being and
reconstruction in disaster area. These in turn have partially offset the
negative impact of the financial crisis. A total of approximately
422,000 units of construction machines were sold in China during
20009, representing a decrease of 8.7% over last year, in which sales
of wheel loaders with a load capacity of 5 tonnes amounted to
approximately 97,000 units, representing a decrease of 7.6% over
last year. However, the wheel loaders market showed a sign of
recovery since August. According to the statistics of B T 2 # #; 173
& (China Construction Machinery Association), the Company’s major
customers, such as A B 82 T 4% f& & B 2 &) (China Infrastructure
Machinery Holdings Limited), 1L ® e T T 2 # # & B 2 &
(Shandong Lingong Construction Machinery Co., Ltd.), % T T 2 #
% B A R A 7 (Xuzhou Construction Machinery Group Inc.), X &P
B T ## B R 2 7] (Chengdu Construction Machinery Co., Inc.), L
B I T # M & B 2 7 (Shandong SEM Machinery Co., Ltd.), all
recorded decline over last year, hence dragging the growth of the
Company’s product sales. The Company’s sales of engines for
construction machinery were approximately 82,000 units in 2009,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 7.00%. According to the
information published on the website of & B T 2 # # = 8 @
(China Construction Machinery Network), the Company had a market
share of 80.0% in the market of wheel loader engines with a load
capacity of 5 tonnes (and above), which is almost the same with that
in last year.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

During the reporting period, with our technology innovation, the
Company continued to lead the power-transmission development in
China. The national commercial vehicles power system assembly
engineering technique research centre and the strategic alliance for
technical innovation of commercial vehicles and construction
machinery new energy power industry were approved by the Ministry
of Science and Technology, laying the platform for the Company to
enhance our system R&D capacity and seize the core advanced
technique. Entering the heavy-duty trucks China Ill release phase, the
Company’s high-power high-speed “Landking”engines, which we
own the intellectual property right, have been well received by the
market for their advantages in areas such as environment protection,
energy saving and reliability. During the reporting period,
approximately 170,000 units of 10-12L China Il engines were sold,
making them the flagship product in the domestic engines market for
the electrically-controlled high pressure common rail system.
“Landking” China IV engines have entered the market testing phase
in small batches, and successfully matched with companies such as
Shaanxi Zhonggi and Beiqgi Futian. Meanwhile, the Company actively
advanced the work for product structure adjustment. Our self
researched and developed 5-7L “Landking” engines fully reached the
release standard of China IIl and China IV and entered the
commercialization phase in small batches. The acquisition of Moteurs
Baudouin of France, the restructuring of Weichai Power Yangzhou
Diesel Engine Co. Ltd. (# 5 &) 71 45 M %l # B R & £ 2 al) and
the agreement with VM Company regarding the technical
introduction for small-bore engines have enabled the Company to
own 2-3L and over 16L high-speed products, initially forming the
complete product range for our engines business. Following a 12-
month brand promotion and quality enhancement, Shaanxi Zhonggqi’s
F3000 has developed positive market reputation and sales base.
Marked by the launch of this product, Shaanxi Zhonggi will jump up
to a new development platform where its role among leading in
complete vehicles will become more prominent. While SFGC's
products such as small gear boxes have started to enter the market, a
new growing point has been created for the Company and our
development prospect will become brighter.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

IT.

During the reporting period, the Company focused on long term and
persisted development with internal quality. We have successfully
fostered changes during the crisis and development during the
changes. Based on our continued satisfactory implementation of lean
management tools and control model, in 2009 the Company focused
on the launch of four innovative management initiatives: (1) the
introduction of the WOS management model gradually helped the
Company’'s development progress to integrate with advanced
international management and production concepts; (2) the launch
of the innovative appraisal management scheme and enterprise salary
system reform stimulated the innovative initiative of the entire
workforce; (3) the activation of centralized training for managers
allowed nearly 500 leaders within the Company take turn to receive
training, further unifying their value of judgement and enhancing
their personal quality constantly; (4) with the assistance of an
internationally renowned consultant, the organization and structure
of the sales and marketing system and workflow were refined with a
stronger capability in market planning, market management,
marketing and information management to support the Company’s
long term development.

The Company maintained its development momentum and sold
approximately 322,000 units of different models of diesel engines in
the period, representing an increase of 9.03% over the last year.
Revenue increased by approximately 8.27% over last year to
approximately RMB35,261 million. The net profit attributable to
shareholders was RMB3,407 million, representing an increase of
76.62% over the last year. The basic earnings per share increased by
approximately 76.29% over last year to approximately RMB4.09.

DIVIDEND

Putting shareholders’ interests and return as its top priority, the
Company has been maintaining a relatively stable dividend policy. The
Board proposed to declare a final dividend of RMB0.48 per share for
the year ended 31st December, 2009. The resolution in respect of the
declaration of final dividend will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting for approval. The Company will strive to
realize the sustainable growth of dividend and maximize the return of
shareholders.

FRE®

Of

Z(

i
L

REMAN ARRZFREE  BFAE
AR BERAECKTRESE £EE
PRER -ERBETEHRETERERT
AMEERANERLE —TFTHF
NREIEFEETHEEEANTRE : —
EHEATWOSERERNX  ZHXERK
BRLEES HEETBRAZ QAR
RAERT  —ZEHHELTRAIFAEARE
EHE HOXFMERETTHRE
BETZERAFNERE Z—RRET
REBIEREI LR - # 2 F 500
HALRAET TR - BEBRE—F
M— BERETEHRA  DREBRK
ERBARRNBET EFEIET &
HRSABEBIIRE - MR SR
2 mEERE MHEEEMEEEERER
B RRARMREERREHEXSE -

KRB RAHERNEERFERITIZESD
98 o HESETRLEA A L h 3B 1
49322846 ALLEREI% °~ & HE W
A# BT EBTARE AR
827% - RRE( FFIEL /34078 &
TARE  RIEE#76.62% o FKE
RBFHABILOTARE  BiEed
76.29% -

iz =2

ARBT+HERBRERNME R EH - I
—HEEFTERARENKERK -EFE

EREREE_TTNF+=A=1+—
HIEMBRFESKRARK048T 2 KE
BB - BEREZERAPRE ZRAFER
BREIERITZERRAFAG LIREMN
E#LE - ARRIBEHES NERKRE
EREFEEBTHE  ARRAERER
i o

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 iR

09



10

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

[IT. ACQUISITION AND CONSOLIDATION

IV,

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

During the reporting period, the Company seized the opportunity in
the crisis, and integrated domestic and overseas quality resources
actively. In January 2009, the Company, through our subsidiary
Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International Development Limited,
acquired Moteurs Baudouin of France for 2.99 million euros. Moteurs
Baudouin’s major product M26 engine is the ideal power system for
luxurious yachts, boats and power generators, which greatly
compliments the Company’s current product portfolio. The
completion of the restructuring of Weichai Power Yangzhou Diesel
Engine Co. Ltd. at the end of 2009 created conditions for
establishing a production base for a million small-bore power,
marking the Company’s concentrated effort in implementing the
Yangtze River Delta business sector strategy in full scale, following
our Bohai Rim business platform and the Southwest business
platform.

QUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Looking into 2010, the external development environment may
become better compared to last year but the situation facing us is
extremely complex. The dynamics between various positive changes
and unfavorable factors will increase the “dilemmas” during the
development of an economic society.

From the international perspective, it is hopeful that the world
economy will recover and grow while the international financial
market is stabilizing gradually. The trend of the further deepening of
globalization of economies remains unchanged, while new
development opportunities are cultivated by substantial reforms in
and adjustments to the world economy. Nonetheless, the foundation
for the recovery of the world economy is still rather weak, financial
risks have not been reduced fully, many countries are struggling to
launch stimulation policy, fluctuation in international prices for major
commodities and exchange rates for major currencies may increase,
and the rise of trade protectionism becomes evident. These coupled
with complex global issues such as climate change, food safety and
energy resources indicate that many unstable and uncertain factors
are still present in the external environment.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

From the domestic perspective, China is still in the crucial strategic
opportunity phase while the base for an economic recovery has been
further strengthened. The Chinese government is clear about its
continued implementation of the active fiscal policy and the
moderately loose monetary policy. The policy effect of increasing
domestic demand and improving people’s livelihood is expected to
continue. Meanwhile, the pace and quality of China’s macro
economic growth is subject to the proper handling of three
relationships. The first is the relationship between the maintenance of
growth and structure adjustment: whether the changes in
development methods would affect the pace of the development of
the Chinese economy. Second, it is the relationship between the
maintenance of a stable and faster economic development and the
proper management of expectation of inflation: whether the
continued implementation of a series of economic stimulation
policies would create a new round of inflation; and whether the
government’s monetary policy would be adjusted to address the
continuously increased asset bubble. The third is the relationship
between increased domestic demand and trade protection. The
Chinese economy is being tested by uncertain factors such as the
constant rise of trade protectionism in the international arena, the
continuously increased pressure on RMB's appreciation, and whether
domestic demand is sufficient to compensate for the loss of external
demand.

The Company is cautiously optimistic about the development of its
related industries. With regard to the heavy-duty trucks market,
factors such as the continuously improving economy, high fixed
assets investment and the improved development environment in the
vehicle and assembly production industry will remain in the first half
of 2010. In addition, due to the sales base of the industry in the first
quarter of 2009 being relatively low, heavy-duty trucks industry is
expected to see a relatively fast year-on-year growth during the first
half of 2010. The trend of the heavy-duty trucks industry in the
second half of 2010 will be quite uncertain because it is still unclear
about the sustainability of the recovery of the macro economy;
meanwhile it is rather difficult to predict important factors such as
whether China’s economic stimulation policy will be adjusted in some
degree. The construction machinery market, real estate, infrastructure
construction and the export and metallurgy mining industries may
work together to propel the industry to a faster growth. On the one
hand, the global construction machinery market is expected a rapid
rebound after suffering a downturn for three consecutive years; on
the other hand, domestic private investment will see a significant
recovery compared to 2010. This round of government investment is
still in the construction and delivery peak time, it is expected that
China‘s wheel loaders industry will remain the growth momentum in
2010.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Given the implementation of the China IV Emission Standard, we
anticipate that there will be fierce competition in China’s engine
market in the coming years. Leveraging on our advanced technology,
quality product and loyal customer base, we have consolidated our
leading position in the high-power engine market and the directors
have full confidence in the prospect of the Company.

The Company will further enhance our R&D effort, implement the
talent-first strategy and the core technology transformation strategy,
complete the marketing for China IV products in small batches ahead
of schedule and continue to perfect product performance, so as to
better satisfy customers’ demand and become technologically ready
for the upcoming China IV phase. The Company will also further
advance product and market structure adjustments. With regard to
high-power segment, the Company will accelerate the optimization
and localization pace of Moteurs Baudouin’s over 16L engines, and
develop a complete range of Weichai industry power products. With
regard to low to medium-power segment, through the newly
developed 5-7L engines, we will keep exploring emerging markets
such as passenger vehicles, non-loader construction machinery and
medium to heavy-duty trucks. With regard to low-power segment,
through the platform of Weichai Power Yangzhou Diesel Engine Co.
Ltd., we will accelerate the pace of absorbing and improving the
technologies for small-bore engines. The Company will unwaveringly
build up its strengths in market diversification to form a coordinated
market layout.

At the same time, under the principle of “unifying strategy,
independent operation, resources sharing”, we will accelerate the
segmental development of commercial vehicles, power chain and
automobile components. We shall further integrate the Company's
resources, fully utilize synergies and improve our capability against
risks. In next five year, the Company will strive to build its engine
business segment as a global leading and full range engine supplier
covering all industries. Eventually, all these will enable the Company
to become an international enterprise with an orientation on
complete machines and the core technology for power assembly, and
developing into a unique player in the global equipment
manufacturing industry.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED) THEHRESE (£8)

V. APPRECIATION h - EH
Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to express my & BEGLEE  MEOHNIZRFR
sincere appreciation to all our shareholders, the general public and REIMAARREEEERAAL EX
our customers for their care and support, as well as all our staff for BEFE MBEA—FREDIENZEE
their hard work and dedication in the past year. T RARD R

Tan Xuguang EFRFEHENTE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer B B

Hong Kong, 26th April, 2010 BB T —TFWEAZ=FH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The directors are pleased to provide a management discussion and analysis
of the results of operations of the Group for the year ended 31st
December, 2009, as follow:

I. INDUSTRY ANALYSIS

The Company is one of the largest manufacturers of high-power,
high-speed diesel engines in the PRC and a leading company in the
power chain market. It is equipped with the most comprehensive
supply chain of engines, gear boxes and axles.

1. Heavy-duty Vehicle Industry

During the year, China’s heavy-duty trucks market showed
restriction at the beginning but then grew at a later stage. In
2009, the domestic sales of heavy-duty trucks totaled
approximately 636,000 units, representing a year-on-year
growth of 17.7%. In particular, the forth quarter became the
top performing quarter of the year with total sales of
approximately 185,000 units, representing a year-on-year
growth of 191.4%. This is mainly attributed to:

First, entering 2009, the Chinese government put in place an
active financial policy and a moderately loose monetary policy,
meanwhile fully implemented and continued to perfect a
basket of schemes addressing the international financial crisis.
The substantial increase in financial expenditure, the
implementation of structured tax reduction, the maintenance of
the rapid growth of monetary credit, the enhanced
sustainability of the monetary policy and the expansion of the
scale of direct financing satisfied the funding demand for
economic and social development and increased internal
demand effectively. The downward trend of economy growth
was turned around quickly and the momentum of stability and
positive signs became evident gradually. GDP recorded a year-
on-year increase of 8.7% while fixed asset investment recorded
a year-on-year increase of 30.1%. The heavy-duty truck
industry benefited from the favourable macro-economic
environment.
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MANAGEMENT DI1SCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Second, impacted by the international financial crisis during the
year, in the first two months it was obvious that the heavy-duty
trucks market was going downward. From March onward, the
growth of the heavy-duty trucks market has been driven
directly by domestic real estate, road and bridge construction
and large-scale civil engineering construction, as well as the
corresponding significant growth of the mining industry and
energy demand.

Third, the government investment, industries stimulus measures
and fuel tax reform, in particular, brought strong development
for the heavy-duty truck market during the reporting period.

Construction Machinery Industry

During the year, according to the statistics of /7 B T 12 # # T
2 1% @ (China Construction Machinery Association), a total of
approximately 422,000 units of construction machines were
sold in China, representing a decrease of approximately 8.7%
over last year, in which sales of wheel loader with a load
capacity of 5 tonnes amounted to approximately 97,000 units,
representing a decrease of approximately 7.6% over last year.
This is mainly attributed to:

In 2009, China’s engineering machinery market suffered a
rather large impact from the spreading out of the international
financial crisis, the severe retraction in the overseas export
market and the shrinking demand for coals and iron ore.
Consequently, market sales resulted in a year-on-year fall. Since
China is still undergoing rapid urbanization and
industrialization, the implementation of strategies such as the
Western China Development strategy, the Rise of Central China
strategy, the invigoration of industrial base in the Northeast
and development of new villages, and the crisis-fighting
measures have driven the growth of China’s infrastructural
investments in areas such as railways, roads, ports, projects for
people's well-being and reconstruction in disaster area. These
in turn have partially offset the negative impact from financial
crisis.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

II. THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

An analysis of the Group’s business segments is set out in note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements. The following are the
highlights of the operations of major products lines of the Group.

1. Sales of Diesel Engines

For use in Heavy-duty Trucks

The Group is the largest supplier of diesel engines to major
manufacturers of heavy-duty trucks with a load capacity of 15
tonnes (and above) in the PRC. The key customers such as Bt 7
& & 5 E A R A 7 (Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company
Limited), 4t /5 & B )% $ f% 17 A BR A 7] (Beigi Futian Motor
Company Limited), BSEt A HFEH EAR FEFH R & £ 2 A
(Baotou North-Benz Heavy-Duty Truck Co., Ltd.) and Z& #/T /E
R E B % A R A A (Anhui Jianghuai Automotive Co., Ltd.),
etc. all maintained their leading position, hence driving the
general market share increased slightly. During the year, the
Group sold approximately 322,000 units of diesel engines in
total, compared to approximately 296,000 units in 2008,
representing an increase of approximately 9.03%. Of the diesel
engines sold during the year, approximately 226,000 units
(2008: 197,000 units) were truck engines, representing an
increase of approximately 14.60% compared to 2008.

For use in Construction Machinery
The Group is also the largest supplier of diesel engines to major
manufacturers of construction machinery (mainly wheel
loaders) with a load capacity of 5 tonnes (and above) in the
PRC. The key customers of the Group are: &1 B 5 T+ ik A [E
A &) (China Infrastructure Machinery Holdings Limited), |1 & &
T T 72 #% # B B 2 7l (Shandong Lingong Construction
Machinery Co., Ltd.), & T I 72 # # & B & B 2 & (Xuzhou
Construction Machinery Group Inc.), gk #B gk T # ¥ & R 2 &
(Chengdu Construction Machinery Co., Inc.), [ 5 || T ## &
fR /& & (Shandong SEM Machinery Co., Ltd.), etc. All these
companies all recorded decline over last year, hence dragged
the growth of the Company’s product sales. During the year,
the Group sold approximately 82,000 units (2008: 88,000
units) of construction machinery engines, representing a
decrease of approximately 7.00% compared to that in 2008.
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MANAGEMENT DI1SCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Sale of Heavy-duty Trucks

During the year, the Group sold approximately 58,000 units of
heavy-duty trucks, compared to approximately 64,000 units in
2007, representing a decrease of approximately 8.75%. Prior to
intra-group elimination, the Truck Business contributed
revenues RMB13,222 million to the Group during the year.

Sale of Heavy-duty Gear Box

During the year, the Group sold approximately 532,000 units of
heavy-duty gear boxes, compared to approximately 465,000
units in 2008, representing an increase of approximately
14.54%. Prior to intra-group elimination, the Gear Boxes
Business contributed revenues approximately RMB6,247 million
to the Group during the year.

Sale of Engine and Heavy-duty Truck Parts

Apart from the production and sale of diesel engines for trucks
and construction machinery, heavy-duty trucks and heavy-duty
gear boxes, the Group also engaged in the production and
sales of engine parts and other truck parts such as: spark plugs,
axles, chassis, air-conditioner compressors etc. During the year,
the Group recorded an approximately 13.14% increase in sales
of engine parts and truck parts to approximately RMB1,714
million. The surge was mainly attributable to the increase in
accumulated sales volume of diesel engines in the previous
years.
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WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

ITI. FINANCIAL REVIEW

1. The Group’s Results of Operations
a. Turnover

The Group’s turnover increased from approximately
RMB32,567 million in 2008 to approximately RMB35,261
million in 2009, an increase of approximately 8.27%. The
increase in turnover was mainly attributable to the rising
demand for diesel engines for use in heavy-duty trucks
and heavy-duty gear boxes. During the year, the Group
sold approximately 226,000 units of diesel engines for
use in heavy-duty trucks in total, compared to
approximately 197,000 units in 2008, representing an
increase of approximately 14.60%. PR i85 T & & A R
& 1L A A (Shaanxi Fast Gear Co. Ltd.), a subsidiary of the
Company, reported an aggregate sales of approximately
532,000 units of heavy-duty gear boxes, representing an
increase of 14.54% over last year, and maintained its
leading position as the largest heavy-duty vehicle gear

boxes manufacturer in China.

b.  Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

During the year, the Group’s gross profit increased by
approximately 34.88% from approximately RMB5,659
million in 2008 to approximately RMB7,632 million in
2009. Gross profit margin increased from approximately
17.37% in 2008 to approximately 21.64% in 2009,
which was mainly due to the decline in unit cost as a
result from economy of scale and the change of product
mix, in which the percentage of China Ill products and
engines for use in heavy-duty trucks with higher gross

profit margin recorded a growth.

c.  Other Income and gains

Other income and gains increased by approximately
57.94% to approximately RMB346 million in 2009 from
approximately RMB219 million in 2008. The increase was
mainly due to the increase in interest income, excess over
the cost of a business combination and gain on debt

restructuring.
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MANAGEMENT DI1SCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

a ,;é

Distribution Costs

Distribution costs increased by 6.53% to approximately
RMB1,021 million in 2009 from approximately RMB959 million
in 2008. As a percentage of turnover, distribution costs
decreased from approximately 2.94% in 2008 to approximately
2.90% in 2009, which was mainly due to the improvement of
cost efficiency as a result from the significant increase in the
Company’s scale of operations.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group increased by
approximately 13.19% from approximately RMB1,117 million in
2008 to approximately RMB1,265 million in 2009. The increase
in administrative expenses was mainly due to the increase in
the Company’s tunover. As a percentage of turnover, the
administrative expenses increased from approximately 3.43% in
2008 to approximately 3.59% in 2009.

Operating Profit before Finance Costs

During the year, the Group’s operating profit increased by
approximately 62.14% to approximately RMB4,927 million in
2009 from approximately RMB3,039 million in 2008. The
Group's operating margin increased from approximately 9.33%
in 2008 to approximately 13.97% in 2009, which was mainly
due to the higher gross profit margin.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Finance Costs

Finance costs decreased by approximately 16.90% to
approximately RMB248 million in 2009 from
approximately RMB298 million in 2008. This decrease was
mainly due to the slight decrease in interest-bearing
borrowings (including bonds and bank and other
borrowings) and lower interest rate.

Income Taxes

The Group’'s income tax expenses increased by
approximately 122.62% to approximately RMB732 million
in 2009 from approximately RMB329 million in 2008.
During the period, the Group’s average effective tax rate
increased from approximately 12.0% in 2008 to
approximately 15.65% in 2009.

Net Profit and Net Profit Margin

The Group’'s net profit for the year increased from
approximately RMB2,412 million in 2008 to
approximately RMB3,947 million in 2009, whilst the net
profit margin also increased from approximately 7.41% in
2008 to approximately 11.19% in 2009.

Liquidity and Cash Flow

During the year, the Group generated RMB2,962 million
in operating cash flows, part of which were applied in
expanding the Group’s operations by acquisition of
property, plant and equipment; and in reducing its
borrowings and repaying interests. As at 31st December,
2009, the Group had a net debt (interest-bearing debts
net of cash and cash equivalents) of RMB141 million (as
at 31st December, 2008: RMB573 million). Based on the
net debt calculation above, the debt to equity ratio is
0.90% (as at 31st December, 2008: 5.06%).
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MANAGEMENT DI1SCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

2. Financial Position
a. Assets and Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2009, the Group had total assets of
approximately RMB36,375 million,
approximately RMB24,811 million were current. As at
31st December, 2009, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB3,598 million (as at
31st December, 2008: RMB3,352 million). On the same
date, the Group’s total liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB20,714 million,
approximately RMB18,416 million were current. The
current ratio was approximately 1.35x (as at 31st

December, 2008: 1.13x).

b.  Capital Structure

At 31st December, 2009, the Group had total equity of
approximately RMB15,661 million,
approximately RMB11,755 million was attributable to
equity holders of the Company, the balance being
minority interests. The Group currently does not rely
heavily on borrowings. The borrowings of the Group as
at 31st December, 2009 amounted to approximately
RMB3,740 million, which included debenture of
RMB1,282 million and bank and other borrowings of
RMB2,458 million. As a policy, the Group manages its
capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximizing the return
to shareholders through the optimization of the debts
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains

unchanged from prior years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

c. Pledge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2009, bank deposits and bills
receivables of approximately RMB3,089 million (as at 31st
December, 2008: RMB2,851 million) were pledged to
banks to secure bills payables issued by banks to the
Group. The pledged bank deposits carry prevailing bank
interest rates. The pledge will be released upon the
settlement of the relevant bank borrowings. The fair
value of the bank deposits at the end of the reporting

period approximates the carrying amount.

Certain other assets were also pledged by the Group to
secure the Group’s borrowings. Details are set out in note
41 to the consolidated financial statements.

d. Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2009, the Group had approximately
RMB 1,054 million (as at 31st December, 2008: RMB 1,754
million) guarantees given to banks in connection with
facilities granted to and utilised by the Group. Details are
set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial

statements.

e. Capital Commitments

As at 31st December, 2009, the Group had approximately
RMB947 million capital commitments contracted (as at
31st December, 2008: RMB1,168 million), principally for
the capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of

property, plant and equipment.

3. Financial Risk and Exposure

A detailed analysis of the Group’s exposure to various risks
including the interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit
risk... etc. are set out in note 47 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR SE -ESBNSRESRAE

MANAGEMENT

(1) DIRECTORS (1) S

Mr. Tan Xuguang, Chinese, aged 48, is the chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, chairman and Party committee
secretary of Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd., chairman and
Party committee secretary of Weichai Group Holdings Limited (which
holds A shares of the Company in the amount as set out below and
is thus interested in shares of the Company under Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance) and Chairman of Weichai Heavy
Machinery Co., Ltd. Mr. Tan has been a director of the Company
since 18th December, 2002. His latest appointment as director of the
Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008
and he has since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law.
Mr. Tan also holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the
Company. He is also the president of China Internal Combustion
Engine Industry Association, vice president of China Machinery
Industry Federation, vice president of China Enterprise Confederation
and China Enterprise Director Association. Mr. Tan joined Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory (now known as Weichai Group Holdings
Limited) in 1977 and had held various positions including the director
of foreign trade department of Weichai, general manager of
Shandong Weichai Imp. & Exp. Corp., assistant to general manager,
vice general manager and general manager of Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory, chairman of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Tan is a
senior economist and holds a doctor’s degree in engineering. Mr. Tan
was appointed as a Representative of the Tenth and Eleventh
National People’s Congress of the PRC and was honored “National
Labor Model”, “National May 1st Labour Medalist”, " & & & B # %
1T ¥ B F B ¥ K" (distinguished entrepreneur of the machinery
sector in First National Award), “CCTV 2005 China Economic Annual
Figure”, “2006 top ten innovative personage in manufacturing
industry in the PRC”, “the most influential executives of 2007", “Top
ten Newsmakers of in Second China Economic Award”, and “ 25 PO &
REFE M EEIE £ " (the Gold Award of the 4th Yuan Baohua
Enterprise Management). He has extensive experience in engine and
equipment production management, international trade, marketing,
capital operation management and corporate development and
strategic management.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Xu Xinyu, Chinese, aged 46, is Executive Director and Executive
President of the Company. He has been a director of the Company
since 18th December, 2002. His latest appointment as director of the
Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008
and he has since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law.
Mr. Xu joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1986 and had held
the positions of deputy general manager of Shandong Weichai Imp.
& Exp. Corp., deputy general manager and executive deputy general
manager of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, director of Torch
Automobile Group Co., Ltd. and chairman of Weichai Power
(Weifang) Investment Co., Ltd. Mr. Xu also holds directorships in
various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Xu is a senior economist
and holds a bachelor’s degree in science and a MBA degree. He has
been responsible for corporate restructure, merges and acquisition,
and human resources management in the Company, and has
extensive experience in corporate operation.

Mr. Sun Shaojun, Chinese, aged 44, is Executive Director and
Executive President of the Company. He has been a director of the
Company since 18th December, 2002. His latest appointment as
director of the Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th
December, 2008 and he has since continued to hold his directorship
under PRC law. Mr. Sun joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1988
and had held the positions of supervisor of the engineering
department, and the chief engineer of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory,
and director of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Sun also holds
directorships in various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Sun is a
senior engineer and holds a doctor degree in engineering. He was
appointed as "Il R & A R BT & 1L 2 & 5 B & K" (Taishan
Mountain scholar specialist appointed by Shandong People’s
Government). He has been responsible for diesel engine research and
development in the Company, and has extensive experience in
corporate technology management.

Mr. Zhang Quan, Chinese, aged 46, is Executive Director and
Executive President of the Company. He has been a director of the
Company since 18th December, 2002. His latest appointment as
director of the Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th
December, 2008 and he has since continued to hold his directorship
under PRC law. Mr. Zhang joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in
1986 and had held the positions of directors of the quality control
department and the marketing department, of Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory. Mr. Zhang also holds directorships in various subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Zhang is a senior economist and holds a bachelor’s
degree in engineering and a MBA degree. He has been responsible
for marketing in the Company, and has extensive experience in
corporate marketing management.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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DIRECTORS,

SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Ms. Zhang Fusheng, Chinese, aged 52, is a Non-executive Director
of the Company. She has been a director of the Company since 18th
December, 2002. Her latest appointment as director of the Company
was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and she has
since continued to hold her directorship under PRC law. Ms. Zhang
joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1975 and had held the
positions of director of finance department, and chief accountant of
Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, and director and vice president of
Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. She is now the deputy general
manager of Weichai Group Holdings Limited. Ms. Zhang is a senior
accountant and Certified Public Accountant and holds the
qualification of senior manager of international finance and a
bachelor’s degree. She has extensive experience in corporate finance
management.

Mr. Liu Huisheng, Chinese, aged 44, is a Non-executive Director of
the Company. His appointment as director of the Company was from
30th June, 2006 to 17th December, 2008 and he has since continued
to hold his directorship under PRC law. Mr. Liu joined Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory in 1989 and had held the positions of deputy general
manager of the power branch of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory,
general manager of Chongging Weichai Diesel Engine Factory, and
deputy general manager of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. He is now
the general manager of Weichai Heavy Machinery Co., Ltd. Mr. Liu is
a senior economist and holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering. He
has extensive experience in corporate general management.

Mr. Yao Yu, Chinese, aged 39, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. He has been a director of the Company since 18th
December, 2002. His latest appointment as director of the Company
was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and he has
since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law. He had held
positions of secretary to the Board of I & R EXBRHBR AR
(Shenzhen Hezhong Industrial Co. Ltd.), assistant general manager of
A K 1R E ZE % 1D B R A 7] (Shenzhen Tianjin Electric Co. Ltd.) and
senior investment manager of Shenzhen Chuangxin Investment
Group Company Limited. He holds a MBA degree and has nearly 10
years of experience in investment management and related fields.

Mr. Yeung Sai Hong, Chinese, aged 55, is a Non-executive Director
of the Company and the chairman of Peterson Holdings Company
Limited which is a promoter of the Company. He has been a director
of the Company since 18th December, 2002. His latest appointment
as director of the Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th
December, 2008 and he has since continued to hold his directorship
under PRC law. He is also a member of the 10th Shandong Provincial
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
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DIRECTORS,

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Chen Xuejian, Chinese, aged 54, is a Non-executive Director of
the Company. He has been a director of the Company since 29th
June, 2004. His latest appointment as director of the Company was
from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and he has since
continued to hold his directorship under PRC law. He had held
various positions including the director of Weifang Accounting Firm,
deputy director of Local Taxation Bureau of Weifang, deputy director
of Finance Bureau of Weifang. Mr. Chen is now the general manager
of Weifang Investment Company, Representative of the National
People’s Congress of Weifang, chairman of Weifang Binhai
Investment Development Co., Ltd, vice chairman of 3 5 R 2 &)
(Weifang Port Co., Ltd.), vice chairman of FOTON Lovol Heavy
Industries Co., Ltd, vice chairman of Huadian Weifang Power
Generation Co., Ltd., director of Shandong Helon Co., Ltd, director
of Weifang Commercial Bank, director of Weichai Heavy Machinery
Co., Ltd, director of Shandong International Trust Corporation, and
director of 1| 3 # £ &£ A R 2 7] (Shandong Weijiaoji Co., Ltd.).

Mr. Li San Yim, Chinese (Hong Kong), aged 58, is a Non-executive
Director of the Company. He has been a director of the Company since
18th December, 2002. His latest appointment as director of the
Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008
and he has since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law. Mr.
Li founded Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery (Group) Company
Limited (a promoter of the Company) in 1993, and now is the
chairman of Lonking Holdings Limited (03339.HK).

Mr. Julius G. Kiss, Austrian, aged 82, is a Non-executive Director of
the Company. He is the chairman of IVM Technical Consultants Wien
G.m.b.H. which is a promoter of the Company. He has been a
director of the Company since 18th December, 2002. His latest
appointment as director of the Company was from 18th December,
2005 to 17th December, 2008 and he has since continued to hold his
directorship under PRC law.

Ms. Han Xiaoqun, Chinese, aged 59, is a Non-executive Director of
the Company. Her appointment as director of the Company was from
18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and she has since
continued to hold her directorship under PRC law. Ms. Han is the
chairmanof [l R & ® %25 & & & & » A R 2 7 (Shandong
Provincial Enterprises Trusteeship & Operation Co., Ltd.) which is a
promoter of the Company.

Mr. Gu Linsheng, Chinese, aged 69, is an Independent Director of
the Company. His appointment as director of the Company was from
30th April, 2007 to 17th December, 2008 and he has since continued
to hold his directorship under PRC law. He served as an independent
director of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. from 30th April, 2004
to 30th April, 2007.

Mr. Li Shihao, Chinese, aged 69, retired in February 2001, is an
Independent Director of the Company. His appointment as director of
the Company was from 30th April, 2007 to 17th December, 2008
and he has since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law.
He is now the director of £} £ & 1l & & & (science and technology
committee) and ¥ T B # F X Z & € (urban vehicle specialist
committee) of the Ministry of Housing and Urban Rural Development.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Liu Zheng, Chinese, aged 62, is an Independent Director of the
Company. His appointment as director of the Company was from
30th April, 2007 to 17th December, 2008 and he has since continued
to hold his directorship under PRC law. Mr. Liu was the general
manager of Weifang Investment Company from 1999 to February
2004. He retired in February 2004.

Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu, Chinese, aged 64, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company. He has been a director of the
Company since 20th October, 2003. His latest appointment as
director of the Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th
December, 2008 and he has since continued to hold his directorship
under PRC law. Mr. Zhang served as the deputy director of /1 B B 5
# W T % /5 (State Mechanic Industry Bureau of the PRC). He is a
senior engineer with professor-grade treatment. Mr. Zhang is the
vice-chairman of /1 B # # T 3£ B & = (China Machinery Industrial
Association), chairman of T B T 2 2 & (China Vehicles
Engineering Association) and chairman of /1 B A A % £ & (China
Internal Combustion Engine Association).

Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, English, aged 53, is an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company. He has been a director of
the Company since 20th October, 2003. His latest appointment as a
director of the Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th
December, 2008 and he has since continued to hold his directorship
under PRC law. Mr. Koo is the managing director of Hercules Capital
Limited, a corporate finance consultancy company. He served various
positions for many international investment banks and directorship
and chief executive officer for Hong Kong listed companies. In
addition to the Company, he currently also serves as an independent
director of other companies listed on the main board and the GEM of
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He graduated with a bachelor degree in
business administration from the University of California, Berkeley.

Mr. Fang Zhongchang, Chinese, aged 67, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company. He has been a director of the
Company since 15th December, 2004. His latest appointment as a
director of the Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th
December, 2008 and he has since continued to hold his directorship
under PRC law. Mr. Fang was graduated from Harbin Industrial
University. He previously served as engineer at (1] B % f 3 3 &
(Shandong Angiu County Glasswork), deputy mayor of % F %
(Angiu County), deputy mayor of Weifang Municipal Government,
secretary to the Municipal Disciplinary Committee of the Standing
Committee of Weifang Municipal Government, and deputy director
of the Standing Committee of Weifang Municipal People’s Congress.
He was also a visiting researcher of the Chinese Academy of
Management Science and a Representative of the People’s Congress
for the Shandong Province. He retired from civil service in 2002.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(2)

WEICHAI Power Co.,

SUPERVISORS

Mr. Sun Chengping, Chinese, aged 62, is the Chairman of the
Supervisory committee of the Company. He has been a supervisor of
the Company since 18th December, 2002. He joined Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory in 1969 and was the deputy general manager and
Party committee secretary of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, and
supervisor of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. He is now the
general manager of Weichai Group Holdings Limited. Mr. Sun is a
senior economist and holds a junior college’s degree. He has
extensive experience in diesel engine production management and
technology renovation.

Mr. Ding Yingdong, Chinese, aged 41, is a Supervisor of the
Company and assistant to president and director of operational
management department. He has been a supervisor of the Company
since 22nd October, 2007. Mr. Ding joined Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory in 1990 and had held positions of deputy director of
corporate planning department and director of human resources
department of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, director of human
resources department and director of corporate management
department of Weichai Power Co., Limited. Mr. Ding is a senior
economist and holds the qualification of senior manager of corporate
human resources and a bachelor’s degree in engineering. He has
extensive experience in corporate management.

Ms. Jiang Jianfang, Chinese, aged 47, is a Supervisor of the
Company. She has been a supervisor of the Company since 18th
December, 2002. She was the deputy chief of the financial audit
committee of & 78 #) T & & & R 2 & (Guangxi Liugong Group
Company Limited) and a supervisor of & 78 #) I # # i% 15 B R A &)
(Guangxi Liugong Machinery Company Limited). Ms. Jiang is an
accountant.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Dakai, Chinese, aged 56, is an Executive President of the
Company. Mr. Li has been a member of the senior management of
the Group since Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. became a subsidiary of
the Company in April 2007. Mr. Li had held various positions
including director of product design department, chief economist,
general manager of Shaanxi Auto Gear General Works, and director
and deputy president of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. He
currently holds the positions of chairman and general manager of
Shaanxi Fast Auto Drive Group Company and director and general
manager of Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. Mr. Li holds a bachelor’s
degree and is a senior engineer with researcher-grade treatment. He
was honored “National Labor Model” and entitled specialist who can
receive state special allowance. Mr. Li was appointed as a
Representative of the Eleventh National People’s Congress of the PRC
and member of the Standing Committee of Xi’an Municipal People’s
Congress. He has extensive experience in heavy-duty gear box
designing and production management.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Fang Hongwei, Chinese, aged 43, is an Executive President of
the Company. Mr. Fang has been a member of the senior
management of the Group since Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company
Limited became a subsidiary of the Company in April 2007. He had
held the positions of section chief of test technology section of
motor research institute, deputy director of financial department,
deputy general manager, general manager of sales company and
executive deputy general manager of Shaanxi Automobile
Manufactory. Mr. Fang is now the director and general manager of
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited. Mr. Fang is a senior
economist and holds a master’s degree in engineering and the senior
career manager certification of machinery industrial corporation. He
has extensive experience in heavy-duty vehicle designing and
production management.

Mr. Xu Hong, Chinese, aged 50, is an Executive President of the
Company. He joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1976 and was
the deputy general manager of foundry branch, general manager of
5 88 B (cast branch) and director of production department. Mr. Xu
holds a bachelor’s degree. He has extensive experience in the
management of production and manufacturing.

Mr. Cheung Tat Leung, Peter, Chinese (Hong Kong), aged 39, is
the Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Qualified
Accountant of the Company and is responsible for the accounting
and finance functions and secretary affairs of the Company. Mr.
Cheung joined the Company in October 2008. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung has
worked for many companies listed on the main board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. He holds a bachelor’s degree and has over 15
years' experience in the accounting and financial management fields.

Mr. Dai Lixin, Chinese, aged 42, is the Secretary to the Board and
Director of Securities department of the Company. He joined Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory in 1987 and was the deputy director of the
treasury department of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. Mr. Dai is an
economist and holds a bachelor’s degree. He has extensive
experience in corporate financing, restructure, merger and
acquisition.

Mr. Feng Gang, Chinese, aged 45, is the Vice President of the
Company and the Deputy General Manager of the Marketing
company. He was manager of technology service department,
assistant general manager and executive deputy general manager of
sales company and executive deputy director of marketing
management department of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. He is an
engineer and holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering. Mr. Feng has
extensive experience in marketing.
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DIRECTORS,

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Tong Dehui, Chinese, aged 45, is the Vice President and the
Supervisor of the Engineering department of the Company. He was
the supervisor of the laboratory of engineering department, assistant
supervisor of engineering department, deputy chief engineer of
Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. Mr. Tong is a senior engineer and
holds a doctor’s degree in engineering and has extensive experience
in the research and development of engine and management.

Mr. Li Zhi, Chinese, aged 51, is the Vice President of the Company.
He was the deputy general manager of Xinjiang Xinghuo Machinery
Factory, general manager of Xinjiang Bearing Factory General Works,
general manager of Zhuzhou headquarter of TAGC, supervisor,
general manager of investment management department, vice
president of Torch Automobile Group Co.,
economist and holds a bachelor’s degree. He has extensive
experience in corporate operation management.

Ltd. Mr. Li is a senior

Mr. Zhou Chongyi, Chinese, aged 45, is the Vice President of the
Company. He was the deputy supervisor of engineering department,
deputy chief engineer of China National Heavy Duty Truck Group
Corp, Ltd. and deputy chief engineer of Shanghai Huizhong
Automobile Co. Ltd. Mr. Zhou is a senior engineer and holds a
bachelor’s degree. He has extensive experience in heavy-duty vehicle
designing and production and manufacturing management.

Mr. Qian Cheng, American, aged 47, is the Vice President of the
Company. He was the senior project engineer of engineering
department of Caterpillar in the USA, senior project manager of
North America engineering department of Ricardo in the UK, senior
design engineer of product design — chassis department of Ford
Motor Company in the USA, senior project engineer of product
design center of General Motors in the USA, vice president and
director of international business department of Torch Automobile
Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Qian graduated with a doctor’s degree from
University of Kentucky and has extensive experience in commercial
vehicle strategy research.

Mr. Liu Xinhua, Chinese, aged 54, is the Vice President of the
Company, Manager of Hangzhou branch. Mr. Liu holds a junior
college’s degree. He was the director of production department,
deputy general manager, executive deputy general manager, and
general manager of Hangzhou Engine Co., Ltd. Mr. Liu has extensive
experience in engine production and management.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group is the manufacture and sale of diesel
engines and related parts, automobiles and other major automobile
components, minor automobile components and import and export
services. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year. The activities of its principal subsidiaries,
jointly-controlled entity and associates are set out in notes 20, 21 and 22
to the financial statements, respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2009 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 85 to 222.

The directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.48
per ordinary share for the year ended 31st December, 2009 to
shareholders. This recommendation has been incorporated in the financial
statements as an allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the statement of financial position.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and minority
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set
out on page 223. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during the
year are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 37(b) to the financial statements and in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31st December, 2009, the Company’s reserve available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the relevant regulations, amounted to
RMB6,340,303,000, out of which dividend of RMB399,862,000 for the
year ended 31st December, 2009 was proposed on 26th April, 2010. In
addition, the Company’s share premium account in the amount of
RMB1,832,568,000 in its statutory financial statements may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totalling
RMB1,300,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 32.60% of the total sales for the year and sales to the
largest customers included therein amounted to 13.12%. Purchases from
the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the total
purchases for the year.

None of the directors and supervisors of the Company or any of their
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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DIRECTORS " REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The directors and supervisors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Tan Xuguang (Chairman and CEQO)
Xu Xinyu (Executive President)
Sun Shaojun (Executive President)
Zhang Quan (Executive President)

Non-executive directors:
Zhang Fusheng
Liu Huisheng
Yao Yu

Yeung Sai Hong
Chen Xuejian

Li San Yim
Julius G. Kiss
Han Xiaoqun
Gu Linsheng

Li Shihao

Liu Zheng

Independent non-executive directors:
Zhang Xiaoyu

Koo Fook Sun, Louis

Fang Zhongchang

Supervisors:
Sun Chengping
Ding Yingdong
Jiang Jianfang

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), and as at the date of
this report, the Company still considers that all of the independent non-
executive directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 23 to 30 of the annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008. Each of the
aforesaid directors has since continued to holdover his directorship under
the relevant law of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The latest
appointment of each of the non-executive directors and supervisors was
from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008, except that Liu
Huisheng, a non-executive director, was appointed on 30th June, 2006 at
the Company’s annual general meeting and his term of office ran from
30th June, 2006 to 17th December, 2008; Liu Zheng, Li Shihao and Gu
Linsheng, non-executive directors, were appointed on 29th December,
2006 at the Company’s extraordinary general meeting and their term of
office ran from 30th April, 2007 to 17th December, 2008; Ding Yingdong,
Supervisor, was appointed on 22nd October, 2007 at the Company’s labor
representative meeting and his term of office ran from 22nd October, 2007
to 17th December, 2008. Each of the aforesaid directors and supervisors
has since continued to holdover his/her directorship under the PRC law. The
latest appointment of each independent non-executive director of the
Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008. Each
of the aforesaid directors has since continued to holdover his directorship
under the PRC law.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD

SENSHRERASHEE
ARREENAEESHEEABNBEF
BENRFEHRFE23IE30H °

SENESRBEESL
NITEFTESEEARATLRBEL A
—EERF+ A+ NBRE ETETNF
+ZA+tHLE- LS EZTEREBEREA
REFME([FE]) HEEEZEEETESH
e BRIFEBNTESRESEN L —EAEHAEZ
ETRE+ A+t NAERE_ZTTENE+ =
A+tHILE HIPTESFIASER=_ZZ
NENRA=ZTHEZARAKRRBAFARAE £
ERE MAHE-_ZEZTNEA=THE
EZETNF+AT AL ERITES
B - FHEERERER=_ZTENF+ A
ZHtABZARAREFI RS FEEZF -
THE-ZEELtFNA=Z+HEBE_ZTZTN
FH+ZATtLtALE ESETHARR-_ZZ
F+AZt-_HAARRIZERRERES
- FHE-ZEELtFT+AF+ZHRBREZ
TZENF+_A+tHIE P EEERE
EEREFREZRZEEETEERS - A4
ASBAYFANTESEN L —FEHEZZTZ
AF+_A+tNBREZEZENF+ =8
+tRALE FASEFEREFEEZEE
EEEEHS -



DIRECTORS " REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Mr. Li San Yim, being indirectly interested in the capital of Fujian Longyan
Construction Machinery (Group) Company Limited and Shanghai Longgong
Machinery Company Limited, was interested in a contract for the supply of
diesel engines and diesel engine parts by the Company to these two
companies. Mr. Yeung Sai Hong, being indirectly interested in the capital of
Peterson (CNG) Equipment Limited, was interested in a contract for supply
of diesel engines and related parts by the Company to Weifang Weichai
Peterson Gas Diesel Engines Company Limited. Further details of the
transactions undertaken in connection therewith are included in the section
headed “Continuing connected transactions” below. Save as disclosed
above, no director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31st December, 2009, the interests and short position (if any) of the
directors, the chief executive and the supervisors in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
"SFO")), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (“Model Code”),
were as follows:

Capacity
g4
Name of Director
EEHE
Tan Xuguang Beneficial owner
8 fB BEHEAA
Xu Xinyu Beneficial owner
REE BEnEAA
Sun Shaojun Beneficial owner
BRLE EnEA A
Zhang Quan Beneficial owner
®k R BEmnlEA A
Liu Huisheng Beneficial owner
22k ERfEBA
Yeung Sai Hong (Note 3) Held by controlled corporation
B (K aE3) AXEEERE
Li San Yim (Note 4) Held by spouse and controlled corporation
FEAK (K at4) A ERXEEERE
Julius G. Kiss (Note 5) Held by controlled corporation
Julius G. Kiss HXEEERFE

(LA G.
Name of Supervisor
EEpnA
Ding Yingdong

BH) (Mfazs)

Beneficial owner

TR EmlEA A
WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4B NRMNBRL
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6,880,000 (Note 1)
(Kiaz1)

1,600,000 (Note 1)
(Ktat1)

1,600,000 (Note 1)
(Kat1)

1,600,000 (Note 1)
(Kat1)

960,000 (Note 1)
(Bat1)
37,600,000 (Note 2)
(Bfat2)
34,400,000 (Note 1)
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17,200,000 (Note 2)
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560,000 (Note 1)
(Kraz1)
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DIRECTORS " REPORT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

1. These shares were derived from the previous domestic shares of the Company. The
domestic shares were ordinary shares issued by the Company, with a Renminbi-
denominated par value of RMB1.00 each, which were subscribed for and paid up in
Renminbi or credited as fully paid up. These shares became “A” shares of the
Company upon the “A” share listing of the Company on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

2. These shares were derived from the previous foreign shares of the Company. The
foreign shares were ordinary shares issued by the Company, with a Renminbi-
denominated par value of RMB1.00 each, which were subscribed for and paid up in
a currency other than Renminbi. These shares became “A” shares of the Company
upon the “A” share listing of the Company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

3. Yeung Sai Hong, a non-executive director, was directly and indirectly interested in
the issued share capital of Peterson Holdings Company Limited, which in turn held
37,600,000 shares in the Company.

4. Li San Yim, a non-executive director, and his spouse, Ni Yinying, were interested in
69.16% and 30.84%, respectively, in the registered capital of 18 7 Bt & T 72 # 1
(% [#)) A [R 22 A (Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery (Group) Company Limited
(“Fujian Longgong”)) which in turn held 34,400,000 shares in the Company, and
therefore Li San Yim was deemed to be interested in these shares of the Company.

5. Julius G. Kiss, a non-executive director, was indirectly interested in the entire issued
share capital of IVM Technical Consultants Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H. (“IVM”), which
in turn held 17,200,000 shares in the Company.

6. All the shareholding interests listed in the above table are “long” position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December, 2009, none of the directors,
the chief executive nor the supervisors had an interest or short position in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations that was recorded in the register and required to
be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers.

DIRECTORS” RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and supervisors’ interests in
shares and underlying shares” above, at no time during the year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any director and supervisor or their
respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS” REPORT (CONT

DETAILS OF CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL AND
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS  SHAREHOLDINGS

INUED)

() Changes in shareholdings
1. Changes in share capital
Movement of the Company’s share capital during the year are

as follows:

Beginning of the Year

)
P
Of
i

BRAREMNNEZHRRIFRE)

0

RAZEER R

1. P

FARRBBRAZHNT :

Increase/decrease during the Year (+, -)

End of the Year

£ FREE(+ -) FR
New Transfer
shares of surplus
No. of shares  Percentage issued to capital Others Sub-total  No. of shares
R 8 E LE 41 (%) BITHR ABLER Hity Ui R 8 &
I Restricted circulating shares 349,824,937 41.99% — — — — 349,824,937
AR E G IR A
1. State-owned shares 24,224,937 2.91% — — — 24,224,937
RIFR
2. State-owned legal person shares 162,320,000 19.49% — — — — 162,320,000
BEAFR
3. Shares held by other domestic
entities including: 108,480,000 13.02% — — — — 108,480,000
HiWEFRES
Shares held by non State-owned 84,800,000 10.18% — — — — 84,800,000
legal persons
BREEFEAFR
Shares held by domestic 23,680,000 2.84% — — — — 23,680,000
natural persons
BRERARKR
4. Shares held by other foreign 54,800,000 6.58% — — — — 54,800,000
entities including:
SERRES
Shares held by overseas 54,800,000 6.58% — — — — 54,800,000
legal persons
BNE AR
Il Non-restricted circulating shares 483,220,746 58.01% — — — — 483,220,746
EREGMHRGD
1. RMB ordinary shares 280,820,746 33.71% = = = = 280,820,746
ARELBR
2. Domestic listed foreign shares — — — — — — —
BREmEINER
3. Overseas listed foreign shares 202,400,000 24.30% — — — — 202,400,000
7 9h ETRINE R
4. Others — — — — — — —
it
Il Total number of shares 833,045,683 100% — — — — 833,045,683
Rk 1n 48 &1
Note: B et
1. There were no internal staff shares during the reporting period. 1. 7R 2 B 79 4 9 56 Bk TR -

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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Percentage

LE41(%)

41.99%
2.91%

19.49%

13.02%

10.18%

2.84%

6.58%

6.58%

58.01%

33.71%

24.30%

100%
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2.

Time over which shares are restricted from listing for 2.
trade
Additional
shares that
can be
listed and

traded upon
expiry of the

Time restricted period
R & B

ES e

i [ RERDHE
30th April, 2010 349,824,937

—E-TF
mA=+H

Remaining
restricted
shares

BRE RS
B0 B8 ERE

ESEBHRE (@)

Remaining
non-restricted
shares

HEIR SR
IR0 B8R

EREBGABOA LIRS

Ry [

Description

&t 4

Under the commitments of the
holders of non-circulating shares of
the Company and 24 natural person
promoter shareholders, none of their
shares can be transferred within 36
months commencing from the
Company’s listing on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange.

REAR A B IR @ RKRE k244
BAAZERARREE  BARQA]
REEZXRZ EME3GMEAAT
EEHMAFHRE -
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3. Shareholdings of the top ten restricted shareholders
and the restrictions

Serial No

Fr 5

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Number of
Name of restricted restricted
share shareholders shares held
BEMN
BRERS
ERERERORRER ROEE
HEEREEER AR 124,236,640
(THseEmR])
(Weichai Group Holdings
Limited) (“Weichai Holdings"”)
BEHERERAA 37,600,000
(Peterson Holdings Company
Limited)
BREEIREMES) 34,400,000
BRAH
(Fujian Longyan
Construction Machinery
(Group) Company Limited)
AU AR EREARAR 34,400,000
(Shenzhen Chuangxin
Investment Group Company
Limited)
B TRERA 30,898,480
(Weifang Investment Company)
HMEDNRMDERAD

Time permitted
to be listed and
traded in

the market

0 LHR 5 5B

30th April, 2010
—T-ZF

mA=+H

30th April, 2010
—E-%F

MA=+A

30th April, 2010
—E-%F

MA=+H

30th April, 2010
—T-EF
mMA=+H

30th April, 2010
—T-%F
mA=+H

3. AI0RBREKRMERRFTK
HERREEMT

Number

of shares
permitted
to be
listed and
traded in
the market
g
tHRS
R HE

Restriction

RERAE

Under the commitments of the
eight legal person promoter
shareholders (including Weichai
Holdings) and Zhuzhou State-owned
Assets, no shares held by them
shall be transferred or managed
by other persons or repurchased
by the Company repurchased by
the Company within 36 months
commencing from the Company'’s
listing on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.
HEZREEEABRARRR
RME & Acs - B A ARG 1
BARRAREERIEFRSME
MZAR=TAEAATEZS
EZRAMAEE A ARADEME
B
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Serial No

Fr 5

10.

Name of restricted
share shareholders

ARERTRORREE

KNTEEEERERSE
ARAR

(Zhuzhou State-owned Assets
Administration Management
Company Limited)

B 3 6 IV 5 11 7 560 4 41
BER QA

(IVM Technical Consultants
Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H)

IWRECETELERR
ARAR

(Shandong Enterprise
Trust Operation Company
Limited)

ERNIEEERAF
(Guangxi Liugong Group
Limited)

Tan Xuguang
B

Number of
restricted
shares held
REN
BFRERS
REOHE

24,224,937

17,200,000

16,000,000

7,184,880

6,880,000

Time permitted
to be listed and
traded in

the market

TEHR5 5B

30th April, 2010
—T-%F

MA=+H

30th April, 2010
—T-%F

MA=+H

30th April, 2010
—E-%F

MA=+H

30th April, 2010
—E-FF

MA=+H

30th April, 2010
—T-%F

MA=+H

ESEBHRE (@)

Number

of shares
permitted
to be
listed and
traded in
the market
g
tHx5
R E

Restriction

RERME

Under the commitments of the 24
natural person shareholders
(including Tan Xuguang), no shares
held by them shall be beneficially
transferred or repurchased by the
Company within 36 months
commencing from the Company’s
listing on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.
BRAZUERBERARE L B &
# o HARFANMRN KB AR AR
FERNEBHFRGMERZ AL
STAEARNTEEEE 1A
RAFEE o
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

R-ZEEAREL+ZA=+—HZ
FERREFEREBR

(I) Shareholdings of the Substantial Shareholders as at
31st December, 2009

(1

42

Total number of Shareholders

The number of shareholders is 47,766 among which 47,480 are
shareholders of “A" shares and 286 are shareholders of “H"” shares

PR 3R 4B 2 MRER A 47,766 F - E AR R 47,4807 - HERAR R 286 F ©
Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders AI0ERREFERIEBER
Approximate Number of
percentage of Number of shares
Type of shares held Total number restricted pledged or
Name of shareholder shareholder (%) of shares held shares held frozen
R ek
BaLt BEERE RN
RREHE RERMEE (%) BREAY FAEROGHE RHHBE
HKSCC Nominees Limited  Foreign shareholder 24.23% 201,808,718 — N/A
BERREERIEA HNE IR R AN
BRAF
ML RSB AR AR State-owned legal 14.92% 124,304,000 124,236,640 —
(Weichai Group Holdings person
Limited) BEAN
Peterson Holdings Overseas legal person 4.51% 37,600,000 37,600,000 —
Company Limited JRINEA
ERERER A A
AITEFIEEEE Domestic non-state- 4.13% 34,400,000 34,400,000 —
BRAF owned legal person
(Shenzhen Chuangxi BRIEHAEEA
Investment Group
Co., Ltd)
BiEeEA LB Domestic non-state- 4.13% 34,400,000 34,400,000 —
(£E)BRAF owned legal person
(Fujian Longyan BRIEBEFEA
Construction
Machinery (Group)
Company Limited)
W TMIRE R A State-owned legal 3.71% 30,898,480 30,898,480 —
(Weifang Investment person
Company) BEAN

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) SRS (18)

Approximate Number of
percentage of Number of shares
Type of shares held Total number restricted pledged or
Name of shareholder shareholder (%) of shares held shares held frozen
FREBA B
BoL BFEERE REEH
IR R & B REME (%) BFRAY REROBE KR E
HrNTERBEEE State-owned shares 2.91% 24,224,937 24,224,937 7,200,000
HREKEERAF legal person
(Zhuzhou State-owned K RE A
Assets Administration
Management Company
Limited)
B9 3th FI IVM B T 56 5 Overseas legal person 2.06% 17,200,000 17,200,000 —
HHWER QA RINEA
(IVM Technical
Consultants Wien
Gesellschaft m.b.H)
IR EPETERLS Domestic non-state- 1.92% 16,000,000 16,000,000 —
RN S/NC] owned legal person
(Shandong Enterprise RAEEEEA
Trust Operation
Company Limited)
Bank of China Domestic non-state- 1.46% 12,143,096 — —

FEIRIT — RKESE owned legal person
BRIEFREES BEARNFEBEEA
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Shareholdings of the top ten non-restricted shareholders BI1I0ZEREERERREFIRIE R

Number of the
non-restricted

Name of shareholder shares held Types of shares
BFEERE
IR R & B HREROHE ROEE
HKSCC Nominees Limited 201,808,718  Overseas listed foreign shares
EETRAGEERBATRA TN i ONE BR
Bank of China 12,143,096  RMB ordinary shares
RERIT — AREEBREIFREES AR E AR
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China 8,500,943  RMB ordinary shares
FEIHRT — S EEEXRRREREZAFKREES AR E AR
Dacheng Value Growth Stock Investment Fund 8,376,302  RMB ordinary shares
AKEBEERZHFRELS AR E AR
National Social Security Fund 104 portfolio 5,999,924  RMB ordinary shares
TETRES -—ZTMOAES AR L BR
China Construction Bank 5,649,683  RMB ordinary shares
FEERRIT —RRMEEREEREZFREES AR E R
China Construction Bank 5,500,000 RMB ordinary shares
FEZRRT - FEXFEANEITERRUISFREES AR E B
China Construction Bank 4,753,767  RMB ordinary shares
FEERRIT —FEEIERREVZISFREES AR LB
Agricultural Bank of China 4,573,506  RMB ordinary shares
RRRFERIT —BEIHNERESCLUISFREES AR L BEK
China Merchants Bank Co., Limited 3,553,455  RMB ordinary shares
REBERIT - AAREGEERERREZFREES AR L BER

Description of the connected relationship or acting in concert relationship EMBRREBB RN —HTHOHS
among the aforesaid shareholders:

1. Among the aforementioned shareholders, /1 B $R 17 — A Bk & £ 15 1. MUERES ABEET — AKRESER
fi2 5 4% & 24 and Dacheng Value Growth Stock Investment Fund BEREEGRAKEBEEEZSFRE
are both managed by a fund manager, namely Dacheng Fund EtHRA-—HEEEBA —AKESE
Management Co., Ltd. (KK E & & A 7). BRAAEE -

2. Save as the aforementioned, it's not certain whether there is any 2. M Bt iE AN - KRR AFMER T2

connected relationship among the top ten shareholders and the other RX B K H fh Bl + 2 MR & (S IRE 2 [
top ten non-restricted shareholders, or whether there is any acting in EAGTEABEBEER wARNEERE—
concert relationship among them. BATEIAL ©

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4B NRMNBRL
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO (including interests filed with the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange) shows that as at 31st December, 2009, the
following persons (other than the directors, the chief executive and the
supervisors) had the following interests and the short positions (if any) in

the shares and underlying shares of the Company:
Long/
Short ~ Number of
Name Capacity position A shares
#e/
A 54 KR AREE
Weichai Group Holdings Limited Beneficial owner long 124,304,000
HEEREEERAA ERBAA HE
State-owned Assets Supervision and Held by controlled corporation Long 124,304,000
Administration Commission of Shandong
Province (“Shandong SASAC") (Note 1)
LWRAEFEELREERZEQ((LRBAEZR]) AXEEERE HE
(K1)
Peterson Holdings Company Beneficial owner long 37,600,000
Limited (“Peterson”) (Note 2)
wEHEREBR AR ([EH]) (H22) ERBEEAA HE
Yeung Sai Hong (Note 2) Held by controlled corporation Long 37,600,000
BEm (fE2) mXREERE HE
Tingho Nominees Limited (Note 2) Held by controlled Long 37,600,000
corporation
AXEEERE HE
Advantage Investment Corporation Limited (Note 2)  Held by controlled corporation long 37,600,000
mXBEEERE HE
Shenzhen Chuangxi Investment Group Beneficial owner Long 34,400,000
Co., Ltd (Note 3)
RITAIHRERBERAA (H2E3) ERBAA HE
Shenzhen Chuangxi Investment Held by controlled corporation long 34,400,000
Management Company (Note 3)
RINTRIFREER DA (HzF3) AXEEERE HE
Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery (Group) Beneficial owner Long 34,400,000
Company Limited (“Fujian Longgong”) (Note 4)
BRESIREMGEE)BRAR([BRELI]) EXEBA HE
(Hiz#4)

i
t
08)
El;

FE2RR

ZNUNETERE - E)

~
i}
~

N E GRS 3361K1FE B =

ZRRB LM (B R E BB AR RN F
BH)BER R_ZBEAF+_A=+—8"T

AL (ES

CEREBRABREERINE

ARA D RBERDTEE THEERER

(mng) :

Percentage
of share
capital
comprising
only A shares

HARR A
Bl

19.71%

19.71%

5.96%

5.96%

5.96%

5.96%

5.45%

5.45%

5.45%

Percentage
of share  Percentage
capital of total
Number of comprising  issued share
H shares only H shares capital
EE BT
EHR R A R A 48 B
HR#& A Bat Bak
= = 14.92%

= = 14.92%

= = 4.51%

= = 451%

= = 4.51%

= = 4.51%

= = 4.13%

= = 4.13%

= = 4.13%
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
Long/
Short
Name Capacity position
#e/
=t L) KR
Li San Yim (Note 4) Held by controlled Long
corporation and spouse
A (Hizt4) BXEEEREERE A
Ni Yinying (Note 4) Held by controlled Long
corporation and spouse
R (Kfit4) AXEEEREERA HE
The Capital Group Companies, Inc Investment manager Long
REEEA HeE
JPMorgan Chase & Co. Investment manager Long
BRAE REEEA A
Notes

State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of Shandong
Province (“Shandong SASAC”) held the entire capital of Weichai Group Holding
Limited (formerly known as Weifang Diesel Engine Works). For details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company Dated 22nd March, 2006.

Yeung Sai Hong ,a Non-Executive Director, was beneficially interested in the entire
issued share capital of Tingho Nominees Limited, which in turn held 100% of
Advantage Investment Corporation Limited, which was interested in 90% of the
issued share capital of Peterson.

Shenzhen Investment Management Company was interested in approximately
33.73% of the registered capital of Shenzhen Chuangxin Investment Group
Company Limited.

The registered capital of Fujian Longgong was held as to 69.16% by Li San Yim, a
Non-Executive Director, and as to 30.84% by Ni Yinying, spouse of Li San Yim, and
therefore Ni Yinying was deemed to be interested in these shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any other
relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the
Company as 31st December, 2009

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

MEDNRMDERLT

Number of
A shares

AREE
34,400,000

34,400,000

ES5EBHRE(8)
Percentage Percentage
of share of share  Percentage
capital capital of total
comprising Number of comprising issued share
only A shares H shares only H shares capital
HERT
HARBR A HHR R & RAAH
Bat HR&A Bat Bat
5.45% = = 4.13%
5.45% — — 4.13%
— 20,153,300 9.96% 2.42%
— 12,152,494 6.00% 1.46%
B et -

B L

LWREEEEREEEEREZAES ([IWREEZE])
FE LR E B E R A A (B8 5 #2488
B2 ERA - FIEBLEARAAR=ZFZTN
FEZHF -+ -AHBEHLE -

JE# 77 E F 15 t 1 B & # B Tingho Nominees
Limited #) % &5 B 277 I8 2% + Tingho Nominees Limited
## A Advantage Investment Corporation Limited &9
100% % # -+ i Advantage Investment Corporation
Limited Rl #F & 15 #7 #990% B 7T KK »

RN TR R E EHE R AR R TR H R & %
BB IR 2 A 5t i A AR B #933.73% ##E 25 ©

HHTEFFTHARFNAZ BB RIRES 5
B EERE T MR #69.16% % 30.84% 1 25
FAUGEREREBRZERNRNGRG B

5o

XEEEY

R =FBZEAFE = A

=t—BARAALEEENERARACEIT
AR EEAEMAREDZSER
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DIRECTORS " REPORT (CONTINUED)

DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES

Shareholdings of the directors, supervisors and chief
executives

Nine of the directors, supervisors and the chief executive of the
Company, namely Tan Xuguang, Xu Xinyu, Sun Shaojun, Zhang
Quan, Liu Huisheng, Ding Yingdong, Dai Lixin, Feng Gang and Tong
Dehui, are natural-person promoter shareholders and have
undertaken that they will not transfer any shares of the Company
within 36 months commencing from its listing on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. When the restriction period expires, the shares held can be
transferred in accordance with the relevant rules of China Securities
Regulatory Commission and Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Appointment and resignation of the directors,
supervisors and officers

There is no appointment of the directors, supervisors and officers
during the reporting period.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company and the Group had the following continuing
connected transactions, certain details of which are disclosed in compliance
with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

List of Connected Persons and the relationship with the Company

EF EF - SHRERASR

. EE ES SREBABER
B
RARAES EF mREBAEHTH
IRBBERANBRARR - £ 5 KEE
X HEHE FLE KRR Bk
TR - B OB AEE - HE
B AR AR RE R LT E361E A
NAEREMAFRE - REMME - M
FERESAZTEZES MRIIESFR

ZNBERREEZE -

. EF - EEZ SREBAENH
B2 o R BE 1B R
REWN BREIEE EEASRE
2 ABHER -

HFREMRERXRS
FR - ARARBAEEE THHEHBER
5 ZERZHNETHRBERELMAANE
14AE R IR E B TE -

FEALIRREERRTFZ R

Relationship between
the Connected Person

and the Group
BEATEHASZEZBRE

Abbreviation

& 78

Name of Connected Person

BEALER

Held 14.92% interest in the
Company, one of the promoters
of the Company
BAARRAR14.92% %
RRNAERAZ—

Weichai Group Holdings Limited
HEREREEARR AR

Weichai Holdings

SRR R

One of the Promoters
of the Company
AKARELBAZ—

Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery
(Group) Company Limited
REEELE#M (SE)FRAA

Fujian Longgong
BEET
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&

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Name of Connected Person

BEATER

Shanghai Longgong Machinery
Company Limited
BRI(LEB)BWMBERAR

Guangxi Liugong Machinery Co., Ltd.
A T AR5 B R A F

Weifang Weichai Deutz Diesel
Engine Co., Ltd.
DS BEROR R E R QA

Weichai Heavy Machinery Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as Shandong
Juli Company Limited)
HRERBROBRAF
(AIBALRE NROBRAF)

Weifang Weichai Peterson Gas
Diesel Engines Company Limited
WD HEEIENRBEIREREERA

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive
Transmission Co., Ltd.

BRAEZLTHFAEEHEEEFR QA

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

MEDNRDBERE

e

Abbreviation

1Lk

Shanghai Longgong
LBET

Guangxi Liugong Machinery
F& 78 0 T # k

Weichai Deutz
L B R

Weichai Heavy Machinery

S E

Weichai Gas
2t

Fast Transmission
ETRER

3

B8RS (8)
Relationship between
the Connected Person
and the Group
BEATHASEEZBRE

An associate of Mr. Li San Yim

(a non-executive director

of the Company)
RARIEARTESTFTHRAEEZ
FEAL

Guangxi Liugong Group Co., Ltd.

(one of the Promoters of the Company)
held a 63% interest in Guangxi

Liugong Machinery
BENIEEARAF (RAFERA
Z—) A REAY I H#M63%%E

Weichai Holdings held a 50%
interest in Weichai Deutz
TR B ML B R 50%

Weichai Holdings held 30.59%
interest in Weichai Heavy Machinery
M SR IR RS B M SR B #30.59% HE &

Peterson (CNG) Equipment Limited
(an associate of Mr. Yeung Sai Hong,
who is a non-executive director of
the Company) held a 50%

interest in Weichai Gas
HHT(CNG) R EH B R A A
(RRRIERTESHBEMELEZ
B AT ) FF A MR E250% 1 5

Held a 49% interest in a subsidiary

of the Company, Shaanxi Fast

Gear Co., Ltd. (“SFGC")
BFBEARRAMNERAKREE T FER
B R E A F49% 1 w5
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Name of Connected Person

BEATER

Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd.

BATEEBAREEAA

Dong Feng Automotive Group Co., Ltd.
RESEEERNERA A

Mudan Jiang Huatong Automotive Group
Company Limited
HATERIEZHEHQA

Mr. Wang Wei
F@REE

"

Abbreviation

1Lk

Shaanxi Automotive

B & E

Dong Feng Automotive

REAEEE

Huatong
A

Mr. Wang
ERE

ESEBHRE (@)

Relationship between
the Connected Person
and the Group
BMEALTHASEZHAR

Held a 49% interest in a subsidiary
of the Company, Shaanxi Heavy
Duty Automotive Co., Ltd.

(“Shaanxi Zhonggi”)
REARAMBARKAEE qE
ERAR([PRAER])A9% # 5=

Held a 40% interest in a subsidiary

of the Company, Dong Feng

Off-road Vehicles Co., Ltd. (“DFOVCL")
e NI N NI s e
BRA A ([REBEE])A0% #E 75

Held a 20.04% interest in a subsidiary
of the Company, Mudan Jiang Futong
Automotive Air Conditioner

Co., Ltd. (“Futong”)
BERARAMBARHMIEERE
ZEHABERAGE ([ ZiH])20.04% # 55

A natural person, a director of a
subsidiary of the Company, MAT
Automotive Inc (“MAT")

BAA  ARAIHER A

MAT Automotive Inc.([MAT]) Z &=
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Provision of general services and labour services by Weichai
Holdings and its associate to the Company

Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17th November, 2003 (as
amended and supplemented by various supplemental agreements,
collectively referred to as “Weichai Holdings General Services
Agreement”), Weichai Holdings has agreed to provide certain labour
services as well as general services to the Company, namely,
environmental protection, security, fire, repair, maintenance and other
general services and the payment of certain town land use right tax
in relation to the property occupied and/or used by the Company.
The fees payable by the Company to Weichai Holdings with respect
to the provision of the said services are determined based on the
actual costs incurred by Weichai Holdings and apportioned on a pro-
rata basis according to the area of the relevant property occupied
and/or used by the Company plus a service charge representing not
more than 5% of such costs and settled by the parties on a monthly
basis.

Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between the
Company and Chongging Weichai Diesel Engine Works (“Chongging
Weichai”), an associate of Weichai Holdings, on 17th November,
2003 (as amended and supplemented by various supplemental
agreements, collectively referred to as “Chongging Weichai General
Services Agreement”), Chongging Weichai has agreed to provide
certain general services to the Company, namely, environmental
protection, security, fire, repair, maintenance and other general
services and the payment of certain town land use right tax in
relation to the property occupied and/or used by the Company. The
fees payable by the Company to Chongging Weichai with respect to
the provision of the said services are determined based on the actual
costs incurred by Chongging Weichai and apportioned on a pro-rata
basis according to the area of the relevant property occupied and/or
used by the Company plus a service charge not exceeding 20% of
such costs (save that the town land use right tax paid by Chongging
Weichai on behalf of the Company will not be subject to the said
20% service charge) and are settled by the parties on a monthly
basis.

Upon the expiry of the Weichai Holdings General Services Agreement
and Chongging Weichai General Services Agreement on 31st
December 2010, the Company shall have an option to renew the
agreement for a term of three years. The approved annual caps for
the aforesaid services provided by Weichai Holdings and Chongqging
Weichai for the years ended/ending 31st December, 2009 and 2010
are RMB36.5 million and RMB47.5 million, respectively. In the year
ended 31st December, 2009, the total amount charged by Weichai
Holdings and Chongging Weichai to the Company for the said
services was RMB25,408,000.

HMEDNRMDERLT

e

08)
P
Oi
i

MRIEREEBEALRALRF
he 4R B RS M 55 1% AR %5
REBEARAEEREER_FTT=F
T—ATERALNGEERBHH (K
IR EER R - SR
REBRSEARBHE])  AERERAE
MARRRMEE TEBREARRR
Rz B #E REREMSESR
BEEERE  URRKAIXNAREME
BE/SEBOMENSE THELIE
AH - siieft EARBEHE - ARFE
[ 4 S 122 i 32 A B B R D AR AR A SR HE IR
MEENERRARARAMER R,
ERANBERMEERLOIED Sk
FZERARTZN5% W IRIEH MEFE -
HESTRAKE -

BERNANFESERLEESEE ([EE
ML HEERZBBEALT)RZZE
=F+—AttBIUNEERE B
(RzEBRBRETIRER  SiEA
[EEALGEREHE])  EESFLK
RERARARHEERR RE - HE -
#ie REREMGARBEEETHA
RS URRABINARBMERA R, K
FERNMERNSE THELHERR - 5
RELAREMES ARREREEHS
Y NNEBERNDREEERLEMELED
EERARARNGEAR/SERANE
BYEBMBELFES  SNEZERRN
NZR20%WRBEHMBE (HEEE
L AN R R XA RO 38 SR £ 6 R R S
TEER LMl20%REHMEBEARN) - A
CEHIEAKE -

R-E—ZTFE+ A=+ B ML
BEERBHEREEAXZERS
HEEME AR EEEEHR
BE=F MR REEFLERESRE
MBREREESTNFR=Z2ZTE—TF
+Z A=+ BHLEFEZEMAEFE L
R 5 Bl A& A K 36,500,000 7T & A R
47,500,000 c REIZE Z T T NF + =
A=+ —BHLEFE #EZREREEH
e P RBAARAKENESER
A R # 25,408,000 7T °
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Supply and/or connection of utilities by Weichai Holdings
and its associate to the Company (and its subsidiaries)

Pursuant to the utility services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17th November, 2003 (as
amended and supplemented by various supplemental agreements,
collectively referred to as “Weichai Holdings Utilities Services
Agreement”), Weichai Holdings has agreed to provide or provide the
connection of certain utility and energy services to the Company,
namely, water, electricity, gas, steam, oxygen, nitrogen, compressed
air, waste water treatment and supply of treated waste water, etc.
The fees payable by the Company to Weichai Holdings with respect
to the provision of the said services are determined based on the
actual usage of the Company and by reference to the market prices
of such utilities. If only government published rates are available with
respect to certain utilities, the fees payable would be determined by
reference to the government published rates plus the wastage,
depreciation and repair expenses incurred by Weichai Holdings in
relation thereto. If no market price or government published rates
with respect to the above utility and energy services are available, the
Company will pay the actual costs incurred by Weichai Holdings in
relation to the provision of such utility and energy services plus a
service charge representing not more than 20% of such costs. Since
1st January, 2006, Weichai Holdings has been charging the Company
a service charge of 5% of the actual costs incurred thereof. The fees
are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Pursuant to the utility services agreement entered into between the
Company and Chongging Weichai on 17th November, 2003 (as
amended and supplemented by various supplemental agreements,
collectively referred to as “Chongging Weichai Utilities Services
Agreement”), Chongging Weichai has agreed to provide or provide
the connection of certain utility and energy services to the Company,
namely, water, electricity, natural gas, steam, oxygen, nitrogen and
compressed air, etc. The fees payable by the Company to Chongqing
Weichai with respect to the provision of the said services are
determined based on the usage thereof by the Company or, if it is
not possible to measure such usage, pro-rated according to the
respective sales of Chongging Weichai and the Company and by
reference to the market prices of such utilities. If only government
published rates are available with respect to certain utilities, the fees
payable will be determined by reference to the government published
rates plus the wastage, depreciation and repair expenses incurred by
Chongqging Weichai in relation thereto. If no market prices or
government published rates with respect to the above utilities and
energy services are available, the Company will pay the actual costs
incurred by Chongqging Weichai in relation to the provision of such
utilities and energy services plus a service charge representing not
more than 20% of such costs. Chongging Weichai has been charging
the Company a service charge of 20% of the actual costs incurred
thereof. The fees are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Upon the expiry of the Weichai Holdings Utilities Services Agreement
and Chongqging Weichai Utilities Services Agreement on 31st
December, 2010, the Company shall have an option to renew the
agreement for a term of three years. The approved annual caps for
the aforesaid services provided by Weichai Holdings and Chongging
Weichai for the years ended/ending 31st December, 2009 and 2010
are RMB223 million and RMB290 million, respectively. In the year
ended 31st December, 2009, the total amount charged by Weichai
Holdings and Chongging Weichai to the Company and its subsidiaries
for the said services was RMB139,194,000.

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, gas and
scrap metals, etc., materials and related products and
processing services by the Company (and its subsidiaries)
from Weichai Holdings and its associate

Pursuant to the Weichai Purchase and Processing Services Agreement
entered into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and
Chongging Weichai on 27th November, 2008,

(i)  the Company has agreed to purchase diesel engine parts and
components, gas and scrap metals, etc., materials and related
products at market prices from Weichai Holdings and
Chongging Weichai; and

(i) Chongging Weichai has agreed to provide processing services
to the Company with respect to certain semi-finished diesel
engine parts at fees determined based on the relevant market
prices.

The above transactions are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Upon the expiry of the Weichai Purchase and Processing Services
Agreement on 31st December, 2010, the Company shall have an
option to renew the agreement for a term of three years. The
approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases made and services
received from Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2009 and 2010 are RMB102 million
and RMB112.5 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st December,
2009, the total purchases made and processing services received by
the Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai Holdings and
Chongging Weichai amounted to RMB50,967,000 in total.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Sale of diesel engines, diesel engine parts and components,
materials and related products and provision of processing
services by the Company and one of its subsidiaries, Weichai
Power Reserves and Resources Company (“Weichai
Resources”) to Weichai Holdings and its certain associates
Pursuant to the Weichai Sales and Processing Services Agreement
entered into between the Company and Weichai Resources as
suppliers and Weichai Holdings and its certain associates as
customers on 27th November, 2008, the Company and Weichai
Resources have agreed to (i) sell certain diesel engines, diesel engine
parts and components and related products, and materials for the
repair services of diesel engines, and (ii) provide certain processing
services in relation to the production of diesel engines to Weichai
Holdings and its certain associates at market prices. The transactions
are settled by the parties on a monthly basis. Upon the expiry of the
Weichai Sales and Processing Services Agreement on 31st December,
2010, the Company shall have an option to renew the agreement for
a term of three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales made and services
provided to Weichai Holdings and its certain associates for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2009 and 2010 are RMB265 million
and RMB315 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st December,
2009, the total sales made and processing services provided by the
Company and Weichai Resources to Weichai Holdings and its certain
associates amounted to RMB153,279,000 in total.

Lease of buildings and equipment by Weichai Holdings (and
its associates) to the Company (and its subsidiaries)

Pursuant to the asset lease agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 21st October, 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, collectively
referred to as “Lease of Buildings and Equipment”), Weichai Holdings
has agreed to lease to the Company certain buildings (including
factories and warehouses with a total gross floor area of 63,245
square metres) situated at Weichai Holdings (the “Buildings”) and all
the equipment in relation to the manufacture of certain semi-finished
diesel engine parts (collectively referred to as “Equipment”) located
in the Buildings for a term ending 31st December, 2012, upon the
expiry of which the parties may renew the term for another three
years on a mutually agreed basis.

The approved annual caps for the lease rental payable to Weichai
Holdings in respect of the Lease of Buildings and Equipment for each
of the years ended/ending 31st December, 2009, 2010, 2011 and
2012 are all RMB43 million. In the year ended 31st December, 2009,
the total lease rental payable by the Company to Weichai Holdings in
respect of the lease of Buildings and Equipment amounted to
RMB42,814,000.
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Lease of properties by Chongging Weichai to the Company
Pursuant to the properties lease agreement entered into between the
Company and Chongging Weichai on 1st July, 2003 (as amended and
supplemented by various supplemental agreements), collectively
referred to as “Lease of Properties”), Chongging Weichai has agreed
to lease to the Company certain land and buildings where the
Chongqging Production Line is situated for a term ending 31st
December, 2012, upon the expiry of which the parties may renew the
term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

The approved annual caps for the lease rental payable to Chongging
Weichai in respect of the Lease of Properties for each of the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012 are all
RMB4 million. In the year ended 31st December, 2009, the total lease
rental payable by the Company to Chongqing Weichai in respect of
the Lease of Properties amounted to RMB3,404,000.

Supply of diesel engines and diesel engine parts by the
Company to Fujian Longgong and Shanghai Longgong and
their associates

Pursuant to the respective framework agreements dated 21st
October, 2003 entered into by the Company with Fujian Longgong
and Shanghai Longgong (as supplemented by various supplemental
agreements), the Company has agreed to supply Fujian Longgong
and Shanghai Longgong and their associates, at market prices and
settled in the month following delivery, diesel engines and diesel
engine parts for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon which
the Company shall have the option to extend the term for another
three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of diesel engines
and diesel engine parts to Fujian Longgong and Shanghai Longgong
and their associates for the years ended/ending 31st December, 2009
and 2010 are RMB1.3 billion and RMB1.5 billion, respectively. In the
year ended 31st December, 2009, the total sales of diesel engines
and diesel engine parts made by the Company to Fujian Longgong
and Shanghai Longgong and their associates amounted to
RMB612,317,000.

MEDNRMDERLT

e

08)
P
OfF
i

ERERERARR KB HE
BEARGEEERLENR ST =F
+tA—BIYMYERERRE (K2 IE
BrmhaEIIkEx ABAIMEM
B EEAXEBERAQRLEERE
SEBENE T I RET  HEF
HEE—_FT—=—F+=-A=+—HI
REREEHEBEHERATRIESEE
e BE=F -

EMERYVEREEALIANEAS
REE_ZTTHLE —E—FF . -5
—— Rk E—Z—-f+=-ZA=+—H
EFEZESLEFE LR AARE
4,000,000 T REZE_-_ZTTNF+ =
B=+—BLEE NARRDERLY
BREE#EINNBASRELAEARE
3,404,000 7T, ©

AABIMEBEELE EBETII
NEEZHBEANTHELAKR
LemE T
BEARAR_ZEE=ZF+HA=-+—H
ADAEBEEIR ESETIIINER
HER(KZIERAERERRT)  AQaR
ERMERNEEEIR ESEINURE
EHBALTHELHERERETS
H RREENT—EALEE  Ha
HEE-_FT—TF+=-_A=1+—HI
RERERAABAEEEERHR  BH
=F o

MEEEIRLEEIURES 2 HBHE
AT 8H & bl 42 0m # K S0k T 20 ¢
REE_ZTTZNFRZT—ZF+=
A=+ —BLtFEZEHLEFE LR
2 Bl A A K #¥1,300,000,000 T & A R
#1,500,000,0007C ° REZ =TT 1L F
FTZA=ZFT—RHIEFEE  ARAREE
BEIREBEINURES Z2HE AL
BERHEREAKTBHENBSERA
R #612,317,000 7T °



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Sale of diesel engines and diesel engine parts by the
Company to Guangxi Liugong Machinery Co., Ltd.

Pursuant to the framework agreement dated 21st October, 2003
entered into between the Company and Guangxi Liugong Machinery
(as supplemented by various supplemental agreements), the
Company has agreed to supply Guangxi Liugong Machinery, at
market prices and settled in the month following delivery, WD615
Engines and parts for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon the
expiry of which the Company shall have the option to extend the
term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of diesel engines
and diesel engine parts to Guangxi Liugong Machinery for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2009 and 2010 are RMB1,235 million
and RMB1,350 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st December,
2009, the total sales of diesel engines and diesel engine parts made
by the Company to Guangxi Liugong Machinery amounted to
RMB609,598,000.

Sale of semi-finished diesel engine parts and related
products by the Company (and its subsidiaries) to Weichai
Deutz

Pursuant to the master sales agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Deutz on 21st October, 2003 (as
supplemented by various supplemental agreements), the Company
has agreed to supply semi-finished diesel engines parts and related
products to Weichai Deutz for its 226B series of diesel engines, at
market prices and settled on a monthly basis, for a term ending 31st
December, 2010, upon the expiry of which the Company shall have
the option to extend the term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of semi-finished
diesel engine parts and related products to Weichai Deutz for the
years ended/ending 31st December, 2009 and 2010 are RMB130
million and RMB170 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st
December, 2009, the total sales of semi-finished diesel engines parts
and related products made by the Company and its subsidiaries to
Weichai Deutz amounted to RMB53,920,000.
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10.

11.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Provision of sales and warranty period repair services by the
Company to Weichai Deutz

Pursuant to the sales and warranty agreement entered into between
the Company and Weichai Deutz on 21st September, 2005 (as
supplemented by various supplemental agreements), the Company
has agreed to provide sales and warranty period repair and
maintenance services to Weichai Deutz, at market prices and settled
on a quarterly basis, for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon
the expiry of which the Company shall have the option to extend the
term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales and warranty period
repair services provided to Weichai Deutz for the years ended/ending
31st December, 2009 and 2010 are RMB20 million and RMB26
million, respectively. In the year ended 31st December, 2009, the
sales and warranty period repair services provided by the Company to
Weichai Deutz amounted to RMB13,253,000 in total.

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components and related
products by Weichai Resources from Weichai Deutz

Pursuant to the diesel engine parts and components and related
products purchase agreement entered into between Weichai
Resources and Weichai Deutz on 27th November, 2008, Weichai
Resources has agreed to purchase from Weichai Deutz certain parts
and components for the manufacture of diesel engines, at market
prices and settled on a monthly basis, for a term ending 31st
December, 2010, upon the expiry of which Weichai Resources shall
have the option to extend the term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases of diesel
engine parts and components and related products from Weichai
Deutz for the years ended/ending 31st December, 2009 and 2010 are
RMB47 million and RMB60 million, respectively. In the year ended
31st December, 2009, the total purchases of diesel engine parts and
components and related products made by Weichai Resources from
Weichai Deutz amounted to RMB21,793,000.
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12.

13.

Purchase of diesel engines and related products by the
Company from Weichai Deutz

Pursuant to the diesel engines purchase agreement entered into
between the Company and Weichai Deutz on 27th November, 2008,
the Company has agreed to purchase certain diesel engines and
related products from Weichai Deutz, at market prices and settled on
a quarterly basis, for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon the
expiry of which the Company shall have the option to extend the
term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases of diesel
engines and related products from Weichai Deutz for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2009 and 2010 are RMB28 million and
RMB32 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st December, 2009,
the total purchases of diesel engines and related products made by
the Company from Weichai Deutz amounted to RMB27,478,000.

Sale of diesel engines and related products by the Company
to Weichai Heavy Machinery

The Company and Weichai Holdings entered into a framework
agreement on 17th November, 2003 (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements). The rights and obligations of Weichai
Holdings in the agreement were assumed by Weichai Heavy
Machinery pursuant to supplemental framework agreements entered
into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and Weichai Heavy
Machinery on 13th August, 2009.

Pursuant to the framework agreement, the Company has agreed to
sell to Weichai Heavy Machinery WD615 Engines and related
products, at market prices and settled on a monthly basis, for a term
ending 31st December, 2011, upon the expiry of which the parties
may extend the term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of diesel engines
and related products to Weichai Heavy Machinery for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2009, 2010 and 2011 are RMB260
million, RMB312 million and RMB375 million, respectively. In the year
ended 31st December, 2009, the total sales of diesel engines and
related products made by the Company to Weichai Heavy Machinery
amounted to RMB258,051,000.
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14.

15.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, materials,
steel and scrap metal, etc. and related products and the
processing services by the Company and Weichai Resources
from Weichai Heavy Machinery

Pursuant to the Purchase and Processing Services Agreement entered
into between the Company and Weichai Resources and Weichai
Heavy Machinery on 27th November, 2008,

(i)  the Company and Weichai Resources have agreed to purchase
from Weichai Heavy Machinery diesel engine parts and
components, steel and scrap metal, etc. and related products;
and

(i)  Weichai Heavy Machinery has agreed to provide processing
services to the Company with respect to diesel engine parts
and components.

The said purchases and processing services are transacted at market
prices and settled on a monthly basis for a term ending 31st
December, 2010, upon the expiry of which the parties may extend
the term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases made and
processing services received from Weichai Heavy Machinery for the
years ended/ending 31st December, 2009 and 2010 are RMB410
million and RMB525 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st
December, 2009, the total purchases made and processing services
received by the Company and Weichai Resources from Weichai Heavy
Machinery amounted to RMB269,778,000 in total.

Supply of semi-finished diesel engine parts by the Company
(and its subsidiaries) to Weichai Heavy Machinery

The Company and Weichai Holdings entered into a semi-finished
diesel engine parts supply agreement on 17th November, 2003 (as
amended and supplemented by various supplemental agreements).
The rights and obligations of Weichai Holdings in the agreement
were assumed by Weichai Heavy Machinery pursuant to a
supplemental agreement entered into between the Company,
Weichai Holdings and Weichai Heavy Machinery on 9th November,
2009.
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16.

Pursuant to the latest semi-finished diesel engine parts supply
agreement, the Company and its subsidiaries have agreed to sell
certain semi-finished diesel engine parts, diesel engine parts and
components, reserve parts and related products and to provide
certain relevant labour services (as the case may be) to Weichai Heavy
Machinery at market prices and settled on a monthly basis for a term
ending 31st December, 2011, upon the expiry of which the parties
may renew the term for another three years on a mutually agreed
basis.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid supply of semi-finished
diesel engine parts to Weichai Heavy Machinery for the years ended/
ending 31st December 2009, 2010 and 2011 are RMB330 million,
RMB375 million and RMB390 million, respectively. In the year ended
31st December, 2009, the total supply of semi-finished diesel engine
parts, diesel engine parts and components, reserve parts and related
products and provision of labour services by the Company (and its
subsidiaries) to Weichai Heavy Machinery amounted to
RMB271,911,000.

Supply of WD615 Engines and related parts by the Company
to Weichai Gas

Pursuant to the framework agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Gas on 21st October, 2003 (as supplemented
by various supplemental agreements), the Company has agreed to
supply Weichai Gas, at market prices and settled in the month
following delivery, WD615 Engines and related parts for a term
ending 31st December, 2011, upon the expiry of which the parties
shall have the option to extend the term for another three years on a
mutually agreed basis.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid supply of WD615 Engines
and related parts to Weichai Gas for the years ended/ending 31st
December, 2009, 2010 and 2011 are RMB40 million, RMB48 million
and RMB58 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st December,
2009, the total sales of WD615 Engines and related parts made by
the Company to Weichai Gas amounted to RMB39,836,000.
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17.

18.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Purchase of gas engines and related products by the
Company (and its subsidiaries) from Weichai Gas

Pursuant to the Weichai Gas Purchase Agreement on 27th April,
2009 (as amended and supplemented by a supplemental agreement),
the Company has agreed to purchase certain gas engines and related
products from Weichai Gas, at market prices and settled in the
month following delivery, for a term ending 31st December, 2011,
upon the expiry of which the parties shall have the option to extend
the term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases of gas engines
and related products from Weichai Gas for the years ended/ending
31st December 2009, 2010 and 2011 are RMB77 million, RMB93
million and RMB111 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st
December, 2009, the total purchase of gas engines and related
products from Weichai Gas amounted to RMB72,958,000.

Sale of parts and components of transmissions and related
products by SFGC to Fast Transmission

Pursuant to the parts and components sale agreement entered into
between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 1st August, 2007 (as
amended and supplemented by various supplemental agreements),
SFGC has agreed to sell to Fast Transmission certain parts and
components of transmissions, namely, gearboxes, at market prices
and settled every two to three months, for a term ending 31st
December, 2011, upon the expiry of which the parties shall have an
option to renew the agreement for a term of three years on a
mutually agreed basis.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of parts and
components of transmissions to Fast Transmission for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2009, 2010 and 2011 are RMB820
million, RMB1 billion and RMB1.2 billion, respectively. In the year
ended 31st December, 2009, the total sales of parts and components
of transmissions made by SFGC to Fast Transmission amounted to
RMB775,485,000.
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19.

20.

Purchase of parts and components of transmissions and
related products by SFGC from Fast Transmission

Pursuant to the parts and components purchase agreement entered
into between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 1st August, 2007 (as
amended and supplemented by various supplemental agreements),
SFGC has agreed to purchase from Fast Transmission certain parts
and components of transmissions and gears, namely, power take off
assemblies and castings, at market prices and settled every two to
three months, for a term ending 31st December, 2011, upon the
expiry of which the parties shall have an option to renew the
agreement for a term of three years on a mutually agreed basis.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchase of parts and
components of transmissions from Fast Transmission for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2009, 2010 and 2011 are RMB1,250
million, RMB1,600 million and RMB1,800 million, respectively. In the
year ended 31st December, 2009, the total purchases of parts and
components of transmissions made by SFGC from Fast Transmission
amounted to RMB1,141,571,000.

Provision of general services by Fast Transmission to SFGC

Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between
SFGC and Fast Transmission on 17th September, 2001 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements), Fast
Transmission has agreed to provide certain general services to SFGC,
namely, health care, staff accommodation, child care, logistics, etc.
for a term ending on 31st December, 2011, upon the expiry of which
the parties shall have an option to renew the agreement for a term
of three years on a mutually agreed basis. The fees payable by SFGC
to Fast Transmission with respect to the provision of the said general
services are determined based on the relevant State policy and
market prices and are settled on a quarterly basis.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid general services provided
by Fast Transmission for the years ended/ending 31st December,
2009, 2010 and 2011 are RMB45 million, RMB54 million and RMB65
million, respectively. In the year ended 31st December, 2009, the
total amount payable by SFGC to Fast Transmission for the general
services was RMB29,051,000.
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21.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Lease of land and premises by Fast Transmission to SFGC

Pursuant to the land use rights lease agreement and building lease
agreement entered into between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 21st
March, 2002 (both as supplemented by various supplemental
agreements), Fast Transmission has agreed to lease to SFGC certain
land (the “SFGC Land”) and certain premises situated at the SFGC
Land (the “SFGC Premises”) for a term ending on 31st December,
2011, upon the expiry of which SFGC shall have an option to renew
the agreements for a term of three years. The SFGC Land and SFGC
Premises are mainly used by SFGC for its production.

The rental for SFGC Land shall be paid by SFGC before 25th June and
25th December every year, and the amount payable shall be revised
by the parties every four years based on the national price level of
the PRC and the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC. The land
tax in respect of the SFGC Land shall be borne by SFGC in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

The rental for SFGC Premises shall be paid by SFGC every quarter
each year, and the amount payable shall be determined based on the
yearly depreciation of the original value of the premises. The property
tax in respect of the SFGC Premises shall be borne by SFGC in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

The approved annual caps for the total lease rental payable to Fast
Transmission for the SFGC Land and SFGC Premises for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2009, 2010 and 2011 are RMB24
million, RMB26 million and RMB28 million, respectively. In the year
ended 31st December, 2009, the total lease rental payable by SFGC
to Fast Transmission for the SFGC Land and SFGC Premises amounted
to RMB12,249,000.
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22.

23.

Sale of vehicles, parts and components of vehicles and
related products and provision of heat processing services
by certain subsidiaries of the Company to Shaanxi
Automotive and its associates

Pursuant to the vehicles, parts and components and raw materials
sale and heat processing services agreement entered into between
Shaanxi Zhongqgi and certain other subsidiaries of the Company as
suppliers (the “Shaanxi Suppliers”) and Shaanxi Automotive and its
associates as customers (the “Shaanxi Customers”) on 1st August,
2007 (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement on 27th
November, 2008), the Shaanxi Suppliers have agreed to sell certain
vehicles and parts and components of vehicles, namely, wire gauges
emission pipes and raw materials, ductile iron, castings, converted
carriage, and provide heat processing services to the Shaanxi
Customers, at market prices and settled by the parties every one to
three months, for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon the
expiry of which the Shaanxi Suppliers shall have an option to renew
the agreement for a term of three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of vehicles, parts
and components and raw materials and provision of heat processing
services to the Shaanxi Customers for the years ended/ending 31st
December, 2009 and 2010 are RMB850 million and RMB1,100
million, respectively. In the year ended 31st December, 2009, the
total sales of vehicles, parts and components and raw materials and
provision of heat processing services by the Shaanxi Suppliers to the
Shaanxi Customers amounted to RMB366,105,000.

Purchase of parts and components of vehicles, scrap steel
and related products by certain subsidiaries of the Company
from certain associates of Shaanxi Automotive

Pursuant to the parts and components and scrap steel purchase
agreement entered into between Shaanxi Zhonggi and certain other
subsidiaries of the Company as buyers (the “Shaanxi Buyers”) and
certain associates of Shaanxi Automotive as sellers (the “Shaanxi
Sellers”) on 1st August, 2007 (as supplemented by a supplemental
agreement on 27th November, 2008), the Shaanxi Buyers have
agreed to purchase certain parts and components of vehicles, namely,
wire gauges and emission pipes, brake hoofs, transmission axles and
radiators, and scrap steel from the Shaanxi Sellers, at market prices
and settled by the parties every one to three months, for a term
ending 31st December, 2010, upon the expiry of which the Shaanxi
Buyers shall have an option to renew the agreement for a term of
three years.

et

22.

23.

08)
Hy
Of
i

AKARIBETHBARRBKASEE
NMEBEBALHEHEAE  RET
BB 4 K AH B8 = an A0 HR A 2N T AR
%

REBEAEARAARE THMHEA
REREER ([BREAMEER]) BES
EERHBBATEAEFR 2T+
FNA—BFNZARE THEREM
HEERBAMIREHE(KR=ZFZ
NF+—A-t+t AT 2HA B
) BMEAEEEREEMERKE
MEFHEETAERAETHMH (W0
B HREREME  HE - F4 K
MER) URRBERMIRYE A5
FE—EZ=-@EAKLE— X HEEHZE
—E-TE+-_A=+—HBIt REW
BHEASEEEAEZEER S BB
=&

mMEEAEFHE LT E THHR
EMAMEEANTREREEZE -
ThERZZTE—ZTEFE+=A=+—H
EFEZEMEFELERSIABAR
# 850,000,000 7T & A K ¥ 1,100,000,000
T RBE_ZTEZNF+=-_A=+—H
EEE BREAEEEREREARRTFE
EBAE T4 RRMA A RE/EN
THREHREES AR 366,105,000

JG ©

RKRARIETHEB AR MKRAEER
ZETHMEALRBRIEZTHMN
& Sl b2 40 B E
RIEBRAZARERAE T EAMKE R
AEREST(TREAET] ERAE
BeETHEALERESD (IREARE
FODR_ZEELFNA-—BITLZE
M RERRBEGE(ER_2TN\F
TAZTERATZHNHERGHEMT) -
REAESTRABERMERARERIET TR
BEHIIERE HEHH FFHMR
HAREETAETHERERN AL
TRE-EZE=ZBABE R HEAFH
BE-_T—ZTHF+-_A=+—RHL1E R
EREREBAESIEREEERE B
H=4 .

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 iR

63



64

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

24.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases of parts and
components of vehicles and scrap steel from the Shaanxi Sellers for
the years ended/ending 31st December, 2009 and 2010 are RMB2.2
billion and RMB2.7 billion, respectively. In the year ended 31st
December, 2009, the total purchases of parts and components of
vehicles and scrap steel made by the Shaanxi Buyers from the Shaanxi
Sellers amounted to RMB916,158,000.

Lease of land and premises by Shaanxi Automotive to
certain subsidiaries of the Company

Pursuant to the land use right lease agreements and building lease
agreements entered into between Shaanxi Zhongqgi and certain other
subsidiaries of the Company as the lessees (the “Shaanxi Lessees”)
and Shaanxi Automotive as the lessor on 20th September, 2002, 1st
April, 2003 and 12th September, 2005 (as supplemented by various
redefinition agreements and supplemental agreements), Shaanxi
Automotive has agreed to lease to the Shaanxi Lessees certain land
and premises (the “Shaanxi Land” and “Shaanxi Premises”,
respectively) for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon the expiry
of which the Shaanxi Lessees shall have an option to renew the
agreements for a term of three years. The Shaanxi Land and Shaanxi
Premises are mainly used by the Shaanxi Lessees for their production.

The rental for the Shaanxi Land and Shaanxi Premises shall be paid by
the Shaanxi Lessees on a monthly basis (with the exception that the
annual rental shall be paid by one of the Shaanxi Lessees on 25th
June and 25th December every year). The annual rental of the
Shaanxi Land and Shaanxi Premises shall be revised by the parties
every five years based on the national price index of the PRC and the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC (with the exception that the
annual rental of the Shaanxi Premises applicable to one of the
Shaanxi Lessees is determined based on the yearly depreciation of the
original value of the premises). The land tax and property tax in
respect of the Shaanxi Land and Shaanxi Premises shall be borne by
the Shaanxi Lessees in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC.

The approved annual caps for the total lease rental payable to
Shaanxi Automotive for the Shaanxi Land and Shaanxi Premises for
the years ended/ending 31st December, 2009 and 2010 are RMB17.8
million and RMB17.8 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st
December, 2009, the total lease rental payable by the Shaanxi
Lessees to Shaanxi Automotive amounted to RMB11,980,000.

KB NRMBERR

e

24.

08)
P
Oi
i

MRREASBESAEB LR TET MG R
BHREE_ZTTNLEFR_ZT—ZF
T A=+ HLEFEZE&HEFE L

[R5 Bl A& A R % 2,200,000,000 7T & A B
Vi?%z 700,000,000C - REE_ZTZENF
+—A=+-—BLFE BREREHTNA
PrERESIRBEZERE T M & EH
H 42+ 7 A AR 916,158,000 7T ©

a3 RN
ﬁﬁimﬁé%
REEAZARERAE T HAMKE R
BERAEA(TBRERABAL BB
SEEREEAAR-ZEZ_FAA -+
B -—Z22=0UA-BR-_ZTLF
NA+TZHBRIY L EREAE R
ZLEBTHERR (BRZHEEERHS
M mHEATT)  BRISEERE R
ERABRALEAETELHREZE (D
RIRERLM I RIREREZE]) - 1
BFERBEE_TFTF+ _H=1+—H
I RERERESEABAFNERESE
W SHE=F REALHWERENR
EXTZARREAABANLEE -

= T Mt B 2 A

PRrERAMBAERA I ARES LM
LrEREEXNHE S (EREREREA
22— ARBERNAZ-THRAR+Z=A
“t+tREZXMNERE) BREARLHK
REAEXNERL BRI HENTEH
mlmm1ﬁﬁ&¢IMH%i¢i
B O BRFEBIT—R(ERERAHEA
Z—HEHEREAEXFHAS I ERK
BEAREXERBEENETFNEET) °
BHAREA L ERREREEZ T HH
BRMERBAARESEMEAREF
Bl /Y AR B % 0K FR R

o

MREA L EREREERARSS
BEXMOASRERHEE-_STAFR
—E-EFEL+ - A=+-—HALEEZR
HEFE LR B A AR 17,800,000
TR AR 17,800,000 - REZE = F
ZNFF+_A=Z+—BLEFE " KEA
EHAAERRASEZNNESREA
AR #11,980,000 7T °



DIRECTORS " REPORT (CONTINUED)

25.

26.

Payment of utility charges by Shaanxi Automotive to
Shaanxi Zhonggi for onward payment to utility providers
Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between
Shaanxi Zhonggi and Shaanxi Automotive on 20th September, 2002
(as supplemented by a redefinition agreement and various
supplemental agreements), Shaanxi Zhongqi has agreed to transfer
certain utility services including water, electricity and gas it received
from third party utilities providers to Shaanxi Automotive, at market
prices and settled by the parties on a monthly basis, for a term
ending 31st December, 2010, upon the expiry of which Shaanxi
Zhonggi shall have an option to renew the agreement for a term of
three years. Shaanxi Automotive shall pay the charges for the
relevant utility charges to Shaanxi Zhonggi for its onward payment to
the utility providers without any mark up (except for the sharing of
costs).

The approved annual caps for the total utility payments by Shaanxi
Automotive for the years ended/ending 31st December, 2009 and
2010 are RMB18 million and RMB20 million, respectively. In the year
ended 31st December, 2009, the total utility payments made by
Shaanxi Automotive to Shaanxi Zhongqi for onward payment to
utility providers amounted to RMB11,680,000.

Provision of general services by Shaanxi Automotive to
Shaanxi Zhongqi and certain other subsidiaries of the
Company

Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between
Shaanxi Zhonggi and certain other subsidiaries of the Company and
Shaanxi Automotive on 20th September, 2002 (as supplemented by a
supplemental agreement dated 27th November, 2008), Shaanxi
Automotive has agreed to provide to Shaanxi Zhonggi and certain
other subsidiaries of the Company certain general services namely,
health care, accommodation, education, child care and property
management and other general services, for a term ending 31st
December, 2010. The fees payable to Shaanxi Automotive with
respect to the provision of the said general services are determined
based on the relevant State policy and market prices and are settled
on a quarterly basis.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid general services provided
by Shaanxi Automotive for the years ended/ending 31st December,
2009 and 2010 are RMB80 million and RMB91 million, respectively .
In the year ended 31st December, 2009, the total amount payable by
Shaanxi Zhonggi and certain other subsidiaries of the Company to
Shaanxi Automotive for the general services was RMB 48,059,000.
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27.

28.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Sale of off-road vehicles by DFOVCL to Dong Feng
Automotive

Pursuant to the off-road vehicles sale agreement entered into
between DFOVCL and Dong Feng Automotive on 1st August, 2007
(as supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 27th
November, 2008), DFOVCL has agreed to sell certain off-road vehicles
to Dong Feng Automotive, at market prices and settled by the parties
every two to three months, for a term ending 31st December, 2010,
upon the expiry of which DFOVCL shall have an option to renew the
agreement for a term of three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of off-road vehicles
to Dong Feng Automotive for the years ended/ending 31st December,
2009 and 2010 are RMB530 million and RMB630 million,
respectively. In the year ended 31st December, 2009, the total sales
of off-road vehicles made by DFOVCL to Dong Feng Automotive
amounted to RMB96,472,000.

Purchase of parts and components of off-road vehicles and
related products by DFOVCL from Dong Feng Automotive
and its associates and provision of technical support services
by Dong Feng Automotive and its associates to DFOVCL

Pursuant to the parts and components purchase agreement entered
into between DFOVCL and Dong Feng Automotive on 1st August,
2007 (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 27th
November, 2008), DFOVCL has agreed to purchase certain parts and
components of off-road vehicles from Dong Feng Automotive and its
associates, at market prices and settled by the parties every two to
three months. In addition, Dong Feng Automotive and its associates
have agreed to provide certain technical support services to DFOVCL
at a price being 3% of the transaction amount of the off-road
vehicles sold by DFOVCL. The said transactions are for a term ending
31st December, 2010, upon the expiry of which DFOVCL shall have
an option to renew the agreement for a term of three years.
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DIRECTORS " REPORT (CONTINUED)

29.

30.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases made and
technical support services received from Dong Feng Automotive and
its associates for the years ended/ending 31st December, 2009 and
2010 are RMB230 million and RMB270 million, respectively. In the
year ended 31st December, 2009, the total purchases made and
technical support services received by DFOVCL from Dong Feng
Automotive and its associates amounted to RMB43,357,000 in total.

Provision of processing services by Huatong to Futong
Pursuant to the processing services agreement entered into between
Futong and Huatong on 1st August, 2007 (as supplemented by a
supplemental agreement dated 27th November, 2008), Huatong has
agreed to provide certain processing services to Futong in respect of
parts and components of vehicles, at market prices and settled by the
parties every two to three months, for a term ending 31st December,
2010, upon the expiry of which Futong shall have an option to renew
the agreement for a term of three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid processing services
provided by Huatong for the years ended/ending 31st December,
2009 and 2010 are RMB13 million and RMB15 million, respectively.
In the year ended 31st December, 2009, the total amount payable by
Futong to Huatong for the processing services was RMB5,715,000.

Sale of automotive parts and components and related
products by MAT to certain associates of Mr. Wang

Pursuant to the automotive parts and components sale agreement
entered into between MAT and its subsidiaries as suppliers (the “US
Suppliers”) and certain associates of Wang Wei as customers (the
“US Customers”) on 27th November, 2008 (supplemented by a
supplemental agreement dated 13th August, 2009), the US Suppliers
have agreed to sell to the US Customers automotive parts and
components, in particular, automotive brake rotors, grease fittings for
hubs, brake shims for automotive brake pads and back plates, and
related products, at market prices and settled by the parties one to
three months after delivery, for a term ending 31st December, 2011,
upon the expiry of which MAT shall have an option to renew the
agreement for a term of three years.
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The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of automotive parts
and components and related products to the US Customers for the
years ended/ending 31st December, 2009, 2010 and 2011 are
RMB170 million, RMB204 million and RMB245 million, respectively. In
the year ended 31st December, 2009, the total sales of automotive
parts and components and related products made by the US
Suppliers to the US Customers amounted to RMB102,340,000.

31. Purchase of automotive parts and components and related
products by MAT and its subsidiaries from certain associates
of Mr. Wang
Pursuant to the automotive parts and components purchase
agreement entered into between certain associates of Mr. Wang as
suppliers (the “US Sellers”) and MAT on 27th November, 2008
(supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 13th August,
2009), MAT and its subsidiaries (the “US Buyers”) have agreed to
purchase from the US Sellers automotive parts and components, in
particular, automotive brake drums and rotors, hubs and truck parts,
industrial pumps and parts, lawn motor seats and mirror supports,
and related products, at market prices and settled by the parties one
to three months after delivery, for a term ending 31st December,
2011, upon the expiry of which MAT shall have an option to renew
the agreement for a term of three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases of automotive
parts and components and related products made from the US Sellers
for the years ended/ending 31st December, 2009, 2010 and 2011 are
RMB45 million, RMB54 million and RMB65 million, respectively. In the
year ended 31st December, 2009, the total purchases of automotive
parts and components and related products made by the US Buyers
from the US Sellers amounted to RMB21,585,000.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed
the continuing connected transactions set out above and have confirmed
that these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms
available to or from independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.
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DIRECTORS " REPORT (CONTINUED)

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 31st December, 2008, the Group entered into a conditional agreement
with the minority shareholder of MAT, a subsidiary which was then owned
by the Company as to 75%, whereby the Group would ensure MAT to
transfer its 100% equity interest in Meneta Holding ApS to the then
minority shareholder of MAT, Mr. Wang Wei, in exchange for his 25%
equity interest in MAT and a cash consideration of USD1,500,000. The
transaction was completed in January 2009.

EMOLUMENT PoLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regarded to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the directors and supervisors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the Group are
set out in note 48 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AupIiT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors
of the Company. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Koo Fook
Sun, Louis, an independent non-executive director. Mr. Koo is an
experienced investment banker with appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.10 (2) of the Listing Rules for the purpose of this appointment.
Throughout the year, the Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities,
reviewed and discussed the financial results and internal control system of
the Company. In accordance with the requirements of Appendix 16 to the
Listing Rules, the Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements
for the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH CoDE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES IN APPENDIX 14 OF THE LISTING RULES

Throughout the year, other than the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer being performed by Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan"”), the
Company has complied with all the code provisions of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules.

Mr. Tan is in charge of the overall management of the Company. The
directors consider that the combination of the roles of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer can promote the efficient formulation and
implementation of the Company’s strategies which will enable the Group
to grasp business opportunities efficiently and promptly. The Company
considers that through the supervision of its board and its independent
non-executive directors, there is adequate balance of power and authority
in place.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MoDEL CODE

During the year, the Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transaction by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the
directors have confirmed that they complied with the required standard set
out in the Model Code for the year under review.
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DIRECTORS " REPORT (CONTINUED)

SUFFICIENCY OF PuBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Shandong Zheng Yuan Hexin Accountants Limited (L 3 IE J& 1 1= & &
= £ @ =t B = 7 F7) retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company for its accounts prepared under PRC accounting
principles and financial regulations will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of
the Company for its accounts prepared under Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements for the year have been approved by the board on
26th April, 2010.

PUBLICATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT ON THE WEBSITES
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED AND
THE COMPANY

The 2009 Annual Report will be despatched to shareholders as well as
made available on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s website at
www.hkex.com.hk and the Company’s website at www.weichai.com.

On behalf of the Board

Tan Xuguang
Chairman and CEO
Hong Kong

26th April, 2010
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’S REPORT

Dear Shareholders,

During the period, in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “Company Law") and the Articles of
Association of the Company and in compliance with the principles of integrity,
all members of the Supervisory Committee of the Company (the “Supervisory
Committee”) performed their duties of supervision with a view to protecting
shareholders’ interests in line with their accountability to all shareholders. They
monitored the operations and financial position as well as the performance of
the senior management of the Company during the period. On behalf of the
Supervisory Committee, | hereby present our report as follows:

OVERVIEW OF THE WORK OF THE SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE

In 2009, as required by the relevant rules and procedures of meetings of
the Supervisory Committee and based on its actual work, the Supervisory
Committee conducted inspections on the operations and financial position
of the Company, and reviewed the financial statements regularly. In 2009,
the Supervisory Committee held three meetings. Details of the time,
attendance and contents of the meetings are as follows:

1. On 27th April, 2009, the eighth meeting of the second phase of the
Supervisory Committee was convened. All Supervisors were present.
The meeting considered and approved the full text and summary of
2008 annual report of the Company, the work report of the
Supervisory Committee for 2008, the consolidated financial
statements and auditors’ report for 2008, the final finance report for
2008, the profit distribution proposal for 2008, the internal control
self-evaluation report for 2008, the proposal for impairment
provision, and 2009 first quarter report of the Company.

2. On 28th August, 2009, the ninth meeting of the second phase of the
Supervisory Committee was convened. All Supervisors were present. The
meeting considered and approved the full text and summary of 2009 interim
report of the Company and was of the opinion that the interim report gives a
true and fair view of the operations and financial position of the Company
during the first-half.

3. On 23rd October, 2009, the first provisional meeting of the
Supervisory Committee in 2009 was convened. All Supervisors were
present. The meeting considered and approved 2009 third quarter
report of the Company and highly affirmed the financial performance
of the Company. The Supervisory Committee was of the opinion that
the quarter report gives a true and fair view of the operations and
financial position of the Company during the reporting period.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT OPINION OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
ON RELEVANT MATTERS OF THE COMPANY IN 2009

Compliance of the Company’s operations with

Legal Requirements

During the period, pursuant to the laws and regulations of the place of
listing, the Supervisory Committee has duly supervised and examined the
convening procedures and resolutions of Board meetings, performance of
duties by the senior management of the Company, as well as the
establishment and consistent implementation of the Company’s internal
management system.

The Supervisory Committee is of the view that the Board and the senior
management of the Company strictly operated in accordance with the
Company Law, the Articles of Association as well as other relevant
regulations and rules of the place of listing. With integrity and diligence,
they performed their duties, executed all resolutions and authorities of the
general meetings, and conducted all operations in compliance with laws
and regulations and the Articles of Association. When examining the
financial position of the Company and monitoring the performance of the
directors and the senior management of the Company, the Supervisory
Committee was not aware of any action which would damage the interests
of the Company and the shareholders or may result in a breach of laws or
regulations or the Articles of Association and the rules of the Company.

Examination of Financial Position of the Company

In 2009, the Supervisory Committee further enhanced its internal control,
especially the examination on financial system. The Company has
established a comprehensive system on external investment, asset transfer
and connected transactions, etc. The Supervisory Committee is of the view
that the Company strictly operated and executed in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC and of China Securities Regulatory
Commission. On the control of capital turnover and management expenses,
the Company strictly checked on each grade which ensured the ordinary
operation of the Company while avoided financial risk.

The Supervisory Committee is of the view that the financial statements of
the Company reflect the financial position and operating results of the
Company in all material aspects in an objective, true and fair manner, and
the financial statements are true and reliable. The Supervisory Committee
has agreed on the audited financial statements issued by the auditors of
Shandong Zheng Yuan Hexin Accountants Limited and Ernst & Young.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Acquisition and Disposal of Assets of the Company

During the period, the Company did not conduct any material acquisition
or disposal of assets, and did not produce or occur any insider dealing or
other actions which would damage the interests of the shareholders or
cause any asset loss.

Connected Transactions

During the period, the Supervisory Committee is of the view that the
connected transactions of the Company during 2009 were conducted
under the principles of fairness and the procedures of the transactions
were in compliance with laws and regulations. The Supervisory Committee
is not aware of any action which would damage the interests of the
Company and the shareholders.

In 2010, the Supervisory Committee will continue to perform its supervision
duties diligently for the protection of the interests of shareholders and the
Company in accordance with the Company Law and the Articles of
Association of the Company.

Sun Chengping
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee

Weifang, Shandong Province
26th April, 2010
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has always regarded the consistent maintenance of an
excellent, solid and reasonable corporate governance structure as its top
priority.

CoDE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

For the year ended 31st December, 2009, the Company has reviewed its
corporate governance documents and is of the view that the Company has
fully complied with the code provisions of the Code of Corporate
Governance Practice set out in the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules other
than Code A.2.1, which requires that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be two separate roles and should not be
performed by the same individual. Currently, Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan")
serves as the Chairman of the Board as well as the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. Despite such deviation, the directors believe that vesting
such roles in Mr. Tan will allow for more effective planning and execution
of business strategies of the Company. As all major decisions are made in
consultation with other members of the Board, the Company believes that
there is adequate balance of power and authority in place.

The directors believe that the Articles of Association, the scope of
responsibilities of the Audit Committee, the scope of responsibilities of the
Supervisory Committee and the codes on securities dealings by directors
and certain executives, which constitute the basis for the regular codes on
corporate governance of the Company, have covered the principles and the
code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practice as set out
in Appendix 14 to Listing Rules. In respect of the following areas, our
internal corporate governance documents are more stringent than the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices:

1. In addition to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, the Company has also established the
Strategic Development and Investment Committee (the “SDIC").

2. All members of the Audit Committee are Independent Non-executive
Directors, of whom Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, the Chairman of the
Committee, holds the relevant professional qualification or
professional knowledge related to accounting or financial
management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things,
formulating the Company’s overall strategies, setting management targets,
regulating internal controls and financial management, and supervising the
management’s performance while the day-to-day operations and
management are delegated by the Board to the executives of the
Company.

The Board currently comprises 18 directors, whose details are set out on
page 23 to 30 of this annual report. The Board includes four Executive
Directors, eleven Non-executive Directors and three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman and CEQ), Mr. Xu
Xinyu, Mr. Sun Shaojun, Mr. Zhang Quan (Executive Directors), Ms. Zhang
Fusheng, Mr. Liu Huisheng, Mr. Yao Yu, Mr. Yeung Sai Hong, Mr. Chen
Xuejian, Mr. Li San Yim, Mr. Julius G. Kiss, Ms. Han Xiaoqun, Mr. Gu
Linsheng, Mr. Li Shihao, Mr. Liu Zheng (Non-executive Directors), Mr. Zhang
Xiaoyu, Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis and Mr. Fang Zhongchang (Independent
Non-executive Directors).

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rule and considers each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors to be independent.

The Board has notified each of the directors and supervisors in advance
that they should not trade in the securities of the Company within the
period as stipulated under the Listing Rules. All directors and supervisors
confirmed that they were in compliance with the Listing Rules in this
respect.

Other than their working relationships with the Company, none of the
directors, supervisors or the senior management has any financial, business
or family relationships or any relationships in other material aspects with
each other.

Other than the service contracts entered into by them or as otherwise
disclosed in this annual report, none of the directors or the supervisors has
any personal and substantive interest, direct or indirect, in the material
contracts entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
2009.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

In 2009, the Company held 7 Board meetings. The principal activities of
the Board in 2009 were as follow:

o Review the annual and interim result of the Company;

. Review of annual profit distribution and, interim dividend and 2008
final dividend distribution proposal.

The total remuneration, including the basic salary, performance-linked
salary, incentive-linked salary and discretionary bonus of the directors in
2009 amounted to approximately RMB7.4 million. Independent Non-
executive Directors were only entitled to receive director’s fees but not
other salary or remuneration. For details for the remuneration of directors,
please refer to note 8 to the financial statements of the Company.

AuDIT COMMITTEE
An Audit Committee was established by the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises all the Independent Non-executive
Directors, Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu, Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, and Mr. Fang
Zhongchang, with Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, with the appropriate
professional qualifications and experience in financial matters, acting as the
chairman of the Audit Committee. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are aligned with the recommendations set out in “A Guide for
Effective Audit Committees” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the period, presided over
by Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis. Details of the attendance are set out on page
80 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The major works accomplished by the Audit Committee during the year are
as follows:

o Review of the annual, interim financial statements of the Group, as
well as the management recommendations furnished by the external
auditors and responses from the Company’s management;

o Review of the accounting policies and practices adopted by the
Group and related matters;

o Assisting the Board to monitor the Group’s internal audit.

Throughout the period under review, the Audit Committee discharged its
responsibilities, reviewed and discussed the financial results and internal
control system of the Group.

In accordance with the requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules,
the Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31st December, 2009.

The non-PRC auditors of the Company have audited the consolidated
financial statements and have issued an unqualified auditors’ report.

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Strategic Development and Investment Committee (“SDIC") was
established by the Board.

The SDIC is principally responsible for examining and reviewing the
Company’s strategic plans, monitoring the implementation of strategic
planning, and facilitating timely adjustments to the Company’s strategies
and governance structure.

The SDIC currently comprises Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman of the Board and
of the SDIC), Mr. Sun Shao Jun, Mr. Zhang Quan, Mr. Chen Xuejian, Mr. Li
San Yim, Mr. Julius G. Kiss and Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee was established by the Board.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for recommendation to the
Board on the remuneration packages and terms of employment for
directors, supervisors and senior management of the Company. The
Committee also determines the relevant remuneration policy for directors,
supervisors and senior management of the Company and their
participations in incentive schemes operated by the Company.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises all the Independent
Non-executive Directors and two Non-executive Directors, being Mr. Koo
Fook Sun, Louis (chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Ms. Zhang
Fusheng, Mr. Yao Yu, Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu and Mr. Fang Zhongchang.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee was established by the Board

The Nomination Committee comprises all the Independent Non-executive
Directors and two Executive Directors, being Mr. Fang Zhongchang
(chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Xu Xinyu, Mr. Zhang Quan,
Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu, Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis. The meetings of the
Nomination Committee were arranged and held on an as-needed basis.
The Nomination Committee will identify qualified candidates to fill the
Board membership whenever such vacancy arises, it will nominate such
candidates for the Board to consider, regularly review the composition of
the Board and make suggestions as to any change in the membership of
the Board that may be required.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee consists of three members, with one Supervisor
being elected from the staff as a representative of employees and the other
two elected by the shareholders of the Company. The Supervisory
Committee is responsible for supervision of the Board and its members and
the senior management of the Company, so as to prevent them from
abusing their authorities and violating the interests of the Company, its
shareholders and staff. The size and composition of the Supervisory
Committee are in compliance with the requirements of the relevant laws
and regulations of the PRC. The Supervisory Committee held three
meetings during the year to carry out its supervision on behalf of the
shareholders in respect of the Company’s financial matters and the
lawfulness and compliance in respect of the discharge of duties by the
directors and senior management of the Company. The members of the
Supervisory Committee attended all Board meetings and shareholders’
meetings of the Company and diligently performed their supervisory duties.

Attendances at meetings of the Board, Supervisory Committee and
specialised committees (attendance in person/ number of meetings) during
the year are as follows:

A Name
HITES Executive Directors
2 JB 5 Tan Xuguang
BRI E Xu Xinyu
RAOE Sun Shaojun
’k R Zhang Quan
FHITES Non-executive Directors
&R A& Zhang Fusheng
2= B Liu Huisheng
gk F Yao Yu
AR Yeung Sai Hong
PR 2 & Chen Xuejian
£33N Li San Yim
Julius G. Kiss Julius G. Kiss

(L FHrG. 5 )
BB Han Xiaoqun
B A Gu Linsheng
R Li Shihao
2 1E Liu Zheng
BIYKHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
RNE Zhang Xiaoyu
Ete & Koo Fook Sun, Louis
ERE Fang Zhongchang
E=x Supervisors
R Sun Chengping
TR Ding Yingdong
BES Jiang Jianfang

The directors and supervisors who were unable to attend any meeting in
person, had appointed another director or supervisor (as the case may be),
as his representative to attend and vote at the meeting on his behalf and
was treated as having attended the meeting in person.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

SHAREHOLDERS " MEETING AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The shareholders’ meeting is the highest authority of the Company,
providing an opportunity for direct communications and building a sound
relationship between the Board and the shareholders of the Company.
Therefore, the Company places great importance to such meetings. In
2009, the Company convened three general meetings. Matters reviewed
and approved at the meetings include the following:

o the Report of the Directors, Report of Supervisory Committee for
2008;

o the profit distribution and final dividend distribution proposals for
2008;

o re-appointment and change of appointment of the external auditors
and determination of its remuneration;

o remuneration proposals for directors and supervisors;

o amendment to the Articles of Association of the Company.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate system
of internal control to safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’
interests.

Internal control, including a defined management structure with limits of
authority, is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use, maintain proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication.
The system is set up to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material mis-statement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s
objectives.

Management maintains and monitors the system of controls on an ongoing
basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the year, based on the evaluations made by management, the Audit
Committee was satisfied that nothing has come to its attention to cause
the Audit Committee to believe that the system of internal control is
inadequate, and there is an ongoing process to identify, evaluate and
manage significant risks faced by the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors aim to present the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors ensure the publication of financial statements of
the Group in a timely manner that the final and interim results of the
Group are announced within the four months and three months limit
respectively after the end of the relevant periods prescribed under the
Listing Rules.

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31st December,
2009 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and audited by the
external auditors, Ernst & Young Limited. The directors acknowledge their
responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Group and
presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group'’s
performance and prospects. They are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern.
The Statement of the Auditors about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company has engaged Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company. For
the year ended 31st December, 2009, an amount of RMB10 million was
paid/payable to Ernst & Young for their audit service.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

El] ERNST & YOUNG

To the shareholders of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China as a joint stock company
with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Weichai Power Co., Ltd. set
out on pages 85 to 222, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31st December, 2009, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS  RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’'s preparation and true and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31st December,
2009 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26th April, 2010
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT RelmE
Year ended 31st December, 2009 HE—_FTENFF+_HA=+—HIFE
2009 2008
—EEREF —ETNF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000
B 5 AR® T AR F T
REVENUE A 5 35,260,899 32,567,190
Cost of sales Fi=R=I DN (27,628,689) (26,908,591)
Gross profit £ F H 7,632,210 5,658,599
Other income and gains H g A ke 5 345,691 218,875
Selling and distribution costs HERDIHEER (1,021,391) (958,817)
Administrative expenses THRAXZ (1,264,787) (1,117,368)
Research and development cost MELFEE R (450,217) (379,525)
Loss on disposal of disposal group HERIEL S 2 EE5
held for sale 518 (5.677) (49,775)
Other expenses H A 7 2 (305,648) (327,705)
Finance costs B 7% & A 7 (247,507) (297,844)
Share of profits and losses of: FE{ETE\J NEIR D &)E‘S‘T?i :
A jointly-controlled entity HEE 4 F 52 2,343 523
Associates B % YNE] (5,773) (6,265)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B %% B0 A 8 6 4,679,244 2,740,698
Income tax expense FT 5 B 5 2 10 (732,380) (328,989)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRF B 3,946,864 2,411,709
Attributable to: LATR A (R
Owners of the parent UNEIE =N 3,406,935 1,928,955
Minority interests LERF R 539,929 482,754
3,946,864 2,411,709
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE &S ARZEEBZZHAA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS ELERERN
OF THE PARENT
Basic HAR
— For profit for the year — &R FH 13 RMB4.09 RMB2.32

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are disclosed in FRNENEREZBRARE ZFBRMBERE
note 12 to the financial statements. MIsE12 58 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31st December, 2009

RETHWAR
#HE =

FEAGF A AR

2009 2008
—EEREF —ETNF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR T AR F T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR £ R FE 3,946,864 2,411,709
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hith 2 mE WA
Available-for-sale assets AHHEEE
Changes in fair value NEEEDH 289,255 (97,800)
Income tax effect R & (43,834) 14,670
245,421 (83,130)
Exchange differences on translation BENINHEBEEZER
of foreign operations == 6,056 (15,137)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) SRrEMBEZEmWAEE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (K BiE) 251,477 (98,267)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FRAEEBAEE
FOR THE YEAR 4,198,341 2,313,442
Attributable to: T AL :
Owners of the parent UNEIEZ =N 3,658,412 1,835,281
Minority interests DA R RS 539,929 478,161
4,198,341 2,313,442
WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

fm © 81 85 1A I #R &

31st December, 2009 —EFANFF+ZHA=1+—H
2009 2008
—EZhEF —ETNF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B 5 AR® T AR F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - SR RE 14 8,039,811 6,920,953
Investment properties REWE 15 83,668 80,663
Prepaid land lease payments AT £ E R 16 577,569 278,570
Goodwill [EES 17 538,016 538,016
Other intangible assets ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ”ﬁé 18 302,371 271,727
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity RERZEFIEEZIEE 21 23,275 20,932
Investments in associates REERRIZRE 22 172,559 179,772
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 23 477,430 178,187
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, W B W% - HES MR G
plant and equipment [EENE 24 914,618 943,780
Deferred tax assets EERIBEEE 25 434,763 351,903
Total non-current assets EMBEERME 11,564,080 9,764,503
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 26 5,806,642 5,850,617
Trade and bills receivables EWEBESERLREE 27 11,352,945 6,930,008
Prepayments, deposits and other TERTRIE - e R EHA
receivables JE Uit B 3K 28 1,059,084 1,271,235
Prepaid land lease payments TEAS L HE & FRIR 16 14,455 19,671
Pledged deposits BEEAFR 29 2,979,932 2,511,809
Cash and cash equivalents HERRESEEY 29 3,598,339 3,352,138
24,811,397 19,935,478
Assets of a disposal group classified DHEAEBELEEZHE
as held for sale HRIEE 30 — 249,886
Total current assets MBI EEMLE 24,811,397 20,185,364
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade and bills payables BB ZEFRRER 31 11,830,642 10,627,951
Other payables and accruals HEMmENERRETER 32 3,574,003 2,916,253
Dividend payable to minority shareholders &1 2> (% 5 i & 42,622 79,775
Debentures &% 33 — 1,700,000
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings =t % $8 47 % H b {& 3 34 1,515,664 1,308,304
Tax payable FE 1 # 18 956,315 534,476
Warranty provision 1R &R 35 497,231 446,343
18,416,477 17,613,102
Liabilities directly associated with the HEAOBMARKENENEE
assets classified as held for sales EEHRAEMNAE 30 — 185,611
Total current liabilities BB EERE 18,416,477 17,798,713
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 6,394,920 2,386,651
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EELAERREBERS
LIABILITIES 17,959,000 12,151,154
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PosITION (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

e MBIRinkE (18)
—FENFV+_A=+—H

2009 2008
—EENF AN
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bt 5 ARBT R ARBTFT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRB A E
Debentures &7 33 1,281,669 —
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 8 8 17 & H fb & & 34 942,200 777,700
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIE B & 25 73,816 46,976
Total non-current liabilities ERBAFEHERE 2,297,685 824,676
Net assets BEEFE 15,661,315 11,326,478
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & 2 7] % & A & {5 # 25
Issued capital B EITRA 36 833,046 833,046
Reserves & 37 10,521,710 7,056,412
Proposed final dividends HER R B I B 399,862 108,296
11,754,618 7,997,754
Minority interests DR R = 3,906,697 3,328,724
Total equity s A %E 15,661,315 11,326,478
Tan Xuguang Xu Xinyu
Director Director
EF EF

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES

Year ended 31st December, 2009

IN EQUITY &R TR &

o

DL g

X IES

RE-FFNG+-A=+—AUFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SINGIE 2PN 2
Available-
for-sale
investment Proposed
Issued Capital Surplus revaluation Translation  Retained final Minority Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  dividend Total interests equity
THEE
BRI AEE  REEf BR DPBRR
R&  BXREE i e EXRE RENE KRR At B EREE
Notes  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
M ARETT ARMTT ARBTT ARBTR ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
note 37(a)  note 37(a)
ME37@  HE37E)
At 1st January, 2008 RZ2EN\F-A—-A 520,654 2,399,267 400,639 3,736 (1,581) 2,831,669 229,088 6,383,472 3,014,716 9,398,188
Total comprehensive income 2 FE R A L% = = = (83,130) (10,544) 1,928,955 — 1,835,281 478,161 2,313,442
Unilateral capital contribution [a] fff B A Al H 4) £ 12
to subsidiaries HE — 8,089 — — — — — 8,089 (1,771) 6,318
Bonus issue R 36 312392 (31239) - - - — - - - -
Final 2007 dividend declared EEE-Z2E+EXRBHEE — - - - - —  (229,088)  (229,088) — (229,088
Proposed final 2008 dividend k-2 \EXREES 12 = = = = —  (108,29) 108,296 = = =
Dividend paid to AOERFREN 2R E
minority shareholders — — — — — — — —  (109,423)  (109,423)
Transfer from retained profits &% &R BHE = = 163,792 = — (163,792 - = = =
Contribution from DUBRRLE
minority shareholders = = = = = = = = 10,165 10,165
Acquisition of minority YRS BRRER
interests - — — — — — - — (63,124) (63,124)
At 31st December, 2008 WZEEN\E+ZA=1-H 833,046 2,094,964 564,431 (79,394) (12,125) 4,488,536 108,296 7,997,754 3,328,724 11,326,478
At 1st January, 2009
Total comprehensive income — — — 245,421 6,056 3,406,935 — 3,638,412 539,929 4,198,341
Final 2008 dividend declared il 12 - — — — — —  (108,296)  (108,29) —  (108,296)
Proposed final 2009 dividend #E-ZEZAERHKEE 12 = = = = = (399,862) 399,862 — — —
Dividend paid to minority WA HBRERM 2K &
shareholders — - — — — — — - (50,199) (50,199)
Transfer from retained profits & & B R &2 |} — — 282,958 — —  (282,958) — — — —
Contribution from minority &R E L E
shareholders = 195,108 = = = = = 195,108 134,673 329,781
Acquisition of minority KBS BRRER
interests - (1,732) — — — - - (1,732) (59,278) (61,010)
Others 2 = 13,372 = = = = = 13,372 12,848 26,220
At 31st December, 2009 RZBEAE+-A=1-H 833,046  2,301,712*  847389*  166,027* (6,069)* 7,212,651* 399,862 11,754,618 3,906,697 15,661,315

*

These reserve amounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB10,521,710,000

(2008: RMB7,056,412,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

*

ZERELHOEREEUBHRIEREHZ 24
BIEEAR#10,521,710,000T (ZEZE/NF : A

R #7,056,412,0005T ) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BIREMER

Year ended 31st December, 2009 HE—FFENF+_A=1+—HIFE
2009 2008
—EENF —ZETENF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt =% AR T ARBTF T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEBEEZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B % A A E 4,679,244 2,740,698
Adjustments for: I
Finance costs 5 ER 7 247,507 297,844
Share of profits and losses of B —RERZEGEE R
a jointly-controlled entity and /N o | DV )4
associates & 3,430 5,742
Interest income ISRON 5 (116,809) (48,827)
Dividend income from AHEHEREZRE
available-for-sale investments A 5 (1,600) —
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - HaERF
plant and equipment HE ZEIE 6 6,940 671
Loss on disposal of investment property HEXREMEZER 6 1,028 —
Depreciation of property, M B REREZ
plant and equipment e 6 874,033 757,256
Depreciation of investment properties KEYERE 6 3,605 2,276
Recognition of prepaid land T Lt T & FOIB R
lease payments 6 11,441 19,499
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hith & E 2 # i 6 15,325 15,603
Gain on disposal of HEMHEERE 2
available-for-sale investments W 2= 5 (1,936) (11,015)
Gain on debt restructuring B EMHZ WS 5 (45,921) —
Impairment/loss on disposal of BIELE ZHEAR
disposal group held for sale WA EEE 5,677 49,775
Excess over the cost of a B B S A
business combination o=y 38 (87,334) —
Impairment of an investment R—RKBERTZKRE
in an associate VoRIER 6 — 142
Impairment of items of property, M HEREREEE
plant and equipment VERIES 6 — 25,380
Impairment of A ERERE
available-for-sale investments 6 207 2,722
Impairment of trade and other receivables J& I & 5 Bk 7k N E fib & Ui
BR SRk B 6 227,604 116,640
Write-down of inventories W/JEH_ 5 E 0] 23 %E
to net realisable values 6 231,115 185,992
6,053,556 4,160,398
Increase in inventories FEE M (65,543) (1,836,599)
Increase in trade and bills receivables FEWE S ERFREREIEN (4,506,571) (1,112,274)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, i‘Eﬁ /TJ\IE E& & H b g
deposits and other receivables BRFCR A, (38 00) 318,012 (438,592)
Increase in trade and bills payables J?%ﬁﬁ 2R R ZE BN 919,363 3,363,178
Increase in other payables and accruals EMEMNBERLETEA
1840 619,436 404,497
Increase in warranty provision 1RAE B 55 12 N 6 33,189 265,708
Cash generated from operations BREEBEEZRE 3,371,442 4,806,316
Income tax paid BERES (409,724) (361,969)
Net cash inflow from operating activities &2 XK EALAZEERA
PR 2,961,718 4,444 347

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) BIREMEXR(EB)

Year ended 31st December, 2009 HE—ZEZNEFEL _A=1—HIEFE
2009 2008
—EENF —ZETNF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt =% ARBT R AR T T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REETHELEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 W F 8 6 116,809 48,827
Investment in associates R—RBERRZRE — (800)
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity R—REREFEEZKRE — (20,409)
Increase in pledged deposits B2 3 7 5O N 29 (468,123) (1,655,700)
Additions in prepaid land lease payments  J& 15 = 3 70 & 318 1 41 (179,793) (445)
Purchases of items of property, plantand EEE¥%E  #E R REHEE
equipment and deposits paid RUE S - HBR R
for acquisition of property, plant HEE kRS
and equipment (1,576,198) (1,723,790)
Purchases of investment properties BEREWE 15 (7,638) (50,606)
Purchases of available-for-sale investments i B ] fft i & & & — (194,000)
Purchases of intangible assets BEEFEE 18 (29,409) (5,888)
Cash inflow from business combination ERAEHELEZEESRA 38 2,621 —
Cash outflow from disposal of a subsidiary HEM B AR ELE 2R &
i 39 (7,816) —
Proceeds from disposal of associates i Bk N R TS SR IE — 15,661
Proceeds from disposal of HEATHEHEREMS
available-for-sale investments HIE 1,936 26,879
Proceeds from disposal of items of aut ’% I R RRE
property, plant and equipment 18 B P13 5K 18 28,239 38,910
Proceeds from disposal of disposal HERFELHE Z i & 78 B
group held for sale FT 18 3R IE 10,108 1,000
Dividends received 2 AR S 1,600 1,242
Acquisition of minority interests W iE D ER R (12,520) (55,341)
Net cash outflow from investing RETHEEZESARE
activities =3 ] (2,120,184) (3,574,460)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEFHELEZHERE
ACTIVITIES
New interest-bearing bank and st BR1T R E MG R
other borrowings 3,300,720 3,872,448
Repayment of interest-bearing bank BR T BRIT R HE MK
and other borrowings (3,063,026) (3,493,835)
Transaction costs for the issuance BITEFERHHA
of debentures (19,500) —
Proceeds from issuance of debentures BITESFRERIAE 1,300,000 1,700,000
Repayment of debentures BEES (1,700,000) (900,000)
Interest paid B 17 8 (288,052) (234,672)
Dividends paid Bk AR E (108,296) (229,088)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders A A ER% BR 1 2 B% B (87,352) (61,414)
Capital contributions from minority DERR R &
shareholders 70,203 10,165
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from METHELEZERS
financing activities (RHE) RABE (595,303) 663,604
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLows (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31st December, 2009

ReRE

mEex (&)

RE-FFNG+-A=+—AUFE

2009 2008
—EEAE —ZETENF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR T ARET T
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRBESEEYWEMN
CASH EQUIVALENTS FE 246,231 1,533,491
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning RENzREeRBEEEEBY
of year 3,352,138 1,819,554
Effect of foreign exchange rate X FE
changes, net (30) (907)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REXRZESRREE
AT END OF YEAR &Y 29 3,598,339 3,352,138
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRBeEEBEWE R
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 7
Cash and bank balances & RIRITE & 29 2,223,880 2,409,488
Non-pledged time deposits with RUERRE R B A DR
original maturity of less than =@ A2 EEWEH
three months when acquired N 1,374,459 942,650
3,598,339 3,352,138

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31st December, 2009

87 5 1R i ¥R R

—EFAFF=ASt—H

2009 2008
—EEAEF e AN
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B = AR T AR T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - SR RE 14 2,277,435 1,803,493
Prepaid land lease payments TE b A & A 16 289,151 113,638
Other intangible assets Hihmp & E 18 109,478 109,476
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR Z&KE 20 4,432,812 4,002,382
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity RERIZEHERZKE 21 20,409 20,409
Investments in associates REEE AR 21K E 22 49,461 52,545
Available-for-sale investments At HEKE 23 381,000 96,200
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, W BB % - #ES MR
plant and equipment BffiEe 24 319,669 601,123
Deferred tax assets EERIEBEBEE 25 187,357 148,131
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 8,066,772 6,947,397
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 26 1,679,295 1,741,154
Trade and bills receivables EWESETREE 27 7,219,623 3,414,244
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE - Re REAM
receivables & U BR X 28 844,013 1,025,345
Prepaid land lease payments TE A + A & R IB 16 6,402 2,240
Pledged deposits BEHEAEFEX 29 655,138 1,813,232
Cash and cash equivalents BERIBREEEY 29 1,442,978 770,079
Total current assets mMEEEHEE 11,847,449 8,766,294
CURRENT LIABILITIES =R
Trade and bills payables ENEBESERLREE 31 4,957,975 4,791,896
Other payables and accruals HiENERREFTER 32 1,727,161 1,414,495
Debentures FE5 33 — 900,000
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 8 R 17 & H fb & & 34 548,282 168,346
Tax payable & 5 B 1R 775,997 429,979
Warranty provision RIE B S 35 357,000 234,899
Total current liabilities BB (AR 8,366,415 7,939,615
NET CURRENT ASSETS B EEFE 3,481,034 826,679
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHERARBAER
LIABILITIES 11,547,806 7,774,076
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PoSITION (CONTINUED) B SRR R (88)
31st December, 2009 —EFTNFF+=A=4+—H
2009 2008
= Sk —Z2ENF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B &£ ARBT T AR¥ET T
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHRERABER
LIABILITIES 11,547,806 7,774,076
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kFBEE
Debentures E% 33 1,281,669 —
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 8 8 17 & H fb & & 34 200,000 700,000
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIBAE 25 39,728 10,039
Total non-current liabilities BB REERE 1,521,397 710,039
Net assets BEFE 10,026,409 7,064,037
EQUITY B
Issued capital B EITRA 36 833,046 833,046
Reserves s 37 8,793,501 6,122,695
Proposed final dividends HIR R B I B 399,862 108,296
Total equity W= B R 10,026,409 7,064,037
Tan Xuguang Xu Xinyu
Director Director
EF EF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31st December, 2009

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a joint stock limited
liability company established in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") on 23rd December, 2002. The Company’s “
A" shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

H” shares and

(the ""Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) and The Shenzhen Stock
Exchange from 11th March, 2004 and 30th April, 2007 onwards,
respectively. The registered office of the Company is located at 197,
Section A, Fu Shou East Street, High Technology Industry
Development Zone, Weifang, Shandong Province, the PRC.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
were involved in the following principal activities:

. manufacture and sale of diesel engines and related parts;

° manufacture and sale of automobiles and major automobile
components other than diesel engines;

o manufacture and sale of non-major automobile components;
and
° import and export services.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include
all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain investments
which have been measured at fair value. Disposal groups held for sale
are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less
costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31st December, 2009. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of
acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
All income, expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from
intercompany transactions and intercompany balances within the
Group are eliminated on consolidation in full.

The acquisition of subsidiaries during the year has been accounted
for using the purchase method of accounting. This method involves
allocating the cost of the business combinations to the fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. The cost of the
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair value of the
assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or
assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to
the acquisition.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders not
held by the Group in the results and net assets of the Company'’s
subsidiaries. Acquisitions of minority interests are accounted for using
the entity concept method whereby the difference between the
consideration and the book value of the share of the net assets
acquired is recognised as an equity transaction.
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PoLICcY AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements. Except for in
certain cases giving rise to new and revised accounting policies and
additional disclosures, the adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
has had no significant effect on these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27
Amendments

HKFRS 2 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 8
HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 18 Amendment*
HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and
HKAS 39 Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18

Improvements to HKFRSs
(October 2008)

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption
of HKFRSs and HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements — Cost of an
Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly
Controlled Entity or Associate

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment — Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Improving
Disclosures about Financial Instruments

Operating Segments

Presentation of Financial Statements

Amendment to Appendix to HKAS 18
Revenue — Determining whether an entity
is acting as a principal or as an agent

Borrowing Costs

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements
— Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment
of Embedded Derivatives and HKAS 39

Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Embedded Derivatives

Customer Loyalty Programmes
Agreements for the Construction of Real
Estate

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign
Operation

Transfers of Assets from Customers (adopted
from st July, 2009)

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs

& Included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 (as issued in May 2009).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PoLIcY AND DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are
as follows:

(a)

(b)

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
HKFRSs and HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements — Cost of an Investment in
a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate

The HKAS 27 Amendment requires all dividends from
subsidiaries, associates or jointly-controlled entities to be
recognised in the income statement in the parent’s separate
financial statements. The distinction between pre and post
acquisition profits is no longer required. However, the payment
of such dividends requires the Company to consider whether
there is an indicator of impairment. The amendment is applied
prospectively.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment —
Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

The HKFRS 2 Amendments clarify that vesting conditions are
service conditions and performance conditions only. Any other
conditions are non-vesting conditions. Where an award does
not vest as a result of a failure to meet a non-vesting condition
that is within the control of either the entity or the
counterparty, this is accounted for as a cancellation. As the
Group has not entered into share-based payment schemes with
non-vesting conditions attached, the amendments have had no
impact on the financial position or result of operations of the
Group.
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PoLICcY AND DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)

(o)

(d)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require additional disclosures about
fair value measurement and liquidity risk. Fair value
measurements related to items recorded at fair value are to be
disclosed by sources of inputs using a three-level fair value
hierarchy, by class, for all financial instruments recognised at
fair value. In addition, a reconciliation between the beginning
and ending balance is now required for level 3 fair value
measurements, as well as significant transfers between levels in
the fair value hierarchy. The amendments also clarify the
requirements for liquidity risk disclosures with respect to
derivative transactions and assets used for liquidity
management. The fair value measurement disclosures are
presented in note 46 to the financial statements while the
revised liquidity risk disclosures are presented in note 47 to the
financial statements.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8, which replaces HKAS 14 Segment Reporting, specifies
how an entity should report information about its operating
segments, based on information about the components of the
entity that is available to the chief operating decision maker for
the purposes of allocating resources to the segments and
assessing their performance. The standard also requires the
disclosure of information about the products and services
provided by the segments, the geographical areas in which the
Group operates, and revenue from the Group’s major
customers. The Group concluded that the operating segments
determined in accordance with HKFRS 8 are the same as the
business segments previously identified under HKAS 14. These
revised disclosures, including the related revised comparative
information, are shown in note 4 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PoLIcY AND DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

(f)

(9)

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial
Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised) introduces changes in the presentation and
disclosures of financial statements. The revised standard
separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The
statement of changes in equity includes only details of
transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity
presented as a single line. In addition, this standard introduces
the statement of comprehensive income, with all items of
income and expense recognised in profit or loss, together with
all other items of recognised income and expense recognised
directly in equity, either in one single statement, or in two
linked statements. The Group has elected to present two
statements.

Amendment to Appendix to HKAS 18 Revenue —
Determining whether an entity is acting as a
principal or as an agent

Guidance has been added to the appendix (which accompanies
the standard) to determine whether the Group is acting as a
principal or as an agent. The features to consider are whether
the Group (i) has the primary responsibility for providing the
goods or services, (ii) has inventory risk, (iii) has the discretion
to establish prices and (iv) bears credit risk. The Group has
assessed its revenue arrangements against these criteria and
concluded that it is acting as a principal in all arrangements.
The amendment has had no impact on the financial position or
results of operations of the Group.

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

HKAS 23 has been revised to require capitalisation of
borrowing costs when such costs are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. As
the Group’s current policy for borrowing costs aligns with the
requirements of the revised standard, the revised standard has
had no impact on the financial position or results of operations
of the Group.
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PoLICcY AND DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:

(i)

Presentation and HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising on
Liquidation

The HKAS 32 Amendments provide a limited scope exception
for puttable financial instruments and instruments that impose
specified obligations arising on liquidation to be classified as
equity if they fulfil a number of specified features. The HKAS 1
Amendments require disclosure of certain information relating
to these puttable financial instruments and obligations
classified as equity. As the Group currently has no such
financial instruments or obligations, the amendments have had
no impact on the financial position or results of operations of
the Group.

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of
Embedded Derivatives and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement —
Embedded Derivatives

The amendment to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 requires an entity to assess
whether an embedded derivative must be separated from a
host contract when the entity reclassifies a hybrid financial
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category. This
assessment is to be made based on circumstances that existed
on the later of the date the entity first became a party to the
contract and the date of any contract amendments that
significantly change the cash flows of the contract. HKAS 39
has been revised to state that if an embedded derivative cannot
be separately measured, the entire hybrid instrument must
remain classified as fair value through profit or loss in its
entirety. The adoption of the amendments has had no impact
on the financial position or results of operations of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PoLIcY AND DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)

1)

(k)

0

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 requires customer loyalty award credits to be
accounted for as a separate component of the sales transaction
in which they are granted. The consideration received in the
sales transaction is allocated between the loyalty award credits
and the other components of the sale. The amount allocated to
the loyalty award credits is determined by reference to their fair
value and is deferred until the awards are redeemed or the
liability is otherwise extinguished. As the Group currently has
no customer loyalty award scheme, the interpretation has had
no impact on the financial position or results of operations of
the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction
of Real Estate

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 replaces HK Interpretation 3 Revenue — Pre-
completion Contracts for the Sale of Development Properties. It
clarifies when and how an agreement for the construction of
real estate should be accounted for as a construction contract
in accordance with HKAS 11 Construction Contracts or an
agreement for the sale of goods or services in accordance with
HKAS 18 Revenue. The interpretation has had no impact on the
accounting for the Group’s construction activities.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a
Foreign Operation

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 provides guidance on the accounting for a
hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation. This includes
clarification that (i) hedge accounting may be applied only to
the foreign exchange differences arising between the functional
currencies of the foreign operation and the parent entity; (ii) a
hedging instrument may be held by any entities within a group;
and (iii) on disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative gain
or loss relating to both the net investment and the hedging
instrument that was determined to be an effective hedge
should be reclassified to the income statement as a
reclassification adjustment. As the Group currently has no
hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, the
interpretation has had no impact on the financial position or
results of operations of the Group.
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PoLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)
(m) HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from

(n)

Customers (adopted from 1st July, 2009)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 provides guidance on accounting by
recipients that receive from customers items of property,
plant and equipment or cash for the acquisition or
construction of such items, provided that these assets must
then be used to connect customers to networks or to provide
ongoing access to a supply of goods or services, or both. As
the Group currently has no such transactions, the
interpretation has had no impact on the financial position or
results of operations of the Group.

In October 2008, the HKICPA issued its first Improvements to
HKFRSs which sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs.
Except for the amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations — Plan to Sell the
Controlling Interest in a Subsidiary which is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2009, the
Group adopted all the amendments from 1st January, 2009.
While the adoption of some of the amendments results in
changes in accounting policies, none of these amendments
has had a significant financial impact to the Group. Details of
the key amendments most applicable to the Group are as
follows:

. HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Removes
the reference to “total interest income” as a
component of finance costs.

. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies

that assets and liabilities which are classified as held for
trading in accordance with HKAS 39 are not
automatically classified as current in the statement of
financial position.
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2B

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PoLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)
(n) (continued)

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Replaces the
term “net selling price” with “fair value less costs to
sell” and the recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and its value in use.

In addition, items of property, plant and equipment
held for rental that are routinely sold in the ordinary
course of business after rental are transferred to
inventories when rental ceases and they are held for
sale.

HKAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and
Disclosure of Government Assistance: Requires
government loans granted in the future with no or at a
below-market rate of interest to be recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 39 and the benefit
of the reduced interest to be accounted for as a
government grant.

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements:
Requires that when a parent entity accounts for a
subsidiary at fair value in accordance with HKAS 39 in its
separate financial statements, this treatment continues
when the subsidiary is subsequently classified as held for
sale.

HKAS 28 Investments in Associates: Clarifies that an
investment in an associate is a single asset for the
purpose of conducting the impairment test and that no
impairment is separately allocated to goodwill included in
the investment balance.

HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets: When discounted cash
flows are used to estimate “fair value less costs to sell”,
additional disclosures (e.g., discount rate and growth rate
used) are required which are consistent with the
disclosures required when the discounted cash flows are
used to estimate “value in use”.
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2 ¢

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)
31st December, 2009 —EENFF+-A=4+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PoLICY AND DISCLOSURES 228 HRKEIRESKRES (8)

(CONTINUED)

(n) (continued) (#%8)

(n)

HKAS 38 Intangible Assets: Expenditure on advertising
and promotional activities is recognised as an expense
when the Group either has the right to access the goods
or has received the service.

The reference to there being rarely, if ever, persuasive
evidence to support an amortisation method for
intangible assets other than the straight-line method has
been removed. The Group has reassessed the useful lives
of its intangible assets and concluded that the straight-
line method is still appropriate.

HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement: (i) sets out a number of changes in
circumstances relating to derivatives that are not
considered to result in reclassification into or out of the
fair value through profit or loss category; (i) removes the
reference to the designation of hedging instrument at the
segment level; and (iii) requires that the revised effective
interest rate (rather than the original effective interest
rate) calculated on cessation of fair value hedge
accounting should be used for the remeasurement of the
hedged item when paragraph AG8 of HKAS 39 is
applicable.

HKAS 40 Investment Property: Revises the scope such
that property being constructed or developed for future
as an investment property is classified as an investment
property. The Group has applied the amendment
prospectively from 1st January, 2009.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following relevant new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective in these
financial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards !
HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption

of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards — Additional Exemptions for
First-time Adopters 2

HKFRS 2 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment — Group Cash-settled Share-
based Payment Transactions 2

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations !

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ©

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures 5

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements !

HKAS 32 Amendment Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial

Instruments: Presentation — Classification
of Rights Issues 3
HKAS 39 Amendment Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Eligible Hedged Items !
Amendments to HKFRS 5 Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets

included in improvements Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
to HKFRSs issued in — Plan to Sell the Controlling Interest in a
October 2008 Subsidiary !
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments
Amendments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 5
HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners '
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity
Instruments 4

HK Interpretation 4 Leases — Determination of the Length of

(Revised in December 2009)  Lease Term in respect of Hong Kong Land

Leases?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2010

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st February, 2010

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2010

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2011

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2013
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued Improvements to
HKFRSs 2009 which sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs
primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying
wording. The amendments to HKFRS 2, HKAS 38, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st July, 2009 while the amendments to HKFRS 5, HKFRS 8,
HKAS 1, HKAS 7, HKAS 17, HKAS 38 and HKAS 39 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2010 although
there are separate transitional provisions for each standard or
interpretation.

HKFRS 1 (Revised) was issued with an aim to improve the structure of
the standard. The revised version of the standard does not make any
changes to the substance of accounting by first-time adopters. As the
Group is not a first-time adopter of HKFRSs, the amendments will not
have any financial impact on the Group.

The HKFRS 1 Amendments provide relief from the full retrospective
application of HKFRSs for the measurement of oil and gas assets and
leases. As a result of extending the options for determining deemed
cost to oil and gas assets, the exiting exemption relating to
decommissioning liabilities has also been revised.

The revised HKFRS 3 introduces a number of changes in accounting
for business combinations that will impact the amount of goodwill
recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition
occurs, and future reported results. The revised HKAS 27 requires
that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary without loss
of control is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such a
change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain
or loss. Furthermore, the revised standard changes the accounting for
losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a
subsidiary. Other consequential amendments were made to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 12 Income Taxes, HKAS 21 The
Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, HKAS 28 Investments
in Associates and HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. The changes
introduced by the revised HKFRS 3 and revised HKAS 27 are to be
applied prospectively and will affect the accounting of future
acquisitions and transactions with minority interests.

The amendments to HKFRS 2 clarify the scope and the accounting for
group cash-settled share-based payment transactions in the separate
financial statements. The amendments to HKFRS 2 also incorporate
guidance previously included in HK(IFRIC)-int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2 and
HK(IFRIC)-int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of a
comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses on
the classification and measurement of financial assets. Instead of
classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity shall classify
financial assets as subsequently measured at either amortised cost or
fair value, on the basis of both the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets. This aims to improve and
simplify the approach for the classification and measurement of
financial assets compared with the requirements of HKAS 39. HKAS
39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety by the end of
2010.

The revised HKAS 24 clarifies and simplifies the definition of related
parties. The revised standard also provides a partial exemption for
government-related entities to disclose details of all transactions and
balances with the same government or entities that are controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the same government.

The HKAS 32 Amendment revises the definition of financial liabilities
such that rights, options or warrants issued to acquire a fixed number
of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount of any
currency are equity instruments, provided that the entity offers the
rights, options or warrants pro rata to all of its existing owners of the
same class of its own non-derivative equity instruments.

The amendment to HKAS 39 Amendment addresses the designation
of a one-sided risk in a hedged item, and the designation of inflation
as a hedged risk or portion in particular situations. It clarifies that an
entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or
cash flow variability of a financial instrument as a hedged item.

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify that all assets and liabilities of a
subsidiary shall be classified as held for sale if an entity has a sale
plan involving loss of control of the subsidiary, regardless of whether
the entity will retain a non-controlling interest. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1st January, 2010. The changes must be
applied prospectively and will affect future sale transactions or plans
involving loss of control of a subsidiary.
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3E2EHhBREBN 2SS BB IR

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

The amendment to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 removes an unintended
consequence arising from the treatment of prepayments of future
contributions in certain circumstances when there is a minimum
funding requirement. The amendments require an entity to treat the
benefit of an early payment as a pension asset. The economic benefit
available as a reduction in future contributions is thus equal to the
sum of (i) the prepayment for future services and (ii) the estimated
future services costs less the estimated minimum funding requirement
contributions that would be required as if there were no
prepayments.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 standardises practice in the accounting for all non-
reciprocal distributions of non-cash assets to owners. This new
interpretation clarifies that (i) a dividend payable should be
recognised when the dividend is appropriately authorised and is no
longer at the discretion of the entity; (ii) an entity should measure
the dividend payable at the fair value of the net assets to be
distributed; and (iii) an entity should recognise the difference
between the dividend paid and the carrying amount of the net assets
distributed in profit or loss. Other consequential amendments were
made to HKAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period and HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 addresses the accounting by an entity when the
terms of financial liability are renegotiated and resulted in the entity
issuing equity instruments to a creditor of the entity to extinguish all
or part of the financial liability. The interpretation clarifies that equity
instruments issued to a creditor to extinguish a financial liability are
consideration paid in accordance with HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement and the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished, and the
consideration paid, shall be recognised in profit or loss. The
consideration paid should be measured based on the fair value of the
equity instrument issued or, if the fair value of the equity instrument
cannot be reliably measured, the fair value of the financial liability
extinguished.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised HKFRSs and HK(IFRIC)s upon initial
application. Except for the Revised HKFRS 3 and HKAS 27 which will
have an impact on future business combinations and transactions
with minority interests and HKFRS 9, the Group anticipates that these
new and revised IFRSs and IFRICs are unlikely to have any significant
impact on the Group's results of operations and financial position.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the
Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company'’s investments in subsidiaries that are not classified as held
for sales in accordance with HKFRs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic activity.
The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which the Group
and the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the
capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the duration of the
joint venture and the basis on which the assets are to be realised
upon its dissolution. The profits and losses from the joint venture’s
operations and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the
venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital
contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint venture
agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(@) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b)  a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have unilateral
control, but has joint control, directly or indirectly, over the
joint venture;

() an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint
control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not less than
20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and is in a position
to exercise significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with HKAS
39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less than 20% of
the joint venture’s registered capital and has neither joint
control of, nor is in a position to exercise significant influence
over, the joint venture.

KB NRMBERR

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)
—FFAFF+-_A=1+—H

2.4 TR S BURME

B B X A
MEARRARREERMEZESEY
B REERER  AREE BB ERA &

ZERE -

MEBEAR 2 XERE U EEBKEKEEA
ARARZWEHER - ARBRHE R F
BREFR  AREBEFEYBEHREENDE
RFELEEFERKAREMREESET
BE o

cELE
BELENRAEHNLZHNRIY MAKE
REMATELETECEES 2 ERE -
EECHEUBIERBEALSE  X&E
MREMALTREFHEEER °

REEZRAFUZARELEHHEBRER
BhERTZEIER RELEZFH
EREELEMUKREREECEE -
CECEEB L BREURERBHREE
ZHREBHEEERBEEREAZEIER
OISR RIBEEEREBRERDME

Aé ERTHBRERETRBEE R

ﬂn

WMAEBETHEENREERS
BERESRE - RIREIERE L
al

—
(]
~

(b) fWAKELE|ETEHZESE HE
BRAHBREERELEMNARES
- RIRARIEAREER

(o) fim 2N £ B 37 4% B8 5 M ook [/ = Al
B MEESEEREAELET
A — T DR20% - BAT#H A
BOERBEATEN  AIHKE
/N 1

(d) MASEEESIEEFEAELE
AR ZAN20% AT - B 3 £ 12 ) 4
FAEHEELEREETEAZE
71 BIREE B e ERIE395
WRERARNEE -



NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to joint
control, resulting in none of the participating parties having unilateral
control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group's interests in jointly-controlled entities are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's share of
net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results
and reserves of jointly-controlled entities is included in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated reserves,
respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its jointly-controlled entities are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interests in the jointly-controlled entities,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
jointly-controlled entities, which was not previously eliminated or
recognised in the consolidated reserves, is included as part of the
Group’s interests in jointly-controlled entities. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-controlled
entity, in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not
less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a
position to exercise significant influence.

The Group's interests in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
associates is included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates, which was not previously eliminated or recognised in the
consolidated reserves, is included as part of the Group’s interests in
associates and is not individually tested for impairment. Adjustments
are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that
may exist.
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NOoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Associates (continued)

The results of associates are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’'s investments in associates are treated as non-current assets
and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and
jointly-controlled entities represents the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value
of the acquirees’ identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as an asset, initially measured at cost
and subsequently at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. In
the case of associates and jointly-controlled entities, goodwill is
included in the carrying amount thereof, rather than as a separately
identified asset in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31st December. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5F (£8)
31st December, 2009 —EENFF+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHBRIBE (£8)

(CONTINUED)

Goodwill (continued)

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of
is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative
values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Excess over the cost of business combinations

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and jointly-
controlled entities (previously referred to as negative goodwill), after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in the income statement.

The excess for associates and jointly-controlled entities is included in
the Group’s share of the associates and jointly-controlled entities’
profits or losses in the period in which the investments are acquired.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties, goodwill
and non-current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in
use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.
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NOoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

87 55 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
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2.4 RS BURME (18)

(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the income statement in the period
in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under common
control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that
gives it significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint
control over the Group;

(b)  the party is an associate;

(c)  the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual
referred to in (a) or (d); or

(f)  the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting power
in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5F (£8)

31st December, 2009 —EFANFF+ZHA=1+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.0 FLEFHRIBE ()
(CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation ME- - BMERRBRITE
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, ME - BEREE(EEIRRIN) D

are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as
held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held
for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-
current assets and disposal groups held for sale”

of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and

. The cost of an item

any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carry amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life, except for certain machinery and
equipment which are depreciated using accelerated depreciation
method. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:
Buildings 12 to 35 years

10 to 20 years or the term
of the relevant lease

8 to 12 years

3 to 5 years

5 to 10 years

5 to 10 years

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Computer, equipment and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Other equipment

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

(continued)

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year

end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net

sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
under construction and installation, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant

and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of investment

properties using the straight-line method.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the income statement in the year of the

retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)

31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+ZA=4+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 FZEHBUERIBE (48)
(CONTINUED)
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale BELHEZERBEER LEAR
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale MERBEERMERF ZRmMEEE
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales BBHERSMIEFEERM KD E -
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the AIRERSBRBELE  ERERZ
case, the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale BENHEAR LA NERRL TR
in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and HE MEENKRERLEZREE
customary for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale FHEEMNZ —REREEGRR  UARE
must be highly probable. A ERBE ARG HET °
Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment FIREEREZERBEERLEHER
properties, deferred tax assets and financial assets) classified as held (REME BELEMEBEEERVBEE
for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair BRoM) R E 2 AR B QP ER &
values less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible RAZBEEFTE - JIBFHIEFLENY
assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised. X BERREARBREENENE
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) BmEEE (BRI
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial 18 71 U 5 9 48 2 & B2 1A ¥ 4 i SR B 1R X
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a RtE2 REBEHKURBETLEEN
business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. AT RYWEERNATE BEEE
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or ZAIERFRIERAERKER - AR
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently FHZEVEEERRAERKCESF Y
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment N YTEERRBRELEER &K
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be HIRBERFERE - ERFHZET
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for BEZBHEFHNBHER ZZINEY
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at B B RETRA °
each financial year end.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment BEREFHZBEVEESFEERINE
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such TEABVEmMETRENS ZFE
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible WEENF#E BRFHIENVEE
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine ZAGERAEREFSETRNURTEE
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If REMZTERBHEERN - MZTHE
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite K BRI ERAFEFRAZTEHERES
is accounted for on a prospective basis. AR 2 2B KRR R ERESER o
Patents and licences B &R
Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any impairment BB M BRI o hE B8 JD 1R A AN IR AT R R E
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their BEIE AEAERENEKEEIZE20
estimated useful lives of 3 to 20 years. FZHEAERFHANEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to
use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria

is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products not exceeding 10 years,
commencing from the date when the products are put into

commercial production.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease,
the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the
minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases are included in property,
plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs
of such leases are charged to the income statement so as to provide

a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the income

statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)
31st December, 2009 —EENFF+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHBRIBE (£8)

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated
at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

M (E)
KREBED 2 L EE TN R IB AL A
SIRR - HRANEHANERERER -

Investments and other financial assets BRENHEMBKEE
Initial recognition and measurement N ERARFE

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as loans
and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge,
as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of
investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly
attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank balances, trade
and other receivables and quoted and unquoted financial
instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance income in
the income statement. The loss arising from impairment is recognised
in the income statement in other expenses.
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NOoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity. Equity investments classified as
available for sale are those which are neither classified as held for
trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for
an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to
needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market

conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with gains or losses recognised
as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
valuation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the income statement in
other income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in
equity is included in the income statement in other expenses and
removed from the available-for-sale investment valuation reserve.
Interest and dividends earned are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the income
statement as other income in accordance with the policies set out for

“Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such securities

are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets whether the
ability and intention to sell them in the near term are still
appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade these financial assets
due to inactive markets and management’s intent to do so
significantly changes in the foreseeable future, the Group may elect
to reclassify these financial assets in rare circumstances.
Reclassification to loans and receivables is permitted when the
financial assets meet the definition of loans and receivables and the
Group has the intent and ability to hold these assets for the
foreseeable future or to maturity. The reclassification to the held-to-
maturity category is permitted only when the entity has the ability

and intent to hold until the maturity date of the financial asset.
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-sale category,
any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the
investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference between
the new amortised cost and the expected cash flows is also
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective
interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired,
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the income
statement.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement;

. and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is
recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in
the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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NOoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each of the reporting period whether there is
any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is
deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after
the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that
loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in
a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate
for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest
rate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) Bt 75 3R R Bt 5% (48)

31st December, 2009 —EFANFF+ZHA=1+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.0 FLEFHRIEBE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) MEEERE (&)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued) Yi2 8 5H P AR ﬂ EE M BEEE (&)
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an EEFAESEZABBRNMN - BES
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the =Y %:ZEE R R EREERE - F
income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued on the BWASEE AR REERA A
reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest BERARBEROFERE - MERKE
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring WER RN AR KRR K E - Blg
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any 1 5 7% B K e 8 B KA (] A ) AR A AR
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic e

prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment R FEHZ MR > AR EERRELN
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the EM - EEHDREBER MR D - BB
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment THIANMEBESERAEEERM
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a BEOR o R RMIE R IE R 2 &Y E - 8l
future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the WEHFEEFARERSD -

income statement.

Assets carried at cost RSN R EE

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been MEREEBERELT BHATFETED
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair SHMEEMLIEARFEIERZ ERE
value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured has been BRATAHBRERBE  BENSETD
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference NEEZEmMEENBREUYBEER
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of EROMSOREFENGGTRARES
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of REERNEZREGE  ZSEEEZRE
return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets EBERETTED -

are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments assets AHEHENBIREEE

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the RAELEMBREMNS  AEERE
end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that RERRTEREHEAXTEEER T —
an investment or a group of investments is impaired. BREN—HKREBHRAE -

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the EARLEMBEELRRE  EKA
difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and BE(IRERNEEMNRREH) BERT
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss ARYEZEZRE EHRAEE RS KRE
previously recognised in the income statement, is removed from other RZEMBEBEES B EME2mEm KA
comprehensive income and recognised in transferred from equity to RRER - I IR ES R AR B B S
the income statement. o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments assets (continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is
evaluated against the original cost of the investment and
“prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been
below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the income statement —
is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
income statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the income statement.
Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in

other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the

classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the
case of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction

costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
financial guarantee contracts, debentures and interest-bearing loans

and borrowings.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)
31st December, 2009 —EENFF+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHBRIBE (£8)

(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification
as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings and
debentures are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate method
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the financial guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher
of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and
(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

7195 & ()
ikt B

MBABEERNAERTFETIDE

EXREE

MNTHERZ  GFRERREEUNRER
EH R ARG AR RN ROKIR 88K AN
BEMTBERARLETEKN  AIERAK
KAk - ERABERUIERRECEBER
MEZHHER  KakBEERKAR
REER ©

BERANGEEF REMBRERTML
BE ARBREBENX-HFHWER
AR BERFIETHEET ARBTRD
MERARA -

MBEREN
AEBHAENMBERAODARTS
AEEEBEBARERBES TANIK
AXMEHREMRRERE  MFH
AENRENGLN - UBEFRSHEL
BERXFERFEHMBEREEENR
RHERETHEREARABE - R
Rz AEERUAT _Ez8SE
AEMBEREN  VDRBEHPREE
NREEEMFTRAX B &EME
RNBRER 2R (MBS ) Rit#
i e

BREIMBEAR
HEETOEETERT
MBAEEERRER -

E 35 2 fE

WE—HRBMBABERKER —EK
TERBOERABEEZRNZ S —ERB
BEMERNK HBEAEEZEREARE
ek - R iL TE B 5 K2 2R 45 1F A7 BR B8
RREEE UFRERFTEERE -
Mm&EZEEEZESN KSR AR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 iR

125



126

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there
is currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments investments that are traded in
active organised financial markets is determined by reference to
quoted market bid prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for
long positions and ask price for short positions), without any
deduction for transaction costs. For financial instruments where there
is no active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate
valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s
length market transactions; reference to the current market value of
another instrument which is substantially the same; a discounted
cash flow analysis; and option pricing models or other valuation

models.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated

costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term

deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)

31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+_A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHBRIBE (£8)
(CONTINUED)
Provisions B &

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group on certain
products are recognised based on sales volume and past experience
of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values
as appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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NOoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is
not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses,
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5F (£8)
31st December, 2009 —EENFF+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHBRIBE (£8)

(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary
to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is
intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair
value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to the
income statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments.
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NOoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured
reliably, on the following bases:

(@) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that
the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control
over the goods sold;

(b)  from the rendering of services, when the services are rendered;

(c)  rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset;
and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

Employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Company and its subsidiaries, jointly-controlled entities and
associates which operate in Mainland China are required to
participate in a government-regulated defined contribution pension
scheme, under which the Group make contributions to a
government-regulated pension scheme at a fixed percentage of
wages and salaries of the existing full-time employees in Mainland
China and have no further legal or constructive obligations to make
additional contributions. The contributions are charged as an expense
to the income statement as incurred.
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the
statement of financial position, until they have been approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends have been
approved by the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
end of the reporting period. All differences are taken to the income
statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
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NOoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period and their income statements are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of
the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’'s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that
it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.
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2 ¢

NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion
that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group
accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold
separately, the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made
on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

As detailed in note 18, trademarks with a carrying value of
RMB210,589,000 as at 31st December, 2009 (2008: RMB203,089,000)
that are renewable every 10 years at minimal cost. The directors of
the Company consider that these trademarks for all practical
purposes have an indefinite useful life and therefore they will not be
amortised until their useful life is determined to be finite and they
will be tested for impairment annually.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.
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NOoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimated recoverable amounts of goodwill and trademarks
The Group determines whether goodwill and trademarks are impaired
at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill and trademarks
have been allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. As at 31st
December, 2009, the carrying amount of goodwill and trademarks
was RMB538,016,000 (2008: RMB538,016,000) and
RMB210,589,000 (2008: RMB203,089,000), respectively. Details of
the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 19.

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting
policy for research and development costs in note 2.4 to the financial
statements. Determining the amounts to be capitalised requires
management to make assumptions regarding the expected future
cash generation of the assets, discount rates to be applied and the
expected period of benefits.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses,
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. Further details are contained in
note 25 to the financial statements.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of available-for-sale investments

The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale and recognises
movements of their fair values in equity. When the fair value
declines, management makes assumptions about the decline in value
to determine whether there is an impairment that should be
recognised in the income statement. At 31st December, 2009,
impairment of RMB122,025,000 (2008:RMB123,527,000) has been
recognised for available-for-sale assets. The carrying amount of
available-for-sale assets as at 31st December, 2009 was
RMB477,430,000 (2008: RMB178,187,000).

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made based on
assessment of the salability and net realisable value of inventories.
The identification of write-down of inventories requires
management’s judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome
of expectation in future is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the carrying value of the inventories and
write-down loss/reversal of write-down in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Impairment of trade and other receivables is made based on
assessment of the recoverability of trade and other receivables. The
identification of impairment of trade and other receivables requires
management’s judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome
of expectation in future is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the carrying value of the receivables and
impairment loss/reversal of impairment in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

Warranty expenses

The Group offers a six month to three year warranty for its products,
during which free warranty service for the repair and maintenance of
parts or components under normal usage is provided to customers.
Management estimates the warranty provision based on the historical
cost data for repairs and maintenance and units of products sold. The
carrying amount of the warranty provision was RMB497,231,000
(2008: RMB446,343,000) as at 31st December, 2009. More details
are disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements.
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NOoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on their products and services and has four reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@) manufacturing and sale of diesel engines and related parts
("Diesel engines”);

(b)  manufacturing and sale of automobiles and major automobile
components other than diesel engines (“Automobiles and other
major automobile components”);

() manufacturing and sale of non-major automobile components
("Non-major automobile components”); and

(d) provision of import and export services (“Import & export
services”).

Management monitors the results of its operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax from continuing operations. The adjusted
profit before tax from continuing operations is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax from continuing operations except
that interest income, finance costs, dividend income as well as head
office and corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, pledged deposits, cash
and cash equivalents and other unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated
head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the

selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5F (£8)

31st December, 2009 ZEFTNFF+=A=1+—H

L, OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) L, RENIPEMN (88)

Year ended 31st December, 2009

BE_2FAF+-RA=t—-HLEEFE

Automobiles
and other
major Non-major Import &
Diesel auto-mobile  automobile export
engines components components services Total
AEREM
TERE FEXEARE EHO
Ll 284 WG PR 7% @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®Tn AR¥Trn AR%Tx AR%®Txn
Segment revenue: DEBHA
Sales to external customers IBRFHEE 14,425,689 19,571,341 925,598 338,271 35,260,899
Inter-segment sales D EEHE 2,501,251 895 95,669 — 2,597,815
Total st 16,926,940 19,572,236 1,021,267 338,271 37,858,714
Reconciliation: HER :
Elimination of inter-segment &5 9 2B 5 &
sales (2,597,815)
Revenue WA 35,260,899
Segment results DEELE 3,473,536 1,446,693 112,192 8,800 5,041,221
Reconciliation: YR :
Elimination of inter-segment #4845 #E £ 45
results (151,457)
Interest income MEUWA 116,809
Dividend income and B N &S
unallocated gains AW 228,882
Corporate and other EREMEK
unallocated expenses SEREX (308,704)
Finance costs o SN (247,507)
Profit before tax B 7% AT 1) 7 4,679,244
Segment assets NHEE 14,518,233 14,520,582 875,459 452,282 30,366,556
Reconciliation: YR -
Elimination of inter-segment 1% 4% % &8 & fig Ut
receivables RE (1,661,800)
Corporate and other T EREMK
unallocated assets PEREE 7,670,721
Total assets BEE 36,375,477
Segment liabilities SHBER 7,783,157 9,358,910 402,481 61,750 17,606,298
Reconciliation: Y
Elimination of inter-segment & #54) &5 & J& 1+ 7B
payables (1,661,800)
Corporate and other rERAMKRIERRE
unallocated liabilities 4,769,664
Total liabilities BwatfE 20,714,162
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) Bt ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5% (48)
31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+A=1+—H
4, OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) L, KRENTPEM (1)
Year ended 31st December, 2009 BZE-_ZTZThFE+-A=+—HLEE
Automobiles
and other
major Non-major Import &
Diesel auto-mobile  automobile export
engines components components services Total
RERHEM
ITERE FTEBHRE
4600 T4 e EHORE st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR¥MTR AR®TRT ARBTR AR®TxR

Other segment information: HnEER -
Share of profits and losses of: {4 T 5| 2 8 % &

REE
A jointly-controlled entity — R ARG T 2,343 — — — 2,343
Associates RN (1,601) (5,727) — 1,555 (5,773)
Write-down of inventories to }Mﬁf SR #HFE
net realisable value 5,630 223,031 2,454 — 231,115
Impairment loss on trade and ~ FEUNE 5 5 3 R H b fE
other receivables U BR U E B 18 10,206 213,364 4,268 (234) 227,604
Depreciation and amortisation 47 & k& £ &4 387,701 480,588 34,151 1,964 904,404
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items & ) % « # 28 K%
of property, plant and BRZER/ (KE)
equipment (264) 6,842 392 (30) 6,940
Product warranty provision ERREBRE 523,003 176,014 10,171 — 709,188
Investments in associates REEE R A KR E 44,501 96,290 — 31,768 172,559
Investment in a R—REFZFHEE
jointly-controlled entity HRE 23,275 — — — 23,275
Capital expenditure* EARRR* 1,034,793 1,263,276 137,506 5750 2,441,325
3 Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment, CJ BEXFSORETEYE  WERRE &
intangible assets and investment properties including assets from the FEERREYE (BERE—FIE R
acquisition of a subsidiary and contribution from minority shareholders. FAUARLDERRFEFREE) °
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

I,

By

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Year ended 31st December, 2008

87 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EFAFF=AS+—H

W KK v
L, KREREP

Automobiles
and other

major Non-major Import &
Diesel auto-mobile  automobile export
engines components components services Total
P R H A
FTERE FFEARE
Se0m ik T TH 4 EHARS AT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETIT ARBTT AR®TR
Segment revenue: DEWA -
Sales to external customers SNERE P & 10,912,567 20,396,342 884,512 373,769 32,567,190
Inter-segment sales o 2B & 2,990,771 295 24,880 — 3,015,946
Total st 13,903,338 20,396,637 909,392 373,769 35,583,136
Reconciliation: R -
Elimination of inter-segment & 4 % 2 & 85 &
sales (3,015,946)
Revenue g A 32,567,190
Segment results DEbEE 1,920,743 1,318,043 38,038 8,006 3,284,830
Reconciliation: R -
Elimination of inter-segment & 45 4B & % 48
results (137,639)
Interest income A B U A 48,827
Dividend income and SN ONE S
unallocated gains 7 B Y &= 170,048
Corporate and other 13 R H AR
unallocated expenses D AR X (327,524)
Finance costs B 7% gk AR (297,844)
Profit before tax R 75 AT A 2,740,698
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

I,

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31st December, 2008

Segment assets DEEE

Reconciliation: R

Elimination of inter-segment  #& & % 2B
receivables & Y 5k 18

Corporate and other BEREAM
unallocated assets ROBMEE

Total assets BEE

Segment liabilities HEEE

Reconciliation: HIR

Elimination of inter-segment ¥ £ % 2 &
payables J& 5 ;B

Corporate and other R REAM
unallocated liabilities AOEBE

Total liabilities FCS=

Other segment information: ~ E 5 & :

Share of profits and losses of: FE{5 T 51| 2 & 5 ;&

&%Ei

A jointly-controlled entity HREZETE R
Associates it ”E ’D\ fl

Write-down of inventories to  #ii s 7 & &= A] & 31
net realisable value FE

Impairment loss on trade and JEURE 5 8k 7k H
other receivables JEE s BR OB (B 18

Depreciation and amortisation 7 & [ # i

Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEME  BRR
items of property, plant REBEBZER/
and equipment (ezs)

Product warranty provision 7 G iR & B

Investments in associates

Investment in a

jointly-controlled entity

Capital expenditure

%Hﬁﬁ%@ﬁ?ﬂ’ﬂ?ﬁﬁ
R—RAREHE
E’\J&ﬁ

BEARX

Diesel
engines

5%
RMB'000
ARBTT

9,962,832

7,370,991

523
(1,817)
99,641
20,660
362,252
(317)
390,346
44,407

20,932

580,828

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)

—EENFF A=
L, RENIPE

BE-FFN\F+=-A=+—

Automobiles

and other
major Non-major
auto-mobile  automobile
components components

FTE R H A
FTEAE FFTEARE
TR THE
RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETRT
12,688,641 827,855
7,309,380 386,555
(3,378) —
83,606 2,745
88,919 667
389,408 42,769
1,162 (43)
301,979 6,621
132,641 —
1,388,982 41,373

+—H

+'l' ( g )

Import &
export
services

O RS
RMB'000
AREF T

661,581

270,608

(1,070)

6,394

205

(131)

2,724

BLLEE

Total

maEt
RMB'000
ARBTT

24,140,909

(1,081,601)

6,890,559

29,949,867
15,337,534

(1,081,601)

4,367,456

18,623,389

523
(6,265)
185,992
116,640
794,634
671
698,946
179,772

20,932

2,011,183
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

I,

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Information about a major customer

Revenue of approximately RMB4,627,218,000 (2008:
RMB2,920,698,000) was derived from sales by the Diesel engines
segment and Automobiles and other major automobile components
segment to a single customer.

Geographical information

During the years ended 31st December, 2008 and 2009, more than
90% of the Group’s revenue was generated from customers located
in the PRC and over 90% of the non-current assets of the Group
were located in the PRC.

87t ¥ ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
—EFENFF_A=+—H

b4,

KENWBER (£8)
EBE—NEEEFMEHR

AR #) AR #4,627,218,0007T (= F
TN\EF : AR#2,920,698,0007T) IR EH
IR AERAMEZRETH
B —UBRFIEMEE -

ih @ & K}
BE_ZZNFRZZZEZNLEF+=A
=+—HIEFE AEEBEIO%KAE
CEFPENEE &AL EEI0%H
EFmEBEEMNFE AL -
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NOoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

87 955 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)

— =

EFNFEL=A=+—A

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA~ Hth ITA R IR &=
Revenue includes turnover and other revenue that arise in the course WABRAEBATERBRETELEZ
of the Group’s ordinary activities. The Group’s turnover, which arises EERRAEMBA - REBBFEXR
from the principal activities of the Group, represents the net invoiced TEAZEXERFANKRE E5
value of goods sold, after allowances for returns and trade discounts, i FRHERBcEENEELHE®
the value of services rendered; and gross rental income received and MEZFEARBEREDFEE B RER
receivable from investment properties, net of sales taxes and MESKRARE(TEEET S RN
surcharges during the year. BHA) -
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: WA~ B AR mz o feT :
2009 2008
—EEhEF ZETN\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 ARB TR ARBTIT
Revenue A
Turnover s
Sale of goods EmiHE 34,011,367 31,481,811
Rendering of services RERY 37,262 77,255
Other revenue H A g A
Sales of scrap and other materials HEREE R E MR 1,199,894 1,003,338
Gross rental income HeW AL 12,376 4,786
35,260,899 32,567,190
Other income RN
Bank interest income WITHE WA 116,809 48,827
Dividend income from available-for-sale A {it {H &£ &% & ~
investments & B A 1,600 —
Government subsidies BAT #8 Bh 70,196 137,908
Penalty and compensation income Se REEWKA 12,315 9,488
Excess over the cost of business B XA G A
combinations B 261 38 87,334 —
Others H 9,580 11,637
297,834 207,860
Gains Uk &
Gain on debt restructuring B EHE K= 45,921 —
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEAHEERE KRR
investments 1,936 11,015
47,857 11,015
345,691 218,875
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5F (£8)

31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+_A=+—H
6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. PRiRA0N E

AEBBRBAFBEME(GEA)

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2009 2008
“EENE —EE)N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & AR¥T R ARBT T
Cost of inventories sold HEFER A 26,684,146 26,012,238
Cost of service provided T it AR 7% AR 4,240 11,415
Write-down of inventories to net WRFEZA#RFE
realisable value 231,115 185,992
Product warranty provision E IR E B
Additional provision RINEE R 35 709,188 698,946
Amounts utilised during the year FREHALHE 35 (675,999) (433,238)
33,189 265,708
Employee benefits expense (including directors' [ B @ FIF X (RIEESH
and supervisors' remuneration (note 8): REZME (HF8)) :
Wages and salaries ITENF® 1,712,232 1,596,670
Defined contribution pension scheme TREETEARS S
(note i) (Biati) 193,322 155,981
Medical benefits costs (note i) BB FIBCA (K atii) 43,029 36,171
Housing fund FERES 62,645 51,363
Cash housing subsidies costs ReEEmAKA 74,692 60,512
Total staff costs B B 8 pk AR 2,085,920 1,900,697
Rental income less direct operating expenses 784 Yt ARl B 5 2 B 5 52
of RMB5,383,000 (2008: RMB2,130,000) A K #5,383,0007T
(ZZEZTNF: ARK
2,130,0007T) (6,993) (2,656)
Bank interest income RITFI B WA 5 (116,809) (48,827)
Dividend income ST ON 5 (1,600) —
Research and development costs 75 & B 2K AR 450,217 379,525
Minimum lease payment under operating BRELEHNNKE
leases: He
Plant and machinery 28 % 1 41,495 32,011
Land and buildings TH REF 63,780 58,722
Auditors’ remuneration Z EED B & 18,380 21,539
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  HERKE
equipment BB 6,940 671
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREMEEE 15 1,028 —
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment )% « #E LR ENE 14 874,033 757,256
Depreciation of investment properties BREMERE 15 3,605 2,276
Recognition of prepaid land lease payments 8 fi + # 78 & X B i 2 16 11,441 19,499
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hoqth 4 A 18 15,325 15,603
Impairment of trade and other receivables E U & 5 BR 3% K H i & Uk
R TOR B 227,604 116,640
Impairment of available-for-sale investments ] it 1! & 3% & i (& 207 2,722
Impairment of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - # 28 2 & & A B 14 — 25,380
Impairment of investment in an associate R—ZRBERA 2R ERE = 142
Foreign exchange differences, net EHFER 634 19,205
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NOoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

87 55 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
EFNFEL=A=+—A

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 6. PBRie0RliE (&)
Notes: i ix -
(i) Defined contribution pension scheme (i) ERBEN BT E
All of the Group’s full-time employees in Mainland China are covered by a 7N B BT A5 B B A it 2 B E B 1T B BT
government-regulated pension scheme and are entitled to an annual pension EEEMR K A EIATIRE - RIKEFER
determined by their basic salaries upon their retirement. The PRC WERIZE H K2 A BRI Rk o B BB FTF
government is responsible for the pension liabilities to these retired RIEZERKEENRRKSENL - AEH
employees. The Group is required to make annual contributions to the BEFEFHEEBERNH2200%( = FEZF )|
government-regulated pension scheme at 20.0% (2008: 20.0%) of the F : 20.0% ) B E 7 7] B T B A iR 1k 2
employees’ basic salaries. This defined contribution pension scheme HEEH ML o FRNEFES JES
continued to be available to the Group’s employees for the year. The related Bl FREM ARk E - B ERNKS
pension costs are expensed as incurred. A RE LIS 5 ©
(if) Medlical benefits costs (i) B2 5 48 FI B N
The Group contributes on a monthly basis to defined contribution medical NEEY R E T E LT EEE
benefit plans organised by the PRC government. The PRC government FIE 247 B 1EH (2 2 - 0 BB T &R 1B
undertakes to assume the medical benefit obligations of all existing and ZEHI A EEEREKIES RIEERE
retired employees under these plans. Contributions to these plans by the FEFIE(E - NEFEEZEZ(EH B2
Group are expensed as incurred. The Group has no further obligations for REEEST o RIEZZE2  KEFY
medical benefits and supplemental medical benefits for their qualified A BINE B By B35 T ]2 #d 75 B2 55 48 Fi| dF
employees under these plans. mHMEE o
7. FINANCE CoSTS 7. MIBER
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBERITAT
2009 2008
S L —TINE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR
Interest on bank loans and other borrowings ZBR 74 A2 & E B M RTT
wholly repayable within five years BRI H At 18 5 S 146,579 180,294
Interest on debenture [EEVRS) 50,321 62,933
Interest on discounted bills receivable & W B IR = i R B 50,607 57,724
Imputed interest expense on an amount due J& s — 4 B 3@ A + X IEEY
to a related party HEMBHAX = 2,789
Total interest expense on financial liabilities LA $%Z A & 7 18 25 51 BR BA &b
not at fair value through profit or loss ZBaBEcNBRZRE 247,507 303,740
Less: Interest capitalised B BEEREE AR — (5,896)
247,507 297,844
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5F (£8)

31st December, 2009 ZEFTNFF+=A=1+—H

8. DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EENEGESME

ENEEREEMS HBRBEEBEHAER
SHMBERRARESR EMAB( EWAE
Bl D) REBAREHE 161 EBBENT

Directors and supervisors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Group REH
2009 2008
—EENE —2TN\EF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Fees ik 386 386
Other emoluments: Hinpl < -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe EUHREDIE 6,976 4,773
Performance-related bonuses BRIREER A — —
Pension scheme contributions RIK & 5T B K 70 55
7,432 5,214
(a) Independent non-executive directors () BUFHITESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during FANTBILFATEENES A
the year were as follows: T
2009 2008
—EENEF —EENF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR TR AREFT
Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu RNE A4 120 120
Mr. Fang Zhongchang EREXAE 120 120
Mr. Koo Fook Sun BREyEE 146 146
386 386

FAYEABILFATESINE
e (T NF : &) -

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2008: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B RS R R P 5E (48)
31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+=A=1+—H
8. DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 8. ESBNEFIE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) MITESE - kH_TESRE
supervisors =
Salaries,
allowances Performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
#é -
BER RERBEER Bk E
ik BENRE Mt A STEER MesE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE AR®TR ARBTR ARETRT AR%T:

2009 —EENE
Executive directors: BITESE:
Mr. Tan Xuguang EB kL — 1,500 — 14 1,514
Mr. Xu Xinyu RMELEE — 1,305 — 14 1,319
Mr. Sun Shaojun BOERAE — 1,305 — 14 1,319
Mr. Zhang Quan RREE — 1,305 — 14 1,319
- 5,415 — 56 5,471
Non-executive director: FRTES
Ms. Zhang Fusheng RIRELL — 60 — — 60
Mr. Liu Huisheng kg — 60 — - 60
Mr. Yao Yu hFRE — 60 - — 60
Mr. Yeung Sai Hong B & - 60 — - 60
Mr. Chen Xugjian REM/ELE — 60 — — 60
Mr. Li San Yim FHARE — 60 — — 60
Mr. Julius G. Kiss Julius G. Kiss 7t 4 — 60 — — 60
Ms. Han Xiaoqun BBt — 60 — — 60
Mr. Gu Linsheng BRELE - 120 — — 120
Mr. Li Shihao T REE — 120 - — 120
Mr. Liu Zheng 2R £ — 120 — — 120
— 840 — — 840
Supervisors: B
Mr. Sun Chengping BAE L E — 60 — — 60
Mr. Ding Yingdong THREE — 601 — 14 615
Ms. Jiang Jianfang Brsut — 60 — — 60
— 721 — 14 735
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5F (£8)

31st December, 2009 ZEFTNFF+=A=1+—H

8. DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EBNESFIME (8)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and

(b) MITES FATESKE

supervisors (continued) = (&)
Salaries,
allowances  Performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
58
=304 BERH RIRE
ko ENflm ETEMEL o 214 5% Ak
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTR
2008 “EZENE
Executive directors: WiTEE:
Mr. Tan Xuguang BB EE - 1,000 — 11 1,011
Mr. Xu Xinyu BEEEE — 833 - 11 844
Mr. Sun Shaojun BOERE — 833 — 11 844
Mr. Zhang Quan KR EAE — 833 — 11 844
— 3,499 — 44 3,543
Non-executive director: FHTES
Ms. Zhang Fusheng R AE L L — 60 — — 60
Mr. Liu Huisheng Bl — 60 — - 60
Mr. Yao Yu thF K4 - 60 — - 60
Mr. Yeung Sai Hong Btk & — 60 — - 60
Mr. Chen Xuejian RE®RELE - 60 — — 60
Mr. Li San Yim THREE — 60 — — 60
Mr. Julius G. Kiss Julius G. Kiss 7 & — 60 — — 60
Ms. Han Xiaoqun BNELL — 60 — — 60
Mr. Gu Linsheng BWELE — 120 — — 120
Mr Li Shihao FHREE — 120 — - 120
Mr. Liu Zheng BIME L& — 120 — — 120
— 840 — — 840
Supervisors: o
Mr. Sun Chengping BAFLE — 60 — — 60
Mr. Ding Yingdong THOREE — 314 — 11 325
Ms. Jiang Jianfang BRrat - 60 — - 60
— 434 — 1 445

FAVTERESKEFTREXRAETN
EEAMEN L -

There was no arrangement under which a director or a
supervisor waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) Bt 15 3R R Bt 5E (48)
31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+=A=1+—H
9. Fi1VE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. hiuR=#FHES
The five highest paid employees during the year included one (2008: RERERN BEESHFEERE—R(Z
one) directors or supervisors, details of whose remuneration are set ZENF: —RB)EETREF B
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining HEE BN EXMF8N o FAERTH
four (2008: four) non-director and non-supervisor, highest paid Z(ZETNF HB)FEEMFES
employees for the year are as follows: MEmHEENMEeFBRT
Group
rEME
2009 2008
—ZEENE —ZTNF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARET T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe EUHREDI=E 7,247 5,309
Performance-related bonuses BERBEBENEL — =
Pension scheme contributions RIR & 5T S K 67 23
7,314 5,332
The number of non-director and non-supervisor, highest paid MEaENTRTIBENFESRIFEEER
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as SHEEMNAHAT :
follows:

Number of employees

EEAH
2009 2008
—ZEZTAE —EE)NF
Nil to HKD 1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 7T = =
HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T & 1,500,000 7% 7T 2
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T & 2,000,000 % 7T 2
4 4
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

10. INCOME TAx

The Company and all its subsidiaries that operate in Mainland China
are subject to the statutory corporate income tax rate of 25% (2008:
25%) for the year under the income tax rules and regulations of the
PRC, except that:

(1)

The Company and certain subsidiaries are subject a preferential
rate of 15% as they are assessed by relevant government
authorities as High and New Technology Enterprises (“HNTE")
for a period of three years commencing 1st January, 2008.
Pursuant to the PRC Income Tax Law, enterprises assessed as
"HNTE"” are entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15%;
and

Pursuant to Notice of the State Administration of Taxation
concerning the Opinions on the Implementation of the Relevant
Taxation Policies for the Western Development <« B 2% &t 7 42
REREEANRAREAATWHEABERERNBEH),
certain subsidiaries which are approved as domestic enterprises
engaged in the industries encouraged by the State in the
Western Region (FEHbmBE RS BEXZHAEDE) are
also subject to a preferential tax rate of 15%.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the
Group operates.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group
had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the year.

87§55 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)

10.

EFENGEF-A=+—A

— =

P 1S 5t
BTHARN  BREFERERERR
BT ADEREAEE B R R
b 1) BT 5 B 2 BB F 39 R $225% (=
BE\GF 25%) KOREB R MM E
A Bt :

() BRARRKETHBRQREHH
BFRETEASHEMAR ([
FHEMAA]D  MRZZTENEF
—A—HENZ=ZFHBEAN XQF
K& TH B A RIZ15%KE B X
B ERETE - BRERBIFSEH
o EFEAIBHEMARLA
PEARISHNEERH MW E
FTisfi « &

2 RECERHBRRWREEES
ARBEEMBMERABERE R
B BB AT E R R
SHMELONECE S ETHER
7 R4 15% ) B T B 4040 4 32
B -

R L fts I e 3 P8 ) B O Y 42
ARBEEFERR, AEEENET
PR H -

HRAEERFAERTBL EBRTA
B A BERTENSRHER -

2009 2008
—ETAEF AN
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR AR T T
Group: KREH :
Current — Mainland China BVES — AR B A i
Charge for the year FRNET IR 832,924 458,193
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBRERE (7,027) (2,214)
Current — Elsewhere VAl — HAfbih[=
Charge for the year FRNER 5,666 1,206
Deferred (note 25) BT (ffat25) (99,183) (128,196)
Total tax charge for the year FAHIEL H B 732,380 328,989
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

87 955 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)

EENFTZA=1+—H

10. PR iR (4&)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at
the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in which the
Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the
effective tax rates and a reconciliation of the statutory tax rates to

the effective tax rates is as follows:

AARBREMBRBRERK8E
IR 2R TE M R E 258 R B B A A
BeHERXY  EFERERRXGFEZ
BRSO EER - A REER X @ TR
BEMERDT -

Group — 2009 rEB ——ZBFHEF
Mainland China Elsewhere Total
B A i Hihith & =
RMB'000 % RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR¥T T AR®T T AR®T T
Profit before tax B 7 A1 B 4,699,740 (20,496) 4,679,244
Tax at the statutory tax rate HEAERENE 1,174,935  25.0 (5774) 282 1,169,161 25.0
ZTIE
Preferential tax rate or BEMRGER

concessions
Effect of tax rate change on REEBHIETHE

opening deferred tax iR =2
Adjustments in respect of ¥ DA HARR 2 BN HR

current tax of previous periods i 8 &) 38 &
Profits and losses attributable to & {5 — 5 £t A 422
a jointly-controlled entity and ~ B RB AN FE 2

(436,841) (9.3)

8,462 0.2

(7,027) 0.1)

_ — (436,841) (9.3)

= = 8,462 0.2

— — (7,027) 0.2)

associates FIH R &8 655 = (390) 1.9 265 —
Income not subject to tax BAZHF WA (20,560) (0.4) — — (20,560) (0.4)
Expenses not deductible for tax A~ A] #1 i f 52 20,569 0.4 8,428 (41.1) 28,997 0.6
Tax incentives on eligible EERASZ ZHE

expenditures BE (28,062) (0.6) = = (28,062) (0.6)
Tax losses utilised from previous 2 f LA 7+ HAfE 2

periods HIEEE (6,465) (0.1) = = (6,465) (0.1)
Tax losses not recognised RERZHIBEE 1,914 — 6,249 (30.5) 8,163 0.2
Deductible temporary differences 22 Al 17 &

not recognised, net I 2 8% 58 550 — 15,737 (76.8) 16,287 0.3
Tax charge at the Group's BAEEERH X

effective rate HE7MEYH 708,130 15.1 24,250 (118.3) 732,380 15.7
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

10.

11.

87 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EFAFF=A=+—H

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. PRISGHR (%8)
Group — 2008 AEE ——ZTENF
Mainland China Elsewhere Total
B A it H i & &5t
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % RMB’000 %
ARBTF T ARETTT AR®T T
Profit before tax R F B A1) 2,784,336 (43,638) 2,740,698
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEMETE
21\ 696,084 25.0 (5,749) 13.2 690,335 25.2
Preferential tax rate or BEREXER
concessions (287,167) (10.4) — — (287,167) (10.5)
Effect of tax rate change on it R = ) Y IR T
opening deferred tax MIEBHYZzZ2 (316) — — — (316) —
Adjustments in respect of 8 LA #R R 2 BN EA
current tax of previous periods %3 I8 ) 5 (2,214) (0.1) — — (2,214) (0.1)
Profits and losses attributable to & {5 — 2 3£ [A] 42 41
a jointly-controlled entity and ERBREE QA
associates 2 FE R EE 701 — 141 (0.3) 842 —
Income not subject to tax B AT A (6,786) (0.2) — — (6,786) (0.2)
Expenses not deductible for tax 7~ 8] #0154 B 52 14,011 0.5 8,704 (20.0) 22,715 0.8
Tax incentives on eligible AEBRAI 2B
expenditures B= (95,842) (3.4) = — (95,842) (3.5
Tax losses utilised from previous  f FA LA 7F ERf] 2
periods MIBEE (2,807) (0.1) = = (2,807) (0.1)
Tax losses not recognised RNEERZ HIAEE 10,532 0.4 — — 10,532 0.4
Deductible temporary differences 7 #&32 2 8] #1175 & A
not recognised, net EEFH (303) = = = (303) =
Tax charge at the Group's BAEEERH X
effective rate FFEZHIAH 325,893 11.7 3,096 (7.1) 328,989 12.0
The share of tax attributable to a jointly-controlled entity and —XERZEHEERBEEAREMGLZ
associates amounting to RMB578,000 (2008: RMB119,000) and HIE S Al B ARKS78,000T (ZEZF N
RMB272,000 (2008: RMB246,000), respectively, is included in “share F: AR®119,0007T) & A K% 272,000
of profits and losses of a jointly-controlled entity and associates” in T (ZZZ)\F : ARM246,0007T) @ I
the consolidated income statement. Bt AGZEREERANZ DG — HEEIE
flEEREE A EREIA -
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT 11. BB AEIGRIE

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent for the
year ended 31st December, 2009 includes a profit of
RMB2,828,588,000 (2008: RMB1,636,425,000) which has been dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company (note 37(b)).

BE _ZZNhF+_-_A=+—HILF
B BRal#EEARGEEFBEEEA
K #2,828,588,000T (ZZEZT)N\F : AR
#1,636,425,000 7T ) #) F B B A AN A &) Bt
BIRKR LR (B EE37(0)) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

87 955 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_A=+—H

12. DIVIDENDS 12. R 8
2009 2008
—BBhE —EBENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®F T
Proposed final — RMB0.48 (2008: RMB 0.13) #RAHRE — SR L EK
per ordinary share ARB048T (ZEEN
F: ARY¥0137T) 399,862 108,296
AFEEBMERBBRBEAFARABRER

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of
the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY

EQuiTYy HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, as adjusted to reflect the bonus issue during the year
ended 31st December, 2008.

No diluted earnings per share amounts have been presented for the
years ended 31st December, 2008 and 2009 as no diluting events
existed during these years.

13.

B BT 2R RBERE L4 -

BLrOSREDIKEAEGSE
iR Bl

BREABNSEIRET QA EBE
B2RAABREARFEMNEARFEAE
TEBRZMEFHEE  AERIE
REBEE-_FTENFT_A=+—HLLF
BZXBEHERAE -

HREBE_ZTZENFR_ZETALEF
TZA=+—BLEFERTHFEHES
- AT EREINZEFE 2 REE
BMEHE -

2009 2008
—EENEF AN
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR AR T T
Earnings 2 F
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders FRHEGRE KRR 2
of the Parent used in the basic earnings BRARE@EERFER A
per share calculation F& 15 F) 3,406,935 1,928,955
Shares iz 4
Weighted average number of ordinary shares R & GREREF 2
in issue during the year used in the basic FREBHTLTBERZ
earnings per share calculation hn#E 15 8 833,046 833,046

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD



NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

14, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

87 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EEAFI A=+ -8

14, ME ~ a8 K ek

Group E
Leasehold Computer
Construction improve- Plantand  equipment Motor Other
in progress Buildings ments  machinery and fixtures vehicles  equipment Total
HEWE HER EMRE
HEIR B %1 RfE REEHE AE HttRB At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR%Tn AR¥Tn AR%TR AR%Tn AR®TR AR%Tn AR%Tx
Cost BA
At 1st January, 2009 R=ZFEENF—A—H 691,521 2,182,859 27,574 6,250,799 216,380 251,286 19,950 9,640,369
Additions hE 1,494,771 5,935 7,135 164,726 13,196 19,050 22,163 1,726,976
Business combination EAH
(note 38) (Hiz#38) - 62,237 — 14,882 — 614 5,988 83,721
Contribution from a minority > &% R
shareholder & 31,092 122,942 — 108,498 285 7,948 1,032 271,797
Transfers B (1,403,186) 447,151 — 914,376 35,803 5,643 213 —
Disposals & s (14,258) = (48,015) (12,401) (8,692) (4,681) (88,047)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-—RMBAA
(note 39) (Hiz#39) - (25,971) — (51,901) (1,514) (1,899) - (81,285)
Exchange realignment EHAE - (419) — (1,359) (51) (15) - (1,844)
At 31st December, 2009 R-ZTHNE
+=-A=+—~H 814,198 2,780,476 34,709 7,352,006 251,698 273,935 44,665 11,551,687
Accumulated depreciation it E RAE
and impairment
At 1st January, 2009 RZEENGF—A—H 3,801 238,902 10,687 2,231,637 104,579 119,397 10,413 2,719,416
Business combination ERAH
(note 38) (Hiat38) - 2,282 — 1,533 - 38 460 4,313
Depreciation provided FRFRZINE
during the year — 97,413 3,092 669,950 64,012 29,194 10,372 874,033
Impairment HE — — - — - - — -
Disposals HeE — (4,175) — (31,144) (10,133) (5,495) (1,921) (52,868)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-—RKBRA
(note 39) (Hf##39) - (6,076) — (26,266) (958) (1,245) - (34,545)
Exchange realignment I 5 AR — 416 — 1,087 17 7 — 1,527
At 31st December, 2009 RZZThE
+-A=+—H 3,801 328,762 13,779 2,846,797 157,517 141,896 19,324 3,511,876
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31st December, 2009 NR-ZETHE
+=-A=+—-~H 810,397 2,451,714 20,930 4,505,209 94,181 132,039 25,341 8,039,811
At 1st January, 2009 R-ZZZhE—A—H 687,720 1,943,957 16,887 4,019,162 111,801 131,889 9,537 6,920,953
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

14, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)

—FFAFF=ASt—H

14, M%E ~ B Mkt (78)

Group &
Leasehold Computer
Construction improve- Plantand  equipment Motor Other
in progress Buildings ments machinery  and fixtures vehicles  equipment Total
HEME BRRE
ERIR BF R HIRKE RETRE B Hfth 3% A&t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARETT ARBTT ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARET:T
Cost A
At 1st January, 2008 RZZENE—-A—H 453,090 1,777,708 25,578 5,008,059 162,539 214,087 18,823 7,659,884
Additions NE 1,569,982 93,848 1,996 260,141 11,124 13,733 3,420 1,954,244
Assets no longer classified as T EREARZELE
disposal group held for ZHERRIMEE
sale - 27,757 = 72,437 2,232 17,378 — 119,804
Transfers B (1,331,551) 304,196 = 959,305 47,780 19,589 681 —
Disposals & — (18,864) = (44,482) (7,151) (12,383) (2,974) (85,854)
Exchange realignment ER A% — (1,786) — (4,661) (144) (1,118) — (7,709)
At 31st December, 2008 RZZZN\F
+-A=+—AH 691,521 2,182,859 27,574 6,250,799 216,380 251,286 19,950 9,640,369
Accumulated depreciation ~ Z it E R E
and impairment
At 1st January, 2008 RZZEN\F—A—H 3,738 163,719 8,033 1,581,973 70,542 88,521 5,774 1,922,300
Depreciation provided FRGRZME
during the year — 78,221 2,654 608,734 38,649 23,480 5,518 757,256
Impairment WA 63 — — 25,317 — — — 25,380
Assets no longer classified as THREABZELE
disposal group held for ZHERFINEE
sale — — — 46,896 656 17,378 — 64,930
Disposals e — (3,038) = (28,266) (5,226) (8,864) (879) (46,273)
Exchange realignment [N AR — — — (3,017) (42) (1,118) — (4,177)
At 31st December, 2008 RZZBN\EF
+ZA=+—-H 3,801 238,902 10,687 2,231,637 104,579 119,397 10,413 2,719,416
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31st December, 2008 RZEZNF
+=-A=+—~H 687,720 1,943,957 16,887 4,019,162 111,801 131,889 9,537 6,920,953
At 1st January, 2008 RZZFENF—-A—H 449,352 1,613,989 17,545 3,426,086 91,997 125,566 13,049 5,737,584

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)

31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+A=1+—H
14, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 14, ¥k - kB RzRE (E)
Company LN
Leasehold Computer
Construction improve- Plantand  equipment Motor Other
in progress Buildings ments  machinery and fixtures vehicles  equipment Total
HEWE KER BEREBER
ERIR BF %% R EEXE AE Ht R At

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTR AR%TR ARWTR ARMTR AR®TR AR%Tn AR®Tx

Cost KA
At 1st January, 2009 R=ZZENE—A—A 161,116 1,008,605 - 1,101,363 189,879 82,957 8,958 2,552,878
Additions NE 705,315 — - 11,586 3,623 2,346 2,618 725,488
Transfers BE (367,347) 164,949 = 169,550 30,898 1,950 = =
Disposals HE - - — (2,456) (1,550) (2,755) - (6,761)
At 31st December, 2009 RZETNFE+=A
E=F 499,084 1,173,554 - 1,280,043 222,850 84,498 11,576 3,271,605
Accumulated depreciation 2T ERAE
and impairment
At 1st January, 2009 R=FEENF—A—A - 115,459 - 497,258 86,949 43,932 5,787 749,385
Depreciation provided FRFRZINE
during the year - 53,257 — 139,676 39,164 12,172 5,247 249,516
Disposals HeE = = = (1,409) (1,389) (1,933) — (,731)
At 31st December, 2009 RZETNF+=A
=t—H - 168,716 - 635,525 124,724 54,171 11,034 994,170
Net carrying amount REHE
At 31st December, 2009 RZETNFE+ZA
E+=F 499,084 1,004,838 - 644,518 98,126 30,327 542 2,277,435
At 1st January, 2009 RZZFENF-A—H 161,116 893,146 - 604,105 102,930 39,025 317 1,803,493
Company
Leasehold Computer
Construction improve- Plantand  equipment Motor Other
in progress Buildings ments machinery  and fixtures vehicles  equipment Total
EREIE BF % R ETEE RE ERA At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTE ARETT ARBTT ARBTRT ARETT ARETn ARSTT ARETR
Cost AR
At 1st January, 2008 R=ZEZENF—-A—-H 230,447 878,624 - 1,645,562 173,774 95,114 9,158 3,032,679
Additions NE 256,946 = = 1,836 707 5,507 — 264,996
Transfers s (326,277) 129,981 = 161,142 25,457 9,697 — —
Disposals & — = — (707,177) (10,059) (27,361) (200) (744,797)
At 31st December, 2008 RZZEENF+ZA
== 161,116 1,008,605 = 1,101,363 189,879 82,957 8,958 2,552,878

Accumulated depreciation it E RAE
and impairment

At 1st January, 2008 R=FTN\F-A—H — 71,575 — 414,353 76,174 41,249 3,513 606,864
Depreciation provided during 4 RAzHiE 2 T & &5
the year - 43,884 = 199,037 15,318 15,831 2,274 276,344
Disposals HE — — — (116,132) (4,543) (13,148) — (133,823)
At 31st December, 2008 RZZENF+ZA
== - 115,459 - 497,258 86,949 43,932 5,787 749,385
Net carrying amount HRE A

At 31st December, 2008 RZZETNE+=A
=+—H 161,116 893,146 = 604,105 102,930 39,025 3171 1,803,493

At 1st January, 2008 RZZEEN\F-A—H 230,447 807,049 = 1,231,209 97,600 53,865 5,645 2,425,815
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WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

14, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

As at 31st December, 2009, certain buildings, machinery and motor
vehicles of the Group with net book value of approximately
RMB88,273,000 (2008: RMB81,833,000) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 34).

The Group was in the process of applying for the real estate
certificates for the aforesaid buildings with a gross area of
approximately 385,000 square meters and a net book value of
approximately RMB1,022,175,000 as at 31st December, 2009.

As at 31st December, 2009, the Group had not obtained the real
estate certificates for buildings with a total gross area of
approximately 541,000 square meters (2008: 398,000 square meters)
and a net book value of RMB1,256,392,000 (2008: RMB894,987,000).

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_HA=+—H

R - B ekt (58)

RZZFETEhARF+ZA=1+—8B ' &x5H
B 38R [ OF B 4 A K % 88,273,000 7T
(ZZEZENF : AR¥81,833,0007T) 2
HETEFT EERAE UEAXEE
BR—MBITEEOER (ME34) -

RZZTEAF+ZA=1+—8 ' x5H
1E 7£ 5k b 3t 48 T 78 #9385,000 F 77 K & Bk
FE 4 A R #1,022,175,000 T 2 1 F
HERER -

R_ZEEhAhF+_A=1+—8 ~&H
AR B AAEIELS541,000F 5K (ZEE
JUEE 398,000 F 5 3K) RERE /FE A A
R #1,256,392,000ic (ZZEZNF : AR
#894,987,0007T) 2 BFIMEFEF °

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. ImEMFE
2009 2008
—EENE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR T
Carrying amount at 1st January R—A—BZEAE 80,663 32,333
Additions NE 7,638 50,606
Disposals HeE (1,028) —
Depreciation provided during the year FRFHIRZITE (3,605) (2,276)
Carrying amount at 31st December Rt+t-—A=+—HZEHEE 83,668 80,663
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The Group's investment properties are situated in Mainland China
and are held under short term leases.

The investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over their useful lives.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are as

follows:
Location Use
B A&

Industrial & Office Building
ITERPRERETF

Jinwei Industrial Park, Economic
Technique & Development District,
Xi‘an

ALKERMAZERLSEIER

No. 39, North Xinfu Road, Xi‘an
78 % 2 18 4k B 39 5%

East Yuanbaopin Road, Tianjin

REMAHEFRERA

Industrial Building
TERT

Industrial Building
THRF

87 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EFAFF=AS+—H

15. REME (18)

REBWRE Y EMR BB AL RIE

RRHEANRE -

BREMEDNEREZRATERFRFE

wE-

AEERENEZE-SFHFBET

Tenure

4

Short term

% 5

Short term

% 5

Short term

2 5

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 iR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

87 955 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_A=+—H

16. FAfT T 3th il EFRIA

Group Company
rEE AAH
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEANE ZEZENFE ZEBEAEFE ZEZENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTRT AR®BTR AR%®Tx
Carrying amount at R—A—BZEEE
1st January 298,241 317,295 115,878 130,486
Addition NE 206,293 445 185,347 —
Business combination KA
(note 38) (Mt 7F38) 5,411 — — —
Contribution from a DEAR R &
minority shareholder 93,520 = — =
Transfer to a subsidiary EERE—HNE QA — — — (11,871)
Recognised during the year 4 N &R (11,441) (19,499) (5.672) (2,737)
Carrying amount at R+=—A=+—H
31st December ZBREE 592,024 298,241 295,553 115,878
Current portion B ER &6 15 (14,455) (19,671) (6,402) (2,240
Non-current portion FE BN EA =B 15 577,569 278,570 289,151 113,638

The leasehold land is held under a long term lease and is situated in
Mainland China.

As at 31st December, 2009, certain leasehold land of the Group with
a net book value of approximately RMB85,724,000 (2008:
RMB69,024,000) was pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 34).

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD

HE TR T EAN  LRIERS
HEAHNRE -

R-ZBEHE+-_A=+—0 A£H
B AR MEFE N AR K85,724,000 7T
—ZTT)N\F: AR #69,024,0005T) 2
HETHELH  UIEARNEEER —K
IRITEERNER (E34) °



31st December, 2009
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

87 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EEAFI A=+ -8

17. GOODWILL 17. BE
2009 2008
—gENE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR T T
Cost and carrying amount R—B—BEk+=A
At 1st January and 31st December =+ —HZERAREAE
of the year 538,016 538,016
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31st December, 2009 and 2008 RZZEZNFR_ZZNF+ A
was related to the following cash generating units: =+—HB AEREEILHETIRGE
EEBAAR
2009 2008
—EEAE —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Automobile and other major automobile REREMEEREZ G
components 538,016 538,016

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are detailed in

note 19.

FRAEERERNRZFEBERRME9-
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31st December, 2009

e

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

87 955 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)

—E=EE

= =

NF+ZHAH=+—H

18. Hfh @& =E

Group rRHE
Trademarks Technologies Total
[k it &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR¥ T AR TR
(note i) (note ii)
(Bt &) (Bt &Eii)
31st December, 2009 —EEAE+=—_A=1+—8
Cost at 1st January, 2009, net R—EZEAE—F—B 2
of accumulated amortisation XA (B % 25 203,089 68,638 271,727
Additions NE — 29,409 29,409
Contribution from a minority > # AR E H &
shareholder 7,500 9,060 16,560
Amortisation provided during £ R 5T 12 2 # 8
the year — (15,325) (15,325)
At 31st December, 2009 RZZEZTNEF
== 210,589 91,782 302,371
At 31st December, 2009: RZZEZNF
==t
Cost [N 220,961 408,602 629,563
Accumulated amortisation 2 =1 8 3 (10,372) (316,820) (327,192)
Net carrying amount BR B 210,589 91,782 302,371
31st December, 2008 —EENF+_A=+—H
Cost at 1st January, 2008, net R—ZEZTN\F—H—HZ
of accumulated amortisation XA (2% 25T #84) 203,089 78,353 281,442
Additions NE — 5,888 5,888
Amortisation provided during £ N 5T 12 2 # 8
the year — (15,603) (15,603)
At 31st December, 2008 R-ZEBEENFE+=A
=+—H 203,089 68,638 271,727
At 31st December, 2008: RZZEZNF+=A
==
Cost [N 213,461 370,133 583,594
Accumulated amortisation i (10,372) (301,495) (311,867)
Net carrying amount BR DB 203,089 68,638 271,727
WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

87§55 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)

—EEE

= =

NF+ZHA=+—H

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 18. Hih B, & & (88)
Company ENN
Trademarks Technologies Total
w8 # 2t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT AR T AR®T
31st December, 2009 —EEANFE+-_A=+—8
Cost at 1st January, 2009, net R-_TZZHFE—A—HBZ
of accumulated amortisation A (B Rat#y) 108,892 584 109,476
Additions NE — 2 2
Amortisation provided during £ A ET4E 2 # 4%
the year — — —
At 31st December, 2009 R_ZTZANFE+_HA
=+—H 108,892 586 109,478
At 31st December, 2009: R-_ZEZTANFE+_A
== s
Cost (DN 119,264 21,764 141,028
Accumulated amortisation R T # 8 (10,372) (21,178) (31,550)
Net carrying amount BR 108,892 586 109,478
31st December, 2008 —EENF+ZA=+—H
Cost at 1st January, 2008, RZEZENF—A—HZ
net of accumulated B (BB REt )
amortisation 108,892 — 108,892
Additions NE — 584 584
Amortisation provided during 4 A58 2 #
the year — — —
At 31st December, 2008 RZZEZENE+ZA
=+—H 108,892 584 109,476
At 31st December, 2008: R-ZZTZEN\FE+_H8
=+—8:
Cost (BN 119,264 21,762 141,026
Accumulated amortisation 25t 5 (10,372) (21,178) (31,550)
Net carrying amount BREDF(E 108,892 584 109,476

Notes: HtaE -

) The trademarks are renewable every 10 years at minimal cost. The directors (i) BIEG+FAEKSREBEKRAEE— K - AR
of the Company are of the opinion that the Group has both the intention AEFRR AEBEEEABENTEE
and ability to renew the trademarks continuously. As a result, the useful life EZERIE B ZERIER A KA RZE
of the trademarks is considered by the management of the Group as FEELRS R AFE B F5EE
indefinite because the trademarks are expected to contribute to the Group’s BEERARZERIZEHBKAREHRFER -
net cash inflows indefinitely. The trademarks will not be amortised until their BRIZERFENAEAFHEETERE
useful life is determined to be finite. Instead the trademarks will be tested R BRITEETEHYE HR  BESE
for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that they may HEREGEFI KT 17 &0 B E TR
be impaired. Particulars of the impairment testing are disclosed in note 19. BRI o BB F ERAT 1947 78 -

(i) Technologies represented manufacturing know-how, which have definite (i) KT 15 5 5 IR 7] (& F7 F B 2 B & Bl -

useful lives. These technologies are amortised on a straight-line basis over 8
to 10 years.

RERMIIAEEESE10F B -
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WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

e

NOoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

19. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND

TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL LIVES

As explained in note 4, the Group is organised into business units
based on their products and services. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives have
been allocated to two individual cash generating units as below
(CGUs), including manufacturing and sale of diesel engines and
related parts (“CGU A”) and automobile and major automobile
components other than diesel engines (“CGU B"”). The carrying
amounts of goodwill and trademarks (net of accumulated impairment
losses) as at 31st December, 2009 allocated to these units are as
follows:

87 55 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EFAFF=ASt—H

19,

HMBEKAOFTHFHZ BE
R R 3 17 R (B 8 5t

MM AR AEERBEEER R
RISEI D BEIEN - BT E/TRENR
HCBEBXKANFEAFH AEREE
ESPRTREBLNESELEN &
FEERBEEHE BB 4 (138
SEEBEMAD ARARE KBRS
IHMEZAREERH((REELEEN
B c R=ZZTEZTNE+=-_A=+—8"
ENRE%SFEMNAERPEREE
(B REHRERSE) T ¢

Goodwill Trademarks
ma [EE

2008 2009 2008
—EEARE ZEBETENFE ZETAF ZZTTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT AR®BTRT AR%®ET
CGU A HWEeEEBEMNA — 116,392 108,892
CGU B HWeEEENB 538,016 538,016 94,197 94,197
538,016 538,016 210,589 203,089

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and their
major underlying assumptions are summarised below:

CGU A

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a
five-year period, and a discount rate of 14.4% (2008: 10%). CGU A’s
cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated with no growth
rate for both years. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which
include budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation is based on
the unit’s past performance and management’s expectations for the
market development.

HMEDNRMDERLT

LR EELAEUZANESEAER
ERETZEBEREHERDT

HEEELEENA

BNz BB IREFEHREE
HEEERE mitEERABEeREEA
(BREEEEMEZSFHUREE) &
144% (ZZFF)\F : 10%) < B R =
BT -REeELENMANSFHBEEZ
REREBFNERNZMEFEELER
ZBREFE -FREBEFEECHEME
ERLEBSRA L Z2EAN(RE
TEEHEREREN) B ZFEAD
BEZEMNZBAREREEEHMS
BRBHMETE -



NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

19. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND
TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL LIVES
(CONTINUED)

CGU B

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a
five-year period, and discount rate of 11.6% (2008: 14%). CGU B’s
cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated with no growth
for both years. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which
include budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation is based on
the unit's past performance and management’s expectations for the
market development.

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted investments, at cost ELEMEE - KRE

87 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EFAFF=A=+—H

19. HMEKXIERFHZHE

KR &7 E R (58)

HEeEEENB

B 2B B HIREEREE
HEEEE %itEERABEeREEA
(REEEEMEZSFRYRBEE) &
M6%(ZZTZT/\NF : 14%) 2B IR =M
BEr BeELBEMBRSEHEEZE
EREBRANERZMEFEEERZ
BREEE - HeELESMN BRSFHME
ZBREMETEET T ER Z W EFE &L
RZBREFE - FREBFEEZCEM
FTERJFEFRSRARHZEA(E
EHREEEELREN) EH - ZFEA
DRBEZEMZBARELEERESM
GEREHMEE °

20. KRB RO 2 RE

2009 2008
—EERE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT R ARET
4,432,812 4,002,382
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

£

Weichai Power (Weifang) Spare
Part Resources Co., Ltd.

HEBN (BT BERERERAF

Weichai Power (Weifang) Oil Co., Ltd.
HESE) ) C51) hm AR A A]

Weichai Power (Weifang) Intensive

Logistics Co., Ltd.

BB (4 EHERERA

Weichai Power (Weifang) Casting

Co., Ltd.

5 §b77 (#3)BRERA
Weichai Power (Weifang)
Reconstruction Co., Ltd.

) (45) BREERA

Shaanxi Heavy-Duty-Automotive

Co., Ltd.
Bﬁéﬁi’*” REERA

Tianjin Tiangua Automotive Co., Ltd.

AEMAHERER A

Tianjin Xinming Automotive
Commercial Co., Ltd.

AEFANEBEARAA

Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd.
REZEEBERADA

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations
SR LR
i B B

PRC
3

PRC

P E

PRC
ki

PRC
ki

PRC
ki

PRC
ki

PRC
;3

PRC
E

PRC
R

KB NRMBERR

Registered
capital

o i B A
(in"000)
(A F 7st)

RMB89,796
AE#89,79%

RMB10,000
AR % 10,000

RMB20,000
AR 20,000

RMB20,000
AR 20,000

RMB30,000
AR 30,000

RMB1,706,330
A E#1,706,330

RMB11,760
AR#11,760

RMB1,000
AR 1,000

RMB320,000
AR #320,000

Bl 5 ¥k R B 5 (78)
—FFAFF+-_A=1+—H

20. RIfE RSB 2 RE (§&)
TEMBARZHFEMT :

Percentage of equity
attributable to
the Company
AN R EAERA
BAL
Direct Indirect Principal activities

EERE RBEEF ZEXEK

100.00% — Manufacture and trading
of diesel engine and
related spare parts

EERBEEEAER
HE 1¢

100.00% — Trading of lubricant oil
products

BERBHEM

52.00% — Provision of warehouse
management services

REREEERS

100.00% — Manufacture and trading
of cast products
HFEREEREEM
100.00% — Reconstruction of

automotive components

BRERETHM

51.00% — Manufacture and trading
of heavy duty trucks
and related automotive
components

KERBEEERNRER
HERBE T

— 26.01% Manufacture and sale
of trailers and tractors

EERHERERBURK

— 26.01% Trading of automotive
components

BEAETHMN

3.06% 47.94% Manufacture and sale
of motor vehicles and
related automotive
components

EEHEEREREHA
/"L$ HMEF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)

31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+ZA=4+—H

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 20. NMIBRE 2IRE (£8)

Percentage of equity
attributable to

Place of the Company
incorporation/ QA EAERS
registration and Registered ARk
Name operations capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
ML
=L i B 3 2 aftlkA HERE HESE FTEXR
(in "000)
(AF mat)
Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd. PRC RMB35,360 — 50.87% Manufacture and trading of
REeRBEERAA H A R # 35,360 cast product
FEREEREER
Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automotive PRC RMB10,000 — 51.00% Provision of import and
Import & Export Co., Ltd. H AR 10,000 export services
RESHRTEEHAFRDA AL O RS
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. PRC RMB256,790 51.00% — Manufacture and trading of
REZTHEEGRERETAH H AR # 256,790 automotive components
HERBEREAETEHH
Baoji Fast Gear Co., Ltd. PRC RMB30,000 2.55% 48.45% Manufacture and trading
BEETREREREEAA H A R # 30,000 of gear and related
automotive components
EENEEGR XM
METE M
Xi'an Fast Auto Drive Co., Ltd. PRC RMB134,700 — 51.00% Trading of motor vehicles
ARELHAREEHERAA H AR # 134,700 and related automotive
components
EEAERMERAE
TEMH
Shaanxi Fast Gear Sales Co., Ltd. PRC RMB1,000 — 51.00% Trading of automotive
REELFEREEFRD A B AR#1,000 components
BEEAETHMH
Shaanxi Fast Gear Spare Parts Import PRC RMB3,000 — 51.00% Provision of import and
& Export Co., Ltd. e AR #3,000 export services
BREE TR IET AP O R A RS
BRAA
Zhuzhou Gear Co., Ltd. PRC RMB131,315 66.02% — Trading of motor vehicles
HWNEREREERA H AR#131,315 and related automotive
components
BEEAEREBAE
T
Zhuzhou Wande Forging Co., Ltd. PRC RMB5,000 — 66.02% Manufacture and sale of
HKNEEBRERAEEAA Y AR 5,000 motor vehicles and

related automotor

components
EEHERERIEH

RET
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WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

31st December, 2009

e\

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Name operations
F Ak S5
% B R E X
Zhuzhou Euro Grace Gear Automotive PRC
Transmission Co., Ltd. A
WHB R IR EBROERA A
Dongfeng Off-road Vehicle Co., Ltd. PRC
RESHEFRAA H
Shiyan Amor Coating Technology PRC
Co., Ltd. =)
TETRFZ2BRMERA A
Zhuzhou Torch Sparkplugs Co., Ltd. PRC
WM EXEEEREEADA B
MAT Automotive Inc. USA
ESE
Torch Import & Export Co., Ltd. PRC
JER N EREERT Gl
Zhuzhou Torch Machinery PRC
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. il
WM N B EERREER A
Zhuzhou Torch Property Development PRC
Co., Ltd. A
WNAEREMEREBRFER A
Zhuzhou Torch Auto Sealing Co., Ltd. PRC
WHRNERERHEREERA H
Zhuzhou Torch Auto Lighting Co., Ltd. PRC
WHHRANEREREBREERA H

MEDNRMDERLT

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Registered
capital

AT
(in "000)
(U F 7 st)

RMB50,000
A K #50,000

RMB155,000
AR #155,000

RMB2,200
AR 2,200

RMB176,000
AR %176,000

UsSD131
FE 131

RMB181,000
AR 181,000

RMB142,263
AE#142,263

RMB13,120
AR13,120

RMB20,420
AR 20,420

RMB31,000
AR 31,000

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)

—EFAFF=ASt—H

20. B LB 2RE (&)

Percentage of equity
attributable to
the Company

ARAREMERE
B

Direct Indirect
EEEE RBERESF
— 59.42%
60.00% =
— 60.00%
100.00% —
100.00% =
98.34% 1.66%
100.00% —
94.66% 5.34%
100.00% —
100.00% =

Principal activities

Trading of automotive
components
BEEAETHMH

Manufacture and trading
of vehicles and related
automotive components

HEREBEAERIAH
AETHH

Coating and sale of
automotive components

BENTRHEERE
THH

Manufacture and trading
of spark plugs
HERBEENEE

Import and sale of
automotive components

EOREERNETHM

Provision of import and
export services

RAUE L O RS

Trading of automotive
component
BEEARETHMH

Provision of property
development

IR i 5 3 RS

Trading of automotive
components
BEEAETHMH

Trading of automotive
components
BEERETHM
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)

31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+ZA=4+—H

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 20. NMIBRE 2IRE (£8)

Percentage of equity
attributable to

Place of
incorporation/ the Company
registration and Registered FRARBEREED L
Name operations capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
ML B
28 B R R AftRA EHEEE HERE IEXH
(in"000)
(A F wat)
Mudan Jiang Futong Automotive PRC RMB118,165 61.30% — Manufacture and trading
Air Conditioner Company Limited H AR 118,165 of automotive
HAIERAEZRAERAA components
EEREREAREZHMH
Xinjiang Machinery Equipment Import PRC RMB20,000  100.00% —  Provision of export and
& Export Co., Ltd. e AR #20,000 import services
MEEMEEELOBRAA R O RS
Shanghai He Da Auto Accessory PRC Usb4,248 75.00% — Trading of automotive
Co., Ltd. i % 14,248 components
FEMESERGERAA BEERETHMH
Weichai Power (Shanghai) Technology PRC RMB300,000 100.00% — Investment
Development Co., Ltd. H A K 300,000 RE
HBEBHN(EB)RRERFRDA
Weichai Power Yangzhou Diesel PRC RMB300,000 — 80.00% Manufacture and trading
Engine Co., Ltd. H A R #300,000 of diesel engine and
HEBNHEMNEREREREEAA related spare parts
HEERBEEEAER
18 A 1 1
Weichai Power (Chongging) Western PRC RMB100,000  100.00% — Development and
Development Co., Ltd. H AR #100,000 management of
HEBN(BEE)ABERERAR industrialization of high
and new technology
products, investment
and management
consulting service
BRRMERNEREL
RERER REK
BB AR
Chongging lialing Chuanjiang Vehicles PRC RMB80,000 — 80.00% Manufacture and trading
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. A AR 180,000 of automobiles and
EEMERIIAEEERRAA related automotive
components
EEREERERIAH
RETHH
Weichai Power (Hong Kong) Hong Kong USD13,675 100.00% — Investment
International Development Co., Ltd. B8 %7013,675 RE
HEGN (BB BRERERAR
Siciété International des France EUR5,000 — 100.00% Manufacture and trading
Moteurs Baudouin % B B{ 75,000 of diesel engines
=B AL 28 ) Bl BR A A HEEREE ST
Shandong Synergy Oil Co., Ltd. PRC Usb3,000 46.00% 2.60% Trading of spare parts
WERECE M mA R D A B % 73,000 BEEHMN
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)

—EFAFF=ASt—H

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

21. INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY

20. B LB 2RE (&)

EXRBIEFRR/EAEEAFRRA
FEZFEIRAGEHEEFETEMA
RO ARRMBAGR - EFRA
REEMHBARAFBEEEREMBER
T e

21. R—REARQZHERCRE

Group Company
AEE ¥ NN

2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENEF —ETNF —ZENF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ T AR T T AR® T AREF T
Unlisted shares, at cost EEmkG, - RRE — — 20,409 20,409
Share of net assets BIEEEFE 8,615 6,272 — —
Goodwill on acquisition WEEEA 22 14,660 14,660 — —
23,275 20,932 20,409 20,409

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entity are as follows:

Name

=%

Weifang Weichai Peterson
Gas Diesel Engines
Co., Ltd.

HEVT R R R AR
ERAA

KRBARRZABEMT :

Percentage of

The above investment in a jointly-controlled entity is directly held by

the Company.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

MEDNRMDERLT

Paid up Place of B
registered incorporation/ Ownership Voting Profit
capital registration interest power sharing Principal activities
EMRIL,
SR = R A AR EEEESR REE RNEIE FEXEK

(in '000)

(A Fmat)
usD927 PRC 50% 50% 50% Manufacture
%7927 H and sale of gas

refrigerator

TERHERE

SA
2R

FlRR-—RARZEHEBZRETIHEA
REEEFA °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

21. INVESTMENT IN A JOIN
(CONTINUED)

The following table illustrates

TLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY

the summarised financial information

87 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EEAFI A=+ -8

21 R—RHACZH S8

(%&)

TRITASERREHER MK E

o

Z%&

of the Group’s jointly-controlled entity: KR E -
2009 2008
—EEREF —ZEE)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR F T
Share of the jointly-controlled entity’s EEERESEECEER
assets and liabilities: afE:
Current assets BB E 35,775 20,184
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,046 671
Current liabilities mEEE (30,206) (14,583)
Net assets BEZE 8,615 6,272
Share of the jointly-controlled EERERER 2 %A
entity’s results:
Revenue WA 64,814 12,817
Other income H b Yz A — 276
64,814 13,093
Total expenses X B (61,893) (12,451)
Income tax expense Fr 45t 2 | (578) (119
Profit after tax & %5 12 F B 2,343 523
A AN— 2=
22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. RBFERSI K&
Group Company
rEE AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENE e AN ZEBEENF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AR T AR T AREF T
Unlisted shares, at cost FEETRGD  REE — — 49,461 52,545
Share of net assets FEHEEFEE 172,844 183,493 — —
172,844 183,493 49,461 52,545
Provision for impairment Rl (B B R (285) (3,721) — —
172,559 179,772 49,461 52,545
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows:

Name

=1

Shanghai Xinlian Chuangye Investment Co., Ltd.

LBEBAXRERRAF

Shaanxi Eurostar Auto Co., Ltd.
PRABE AT ERD AR A A

Shaanxi Tonghui Automotive Transportation
Co., Ltd.
REBESENRERRA A

Xian Cummics Engine Co., Ltd.

AZRAHEDRER DA

CIMC-SHAC (Xi'an) Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.

PERAER(AR)EREFRAA

Laizhou Luyuan Automotive Fitting Co., Ltd.
EMNBRABRMHERRAF

Dalian Hongyuan Machinery Manufacturing
Co., Ltd.
REBREREEETR QA

MEDNRMDERLT

Paid-up
registered
capital
R

&t it iR A
(in '000)
(AT 7T 3t)

RMB150,000
A K #150,000

RMB114,954
AR 114,954

RMB10,000
A K #10,000

uUSD24,000
3% 75.24,000

RMB50,000
A R #50,000

RMB37,930
AR #37,930

USD13,280
% 71.13,280

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_HA=+—H

22 .

Place of
incorporation/
registration
AL,

o 3t 2

RBEE T 2RE (&)

TEMERBZFHBET :

Percentage of
ownership
attributable
to the group
AEEEN
BEEBESL

33.33%

16.86%

20.40%

12.75%

12.75%

25.00%

41.40%

Principal activities

TEER

Investment holding company

BRABBRA R

Manufacture and sale of
vehicle chassis and
products

EERHEAERER

BREmM

Manufacture and sale of
vehicle chassis and
products

EERBEERERER
EIEE M

Manufacture and sale of
diesel motors and
spare parts

EEREER BB REN

Manufacture and sale of
special car trailers and
spare parts

EERHEEREHER
=kis

Manufacture and sale of
vehicle chassis and
products

EERHEERERSER
BERBEM

Trading of automotive

components
BEERETHM



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

22.

25,

87§55 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
TTENGF+=-A=1+—H

T=FEE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 22. REER 2RE (18)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information TRIAESEBE A EEE QB MR
of the Group's associates extracted from their financial statements: R BEEREE -
2009 2008
—EEAE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R AR T T
Assets BE 1,299,336 1,077,203
Liabilities = 742,501 565,109
Revenue WA 766,444 863,023
Loss &8 (26,993) (21,636)
AVATLABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 23. O itHEKRSE
Group Company
r5EE PN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENE —EE)N\F —EEAE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB TR ARETFT ARBT R ARBTF T
Listed equity investments, ETRAEZE
at fair value: B AFE :
Mainland China AR B A 385,997 96,742 381,000 96,200
Unlisted equity investments — FE E IR A& & 91,433 81,445 — =
477,430 178,187 381,000 96,200
During the year, the gross gain in respect of the Group’s available- AEE  REMEEKRAERNEAKSE
for-sale investments recognised in other comprehensive income ErfMEEREFMMAKRR LT AR

amounted to RMB289,255,000 (2008: RMB97,800,000).

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. As at 31st December, 2008, listed available-for-sale
equity investments of RMB96,200,000 were restricted for trading
over certain periods of less than six months. The listed available-
for-sale equity investments as at 31st December, 2009 were not
restricted for trading.

The above unlisted investments represent investments in unlisted
equity securities issued by private entities established in the PRC. As
at 31st December, 2009, certain unlisted available-for-sale equity
investments with a carrying amount of RMB91,433,000 (2008:
RMB81,445,000) were stated at cost less impairment because the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the
directors are of the opinion that their fair value cannot be measured
reliably. The Group does not intend to dispose of them in the near
future.

%B&mem(_ﬁfﬂirAE%
97,800,0007T,) ©

LmBRARAEHA IFTEE&%HE‘EFDE

T#ﬁ%h$&§AE%%mww
ELRABEANE THERELE
e R =ZEENFF+A=+—HHA
Mﬁﬁtﬁmﬁhélﬁﬁﬂff

mma

i3 ETHIR B R R E R B A A FLE
ERETHELTEESF2RE - &
RESGEBEATFTEMNGHAEEBEAN  mME
ERBEXUSZFEEATE R
—ZEENF+_A=+—H EAEA
AR#91,433 000 (ZEZENF : AR
#81,445,00070) 2 & TIE MA@ EE
BMARERKARERENE - A£EH
BERTAZREELE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

24, DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY,

25.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At the end of reporting period, the amount represented deposits paid
to certain vendors for the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment. Details of the related capital commitments are set out in

note 43.

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

are as follows:

Bt 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EFAFF=ASt—H

24

25,

CUREE SR - i 38 K2 5% e PRI IR
S
RBEHMK ZBEERREDE  #
BLRBENETETZRE -EFHWE
REEZ FIEHNHIEEAL3 -

iR 3E 5t 18
AEEECHEAERAELBMT :

Deferred tax assets BELEHEBEEE
Group RE
2009
ZE2ThE
Eliminated Change in
profits fair value of Sales
resulting from available-  rebate and
intra-group  Impairment for-sale warranty
transactions of assets  investments provision Others Total
SERAR A HE
REMELN REZ HEERNK
1 885 R BEHE ATEEZD RERE Hitr &t
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TR AR%TR AR¥BTn AR®TR AR%T:R
At 1st January, 2009 RZEENF
—A—H 28,301 106,630 14,670 120,857 81,445 351,903
Effect of change in tax rate i XS &R RER
on the opening balance Ik B0&EH2
charged to the income F2(fiE10)
statement (note 10) — (8,462) - — — (8,462)
Deferred tax credited/ RERERZ RN/
(charged) to the (k) 2z
income statement during  IEFEFIE (K5 10)
the year (note 10) 18,622 43,078 - 47,776 (3,474) 106,002
Deferred tax charged to RENG AR
equity during the year EETE — — (14,670) — — (14,670)
Exchange realignment [ 5 558 - — — — (10) (10)
Gross deferred tax assets at R =FT T NG
31st December, 2009 +-A=+—-HZ2
EERBAERR 46,923 141,246 — 168,633 71,961 434,763
WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. M%EWNBRNRERLD



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

87 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EEAFI A=+ -8

25. EIEMIA (1&)

Deferred tax liabilities ELEBBEE
Group RE
2009
ZEENE
Fair value Change in
adjustments  fair value of
arising from available-
acquisitions of for-sale
subsidiaries investments Trademarks Others Total
B B
ARAMEEN FAHEERE
AYERAE ZATESE [EL: Hitr Ch
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTR AR¥T R ARETR AR¥T T
At 1st January, 2009 RZZENFE—-A—H 36,111 — 9,412 1,453 46,976
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to the ERRUEK (GFA) /
income statement during the year 1kt Z EEFHi A
(note 10) (fizt10) (2.456) - 2,255 (1,442) (1,643)
Deferred tax charged to the equity ~ FERREzINKR 2
during the year EREFE - 28,483 — - 28,483
Gross deferred tax liabilities at RZZTNFE+ZAR
31st December, 2009 =+-BZEERE
BEAHE 33,655 28,483 11,667 11 73,816
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31st December, 2009
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)

—EFAFF=ASt—H

25. EIEMIA (1&)

Deferred tax assets ELEHBEEE
Group RE
2008
i i3
Eliminated Change in
profits fair value of
resulting from available-  Sales rebate
intra-group Impairment for-sale  and warranty
transactions of assets  investments provision Others Total
SERRA At E
RHMEER REZ HEEMR
1 3% 7l BERE LTEEY RERE 2t At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL AREKETRT ARETRT ARETT ARETRT ARBT:
At 1st January, 2008 RZZEEN\F
—A—H 27,174 80,538 = 63,714 34,362 205,788
Effect of change in tax rate i & & &) 4
on the opening balance KM% 2
charged to the income HEHp w2
statement (note 10) (FizE10) — (354) — — — (354)
Assets no longer classified T~ E 9 %31 A1
as disposal group held EHEZILE
for sale BRlzEE — — — — 22,630 22,630
Deferred tax credited to the RERFF ARE R
income statement during ZERETIE
the year (note 10) (Bat10) 1,127 26,446 — 57,143 25,788 110,504
Deferred tax credited to RER T AR
equity during the year EIEHE — — 14,670 — — 14,670
Exchange realignment [ & — — — — (1,335) (1,335)
Gross deferred tax assets at R =TT \F
31st December, 2008 +-A=+—-Bz
EEREEERR 28,301 106,630 14,670 120,857 81,445 351,903

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

87§55 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_A=+—H

25. EIEMIA (1&)

Deferred tax liabilities ELEMIEEE
Group ZANES
2008
—ZET)N\F
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
acquisitions of
subsidiaries Trademarks Others Total
A s B B B
A A i B A #Y
NEEAE (SR E b A&t
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR T T ARETF T ARBT T AR T T
At 1st January, 2008 RZZTZENEFE
—H—H 52,631 7,000 5,391 65,022
Effect of change in tax rate i K& B ¥ 51 A
on the opening balance Wz & 2 Hi 40
credited to the income HEHe B
statement (note 10) (Kiaz10) (670) — — (670)
Deferred tax (credited)/ FRPWER (GTA)
charged to the income S 2 IEER B
statement during the year (Ktat10)
(note 10) (15,850) 2,412 (3,938) (17,376)
Gross deferred tax liabilities R ZZZ )\ 4F
at 31st December, 2008 +-—A=+—8z2
BT IA B E R 36,111 9,412 1,453 46,976
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)

—EEAFI A=+ A

25. EIEMIA (1&)

Deferred tax assets ELEHEBEE
Company ZIN/NES)
2009
ZBENF
Change in
fair value Sales
of available- rebate and
Impairment for-sale warranty
of assets  investments provision Others Total
HHE
REZ HEENMR
BERE ATESE REEE Hitr Ch
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR
At 1st January, 2009 RZZENFE—-A—H 27,610 14,670 69,161 36,690 148,131
Deferred tax credited/(charged) FARKREE
to the income statement FTA/ (1K)
during the year ZEIERTE (18,104) — 50,012 21,988 53,896
Deferred tax charged to equity FEARERNR
during the year ZERRERE — (14,670) — = (14,670)
Gross deferred tax assets RZZENE
at 31st December, 2009 +-A=1+-H
ZERTREERH 9,506 - 119,173 58,678 187,357
WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. HZ&@WNBRMNRERLD



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

87 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EEAFI A=+ -8

25. EIEMIA (1&)

Deferred tax liabilities ELEMIEEE
Company AR E
2009
—EENF
Change in
fair value of
available-
for-sale
investments Trademarks Others Total
At E
REZ
AFEEH [k H iy &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT AR T AR TR ARMT
At 1st January, 2009 RZZEZTNF
—H—B — 9,412 627 10,039
Deferred tax (credited)/ FRR M =R
charged to the income (Gt A) /Hkz
statement during the year AU e — 2,255 (616) 1,639
Defered tax credited to the R 4F A A #E 25 2 &
equity during the year EFIE 28,050 = = 28,050
Gross deferred tax liabilities W =ZZT N4
at 31st December, 2009 +—-A=+—8x2
RIETIE B FE A 28,050 11,667 11 39,728
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XV

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)

31st December, 2009 —EFANFF+ZHA=1+—H
25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 25. IREMIA (£8)
Deferred tax assets ELEHEBEE
Company ZIN/NES)
2008
—ZENE
Change in
fair value Sales
of available- rebate and
Impairment for-sale warranty
of assets investments provision Others Total
A E
REZ HEENK
BERNE ATEED REEE Hi Gl
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1st January, 2008 iy g =] 6,250 = 37,395 34,376 78,021
Deferred tax charged to the income  ERRUzEENB 2
statement during the year EIERE 21,360 — 31,766 2,314 55,440
Deferred tax charged to equity FRRERMGRZ
during the year R B — 14,670 — — 14,670
Gross deferred tax assets RZZEZENF
at 31st December, 2008 +-A=+-82
ERRBEERR 27,610 14,670 69,161 36,690 148,131

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)
31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+ZA=4+—H
25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 25. IRAEMRIA (£8)
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFREEE
Company ZIN/NYS]
2008
—EENF
Trademarks Others Total
7 1= B i EEr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETT ARETEIT AR®BTR

At 1st January, 2008 RZZEZNF—H—H 7,000 6,403 13,403
Deferred tax (credited)/charged FRR =R
to the income statement (5t A) /B z
during the year iR FE T 18 2,412 (5,776) (3,364)
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZZEZENF
at 31st December, 2008 +=—A=+—HZ2
BT IA B E AR 9,412 627 10,039
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the AEEWER THIEBBRARLEHIEE
following items: B
Group Company
rEHE AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEhEF —EENF —EERF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARETEI AR%BTR AR®TT

Tax losses T IE &5 18 112,629 127,424 — —
Deductible temporary A E R ERE
differences 78,632 137,921 — —
191,261 265,345 — —
The above tax losses are available for offsetting against future taxable LB EEEAT TR FHARGERER
profits of the companies in which the losses arose for a period of five MARIAERHEERBRERMAE - A
years. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the RALERR TR EE RN A E A&
above items as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will FREMIEE TLAEKEE - &t El1E
be available against which the above items can be utilised. ERRELCHRBEEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1st January, 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31st December, 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China and jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. This tax law does not have significant impact
on the Group's tax liability because the Company and most of its
subsidiaries are domiciled in Mainland China.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_HA=+—H

25 .

iR SE e 1A (48 )
RIERERERGBE - Rep B AR
YESNER AR EA SRR EE SR
BEABMI0%HO I « WRE R =
TEN\F-A—ARER BEARC
TELF+-AS+—BAENERF ¥
PEENEREEREN A EERER
TAERBBBHE ATRARENE
MBLE - GRARR R RET ARG B
RAMRAE  REZPETEHAE
BB AR EEREANE -

7R 2 B 1 AR HOR N AR B R  S E 1

FIEmE e -

26. INVENTORIES 26. 78
Group Company
rEEH A A H
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEThEF —EE)\F —EZhEF —EE)\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T AR®B T ARET T
Raw materials and R B X OH FE G
consumables 1,325,523 2,229,472 323,658 875,078
Work in progress T8 M 620,249 583,189 118,317 155,650
Finished goods 2K M 3,860,870 3,037,956 1,237,320 710,426
5,806,642 5,850,617 1,679,295 1,741,154

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)

31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+ZA=4+—H

27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 27. EREBZERMNRZEIE

Group Company
AEEH A QT

2009 2008 2009 2008
—ZEETNE —ZETNF —ZENEF —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARETF T AR T AR T T
Trade receivables B E 5 BRR 3,849,645 3,256,425 192,134 276,846
Bills receivable JE W R & 8,032,145 3,995,709 7,040,816 3,154,637
Impairment AR (528,845) (322,126) (13,327) (17,239)
11,352,945 6,930,008 7,219,623 3,414,244

BRTHREP—MREFEELATRIRRA
BUREFH 2N REBERERE Z
BO5GKRRZBHRERX FEH K
RBIOEIBOK : Al RHTEHETH
XEFEFAEGHERENEES - A&EE N

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit
except for new customers, where payment in advance or cash on
delivery is normally required. The credit period is generally 90 days to
180 days; however, customers with established trading records could
be granted a longer credit period. The Group seeks to maintain strict

control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control policy
to minimise credit risk. Credit sales are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. Credit limits granted to customers are
reviewed regularly. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provision
for impairment, is as follows:

SR R B RS 4 I HOR W B B MR R
TBBEEZHRREEREEER
B EHBEREEATHENEL AL
BRE - ASBEEHRARTEPNGEE
FR - ER EMERARARE B EK
BOERRMAREANRABENEFLER -
VTEREAETEERR - BIKEHEKX
RREE o

RBREHR - KNG BRERBEENER
ZORFREREENEZAHNERD
T

Group Company
REE ¥

2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEENF —ZETNF ZEENF —ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTL AR®TRE ARETE
Within 3 months 3@ A A 5,987,889 3,933,770 2,890,959 3,122,590
3 to 6 months 3£61EA 4,730,036 2,526,842 4,318,017 287,647
6 to 12 months 621218 A 249,293 390,177 9,488 3,470
1 to 2 years —EWFE 385,423 79,219 1,159 537
2 to 3 years M E = 304 — — —
11,352,945 6,930,008 7,219,623 3,414,244
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The movements in provision for impairment of trade and bills
receivables are as follows:

87 955 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_A=+—H

27. ERERKMRNKFRIR (&)

BREZERRZBENREREZSHN
T

Group Company
REHE VNN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENE —EENF —EENEF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREET T AR T AR T T
At 1st January R—A—H 322,126 239,690 17,239 11,624
Impairment losses BRI ERE
recognised 228,413 107,946 — 6,756
Contribution from —ZLPBBRREE
a minority shareholder 762 — — —
Amount written off AT Y B 7 K 8 2
as uncollectible - (14,415) (9,332) = (1,141)
Impairment losses reversed & (& &5 18 # [B] (8,041) (16,178) (3,912) —
528,845 322,126 13,327 17,239

The above provision for impairment of trade and bills receivables of
the Group and the Company is provision for both individually and
collectively impaired trade and bills receivables with a carrying
amount before impairment of RMB1,155,926,000 (2008:
RMB829,240,000) and RMB15,287,000 (2008: RMB19,503,000),
respectively. For amounts which were past due at the end of
reporting period, the Group has not provided for those receivables of
which there has not been significant change in credit quality and the
amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD

AEBRARAN LM EWE FHER R
EERAERECER AT RBRENERED
E» Bl A A K #1,155926,000 7 ( = &
T )\F . AR ¥829,240,0007T) & AR
15287000 (=TT /)\F: AR
19,503,000 7T ) 2 f@ Bl K& 2k [& B &k B fE 1k
B5EAREBRELEE -BHR|ME
HREBHcRIEMS @ A5EILE
ERARETESEANEE  BEZERMNHAK
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B ¥5 ¥R < Bt 5% (48)
31st December, 2009 ZEFTNFF+=A=1+—H
27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 27. ENEBZEZRN TR (&)
The aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables that are not AREZEVEZERERENERE D
considered to be impaired is as follows: T
Group Company
rEEH KA
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEENF —ETNF ZEENF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T T ARBT T ARBTFT
Neither past due nor AR 780 B SR (B
impaired 10,585,850 5,671,940 7,217,575 3,379,549
Less than 1 year DR —F 140,014 750,954 88 32,431
1 to 2 years past due B —ZE M F — — — —
10,725,864 6,422,894 7,217,663 3,411,980

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in
respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

As at 31st December, 2009, trade and bills receivables of
approximately RMB209,474,000 (2008: RMB338,815,000) were
pledged to secure bank loans and credit facilities of the Group.
Included in the balance of RMB209,474,000, trade receivable of
RMB4,134,000 were pledged to secure bank loans (note 34(b)).

AEBHFOREZ BEERERNETRR
T EENRENTPAR -

EEMERREZEEERESZZMA
SERXRHGLBERINBUEFAH - &
RBELR ARERAREYEERE
B AEZEZSFERDATZHBUEE - &
AAREERRBARZSHERELR
BERE AEEYELZSERFTACE
MEMKEMERERTEA -

R_ZEEhFE+_A=1+—"8 EKEZE
S BERKREELH AR 209,474,000 7T
(ZZEZNF : AR¥338,815,0007T) B
BEREARNEENRITERREERE
B &R - £ A R #209,474,000 7T 2 4 &4
FoEWE SRR ARYSL134,0007TE
EIRERIRITE R ER (M 5E34(0b)) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) Bt ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5% (48)
31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+=A=1+—H
27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 27. BEREZRME R (8)
The amounts due from related parties included above are analysed as A b 88 B 1 RO FE R B 7T sRIB A
follows: W
Group Company
KEH RA T
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEhEF —ETNF —EEREF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETEI AR%BTR AR®TT

Weichai Holdings and SRR R KB A )
its subsidiaries 10,461 28,953 4,071 1,368
Lonking Holdings and BEIERNEENERT
its subsidiaries 260,502 431 260,502 431
Subsidiaries ffS & A ] — — 1,202,422 566,270
Jointly-controlled entity H A £ I a8 617 5,036 = 5,036
Associates it 2 N A 31,455 42,627 680 —
Minority shareholders LPHBRREE
groups (note 44(a)) (Bt st 44(a)) 110,187 224,505 — 1,002
413,222 301,552 1,467,675 574,107
The amounts due from related parties are on credit terms similar to FEU RAEE 7 IR E B RN E AL E [
those offered to the major customers of the Group. FTERFPIRHEMBTEM -

184 WeicHar Power Co., LTD. M2 NBRMRERLD
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

87 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EFAFF=ASt—H

28. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 28. AT MIE ~ ¥ F K H ftb B UL
]
Group Company
AEHE VNN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEAE —ETNF —EERE —ETNFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T AR T ARET T
Deposits and other & & & H b fE K18
receivables 775,292 1,006,795 769,344 770,551
Impairment VoRE! (91,553) (118,809) (46,292) (58,318)
Deposits and other & & & H b fE I RIE
receivables, net %58 683,739 887,986 723,052 712,233
Dividend receivables & Ui B 5 4,293 3,040 39,976 77,714
Advances to suppliers 4 1 JE 7 1 T 2R 367,329 379,765 80,985 235,398
Prepayments 8 5 F 1B 3,723 444 — _
1,059,084 1,271,235 844,013 1,025,345

The carrying amounts of the deposits and other receivables

approximate to their fair values.

The movements in provision for impairment of deposits and other

RERhEMEYRENKROERLQF

BERE -

122 K H o 8 WK IR # R 1B B 68 = ) an

receivables are as follows: ™
Group Company
rE AN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENE —ET)NF —ZENE —ET)NF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFT AR TR AR FT
At 1st January ®n—H—H 118,809 97,954 58,318 36,028
Impairment losses B i RR B & 1R
recognised 15,803 24,925 — 22,427
Amount written off B A~ ] Y [e] i il 8 2
as uncollectible & & (34,488) (4,017) (2,423) (137)
Impairment losses reversed i {8 & 18 #% [@ (8,571) (53) (9,603) —
91,553 118,809 46,292 58,318
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

Bt 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EFAFF=ASt—H

28. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 28. AT ~ & K H fth [E U
(CONTINUED) I§ (#8)
The above provision for impairment of deposits and other receivables AREERARQFN Lize & EMEK
of the Group and the Company is a provision for both individually X IE R B B B B 4 BE R 5T R R B AT AR
and collectively impaired deposits and other receivables with a EE 5 5l & AR %109,787,000 7T (=&
carrying amount (before impairment) of RMB109,787,000 (2008: TN\ F: AR#139,284,0007T) M A K
RMB139,284,000) and RMB69,151,000 (2008: RMB78,474,000), #69,151,000 T(— BB N\F: AR%
respectively. These impaired deposits and other receivables relate to 78,474,0007t ) Z AR &k £ F B R EEZ &
parties that were in default or delinquency in payments and only a NH A EWCRIBEL R - ZZE R
portion of the deposits and other receivables is expected to be BRe REMEWKRETERHRAFK
recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit MmBHERTRE — 2D xR EAME
enhancements over these balances. WK - AEBWERZSERFTAE
sk s AERE -
The amounts due from related parties included above are analysed as A b5 88 B 1R B T SRIB A
follows: ms
Group Company
NEE PN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENE —EENF —EENF e AN
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTIT ARETR ARBTT
Weichai Holdings and S 2 iR 2 EOBT B A &)
its subsidiaries — 521 — 521
Subsidiaries LENEENG| — — 541,837 679,336
Associates /NG| 17,889 4,050 13,596 —
Minority shareholders LHRREEE
groups (note 44(a)) (Mt iF44(a)) 111,557 123,489 — —
129,446 128,060 555,433 679,857

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Except for the amount of RMB59,602,000 (2008: RMB57,602,000)
due from Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd. and the amount of
RMB19,238,000 (2008: RMB19,042,000) due from Zhuzhou Gear
Share Co., Ltd as at 31st December, 2009 which are interest-bearing
at 5.76% per annum (2008: 6.57%) and 5.31% (2008: 7.47 %),
respectively, other receivables are non-interest-bearing, unsecured
and repayable on demand.

MEDNRMDERLT

R-ZZEEAE+=_B=+—HB BT
KRR AASEEBEERAAREBEAR
59,602,000 TC(ZZTEZFTNF: AR
57,602,000 7T ) K F& YAk M 5 B A% 1D B BR
A FFRE AN R #19,238,0007C ( — T )\
&0 AR #19,042,000 7T ) 1% F # & 5.76
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

87§55 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_A=+—H

29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 29. IRENBESEMNRERIPE
DEPOSITS A
Group Company
REH KA F
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENEF —ETNF —ZENEF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AR T AR® T AR F T
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTH & 2,223,880 2,409,488 102,318 188,929
Time deposits 7 Bl 17 3K 4,354,391 3,454,459 1,995,798 2,394,382
6,578,271 5,863,947 2,098,116 2,583,311
Less: Pledged time deposits: & : B & # F H1F 4 :
Pledge for credit RIEEREER
facilities (2,879,847) (2,511,809) (569,138) (1,813,232)
Pledge for short term B BB R
loans (note 34 (b)) (KtE34(b)) (100,085) — (86,000) —
Cash and cash equivalents RE& KRS EEY 3,598,339 3,352,138 1,442,978 770,079

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB6,476,461,000
(2008: RMB5,806,302,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between seven days and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and
pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

RMEBRR AEBUARKESE®D
e RIRITHE S B A K %6,476,461,000
T(ZZEZNF : AR #%5,806,302,000
L) c ARETFERLBAHMER -
MEAR BR AR B A RO EE B IR AR 1) K
(KEE  EERNEEERTE) ~&E
BEZBRERBEETIIERZEB 2R
THEARBRBAEMEK -

RITRETIAREE BRITHERM X
B3 BREF B - BT HE RN H
BNFELRE=ZEATE BFLEKHE
HREBROBEYUERE  LREBE
HEMFERNEREOANE - RITEHK
EERERDFEREIHRBEROTREN
EBEERT -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)

—EFAFF=ASt—H

30. DisPoSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE

On 31st December, 2008, the Group entered into a conditional
agreement with the minority shareholder of MAT Automotive Inc
("MAT"), a subsidiary which was then owned by the Company as to
75%, whereby the Group would ensure MAT to transfer its 100%
equity interest in Meneta Holding ApS (“Meneta Group”) to the then
minority shareholder of MAT, Mr. Wang Wei, in exchange for his
25% equity interest in MAT and a cash consideration of
UsSD1,500,000. Accordingly, Meneta Group was classified as a
disposal group held for sale as at 31st December, 2008. The
transaction was completed in January 2009.

31. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

30. I5TEE 2B EA R
R_ZEENF+_A=1+—8B A&H
B2 MAT Automotive Inc([MAT]) ( & &
R ERFARREN —XRHB A
A ZLEBRRITL—MDEGKERZ
B it A E 8 R EMATHE E B Meneta
Holding ApS ([ Menetats B |) #J100% fi%
EESEETMATER 2 VHEBRETE
S AR BMAT Z L HE B AMATH)
25% f% & # &= & 3H & K 81,500,000 &
Lo A RZZFEENF+_A=+—
H: Meneta S BB ARFIEFLHE 2 HE
AR ZEXGN_ZEBNE— ARA -

31. BN ERERMRRIR

Group Company
rEE AATH

2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEBELF —EE)\F —EENF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBTFT AR T ARBTFT
Trade payables FET 8 5 AR 8,355,933 6,442,175 3,501,042 2,208,611
Bills payable B2 3,474,709 4,185,776 1,456,933 2,583,285
11,830,642 10,627,951 4,957,975 4,791,896

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

RBERR BRNEZEREZEREER
HZEHNRESNAT

Group Company
REE ¥

2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEENF —ZETNF ZEZNF —ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFTL AR®TRE ARETE
Within 3 months 3@ A A 9,519,364 5,798,843 4,427,987 2,852,587
3 to 6 months 3Z6MEA 2,072,145 3,570,389 374,829 1,709,446
6 to 12 months 621218 A 9,945 921,325 10,577 98,412
Over 1 year —F Pk 229,188 337,394 144,582 131,451
11,830,642 10,627,951 4,957,975 4,791,896
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31. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 31. BN EZRMN R (&)
The amounts due to related parties included above are analysed as NESETBENENBEET AN
follows: LI
Group Company
rEEH ¥ NN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENE —EE)N\F —EEAE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ART R ARET T ARBT T ARBTFT
Weichai Holdings and HEERREMBAT
its subsidiaries 3,611 2,335 3,600 1,317
Subsidiaries LN NG| — — 3,084,823 992,150
Jointly-controlled entity H [ 2 F a2 6 5,096 — —
Associates % & N A 45,895 67,819 — —
Minority shareholders LYl REE
groups (note 44(a)) (KisE44(a)) 211,506 213,151 — —
261,018 288,401 3,088,423 993,467
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled ERBESERBTFE - —&R0KXH

on 90-day terms. The amounts due to related parties are on credit
terms similar to those offered by the major suppliers of the Group.

32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

BRAE - BRI 5

KRB 15 B 15N

EAREETEZHBRHREMNGEREM -

32. HthETRIBRESER

Group Company
rE ¥ N

2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZENF —ETNF —EENF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT AR®BTRT ARETZT
Advances from customers = F & TE {3 747,093 1,052,874 45,639 263,045
Accruals EEtE R 541,369 373,473 236,283 124,357
Salary and welfare payable [& f< % 4 & 1& A 673,282 420,892 357,339 252,940
Other payables H th & 1< 5k IE 1,612,259 1,069,014 1,087,900 774,153
3,574,003 2,916,253 1,727,161 1,414,495
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WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (CONTINUED) 32. HthENTRIB R EStER (18)
The carrying amounts of other payables and accruals approximate to ﬁf@ﬁgﬁ RENEFEROREERE
their fair values. The amounts due to related parties included above n¥E *ﬁ % NESBERBENENE
are analysed as follows: A RBEATAT

Group Company
rEH R AF
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENEF —ETN\F —ZENEF —ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETRE ARETT ARBTR AREBTT
Weichai Holdings and ML IR R H B R A
its subsidiaries — — 7,610 —
Subsidiaries gl — — 260,203 317,343
Associates Hyﬁ /N T 258 — 58 —
Jointly-controlled entity 7] 2 | 2 102 — 102 —
Minority shareholders 9 FRREE
groups (note 44(a)) (Kt et 44(a)) 41,936 86,105 — —
42,296 86,105 267,973 317,343
Other payables are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and have no fixed EMENFKEBERTGE EEAERE
terms of repayment. EERE o
53. DEBENTURES 33, 5%

On 21st March, 2008, a subsidiary of the Group issued unsecured
short term debentures to independent third parties in an aggregate
principal amount of RMB800 million in the PRC. The debentures were
priced and issued at a face value of RMB100 each. The debentures
are due for repayment in two lots of RMB400 million each at 10th
January, 2009 and 21st March, 2009, respectively. The effective
interest rates for the two lots of debentures were 6.04% and 6.1%,
respectively. The debentures were repaid in 2009.

RZBEZENE=A=+—8  KNEBEK
ANEIRHPERBLE=ZF%TET
EIBHEHES A2 RBAEARE
800,000,0007T ° fEH AEMBESTRARE
1007%%%)32%%??-/,\%_9@?)1&—
A+BE-_ZZAF=ZA=-t+—8BH»

HA 4 HE A [ % 400,000,000 7T {8 & ° Eﬁﬁﬁ
BHE2EBRFED R £6.04% K%6.1% °
BEER_ZTTNFEE -

On 21st July, 2008, the Company issued unsecured short-term R-EENE+BA=-+—8 AR
debentures to independent third parties in an aggregate principal REABYE = A RTETFEEA b
amount of RMB900 million in the PRC. The debentures were priced E% A< 4% 5 AR 900,000,000
and issued at a face value of RMB100 each. The debentures are due T BEAUmMESEARKI0TERE
for repayment at 10th July, 2009. The effective interest rate for the KT BAR-_ZTHAFELA+HE
debentures was 5.20%. The proceeds from the debentures were used B BETERAEAS20% o &5 AT
to meet the Group’s production, operational and other working f:fﬁy\lﬁ)aﬁqﬁ(\ﬁ,ﬁz]x AlAE - é’@&
capital needs. The debentures were repaid in July 2009. H2EE4vEE - BN -2

NELHEE -

On 24th August, 2009, the Company issued unsecured medium-term R—_FEFEAENA-_+WTAHE &AA
debentures to independent third parties in an aggregate principal AT E = RTETFEIR ﬁaq:n Hﬂ
amount of RMB1,300 million in the PRC. The debentures were priced &% KNE %A ARKK1,300000,000
and issued at a face value of RMB100 each. The debentures are listed T BT RmEmEARKIOOTER
and transferable on the inter-bank debenture market in the PRC with BT - EERDTBEMNETREETE
a maturity period of five years and are due for repayment at 25th THWAIRZ TS FEE A RE
August, 2014. The effective interest rate for the debentures was AR -—_E—MNENA-_+HRBEE &
5.30%. The proceeds from the debentures will be used for the 5T EBRAEAE530%  E5FFERIE
repayment of certain bank loans of the Company and the investment BHEREEARAAMNE FHRTEZ );g
in the Company’s diesel engine project. HWEBERNANTIRNLEHS|ZEEE -

KB NRMBERR



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 iR

31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+ZA=4+—H
34, INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 3. stRVWIT N EMER
2009 2008
—EEhEF —ZTENF
Effective Effective
interest interest
Group NEH rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BERA= B A =
(%) EHAE AR®TR (%) HEA ARETFT
Current B
Bank loans — secured WITER —2HM 1.8-8.22 2010 62,415 6.66-7.84 2009 223,230
Bank loans — RITER — EI A
unsecured 4.37-6.72 2010 860,249 6.66-9.0 2009 1,067,074
Current portion of RESBITERZ
long-term bank loans 7t B 26 1n 4.86-6.75 2010 450,000 6.03 2009 18,000
Other loans — secured HtER — B 5.31 2010 94,000 —
Other loans — Hib B3 — E AT
unsecured 5.31-5.58 2010 49,000 —
1,515,664 1,308,304
Non-current EFRE
Bank loans — secured RITER —EHER — 5.67 2010-2011 17,000
Bank loans — unsecured iR 1T E F — MK 4.86-5.67 2011-2012 917,000 5.40-7.56 2010-2011 750,000
Other loans — unsecured  H b & 2x — 4 1 4 3.87-6.05 2014-2020 25,200 417 2010-2020 10,700
942,200 777,700
2,457,864 2,086,004
2009 2008
—EEhEF —ZETNF
Effective Effective
interest interest
Company RAF rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BBRFE B A =
(%) A AR%¥® T (%) e AR®TT
Current B
Bank loans — unsecured R E K — 2 KA 4.86 2010 148,282 6.66-6.72 2009 168,346
Current portion of RHEIRITE R
long-term bank loans pdyio ) E=180) 4.86 2010 400,000 —
548,282 168,346
Non-current IET B
Bank loans — unsecured  SR1T & F — & EH 54 2011-2012 200,000 5.40-6.72 2010-2011 700,000
200,000 700,000
748,282 868,346
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34, INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 34, st RI|/IT R EME R ()
(CONTINUED)
Group Company
RE ¥ NN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZhEF —ET)NF —EEhREF —ZET)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T AR¥T T AR T T
Analysed into: DB
Bank loans repayable: ZERITEREAR
T FHER
Within one year or on —F R IR E KA
demand BE 1,372,664 1,308,304 548,282 168,346
In the second year F£_4F 117,000 650,000 100,000 600,000
In the third to fifth years, S =FFFhHF
inclusive (BEERME) 800,000 117,000 100,000 100,000
2,289,664 2,075,304 748,282 868,346
Other borrowings repayable: :Z & E b fERBR T
Pl & B 8
Within one year —F R 143,000 — — —
In the third to fifth years, SE=FZEH4F
inclusive (BHEEEMF) 20,000 — — —
Beyond five years fFig 5,200 10,700 — —
168,200 10,700 —
2,457,864 2,086,004 748,282 868,346

Notes: BfaE -

(a) The Group’s credit facilities amounting to RMB4,886,249,000 (2008: (a) AREBEBHEEREHELAREE
RMB5,476,676,000), of which RMB2,108,334,000 (2008: 4,886,249,000 it ( 73 TNF:ARKE
RMB1,878,676,000) had been utilised as at the end of reporting period. 5,476,676,000 T ) * R ¥R & B K B &) i &

AR #2108,334,000 T (— EE )\ :
A K % 1,878,676,0007T ) °

(b) Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by: (b) REFBEFRITEXZEFA :

(i) mortgages over certain of the Group’s land use rights, buildings, (i) 7K £ B R B K A8 B T B B A A
machinery and motor vehicles, which had an aggregate carrying value at K #173,997.0007T £ & T =+ # (&
the end of the reporting period of approximately RMB173,997,000; and fg’ BT HERATEAELE

(i) pledge of the Group’s term deposit amounting to RMB100,085,000. (ii) ¥y % /;f f%g 175X A K # 100,085,000

5T B .
(i) pledge of the Group’s trade receivable amounting to RMB4,134,000. (i) XEEBEWREZEFXARK
4,134,000 7T A HE & #

(c) Except for the bank loan of RMBS82,197,000 which is denominated in United (c) Br A R #82,197,0007T & A £ 181,887,000
States dollars and RMB81,887,000 which is denominated in Hong Kong T2 BRTT B & 5 Bl E T R i T 5l 8 2
dollars, all borrowings are in RMB. Sh - BT EEAXGUNEKEZE -

(d)  Included in the above are defaulted bank loans of approximately (d) UE2BEFEOEMNETELEBREER
RMB24,080,000 (2008: RMB44,228,000) drawn by a subsidiary of Torch DAl ([MAIERE |) — K BB R ] £
Automobile Group Co., Ltd (“TAGC”) prior to the TAGC Acquisition (note KB )T E Y FE (] iE36) 2 BT B R ) i #)
36) which are classified as current. The Group is currently negotiating a RITEAKAA R 524,080,000 (= FZF /1
restructuring of these loans with the relevant bankers. As at the date of this F: AKEWK442280007T) ZEEAXSH
report, the negotiations are still in progress. However, the directors are R EE) o 7N B IF 1F 1 7 B 3R 77 6 B Bt X
confident that their negotiations with the lenders will ultimately reach a EENETEME RAFEHE - HRE
successful conclusion. BIDELEITH - AM  EFHEHRFHEE

KA B B ERAERIG T ©

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s borrowings AEBEBRARAZERNEREEIAD

approximate to their fair values. FEEE -

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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35. (RIERE R

Group Company
RE RN F]
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENEF —ETNF —EENF AN
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFT AR T AREBT T
At 1st January n—A—H 446,343 180,635 234,899 133,500
Additional provision 28 ONBE A 709,188 698,946 523,003 390,346
Business combination X560t (KiE38)
(note 38) 1,978 — — —
Contribution from KE—BLHBERE
a minority shareholder 2R 15,721 — — —
Amounts utilised FANHAESE
during the year (675,999) (433,238) (400,902) (288,947)
At 31st December R+=-—A=+—H 497,231 446,343 357,000 234,899

The Group provides warranties ranging from six months to three

years to its customers on certain products and undertakes to repair or
replace items that fail to perform satisfactorily. The amount of the
provision for warranties is estimated based on the sales volume and

past experience on the level of repairs and returns. The estimation
basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised when appropriate.

AEERETEMREFREHEABAZRE
“FNRED URELEBHLEBREE
TEFZZT®MMG - REBBZBTIR
BHEERBERERREKFETMR

i BREEEREFLERITIEANEER

RAEHERT -

36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. RN
Shares Bz 13
2009 2008
—EENE —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T
Registered, issued and fully paid: At BOTRBRERA :
A shares of RMB1 each EREEARBITZAR
— state-owned shares — B R’ 186,545 186,545
— other legal person and — HMEARBRAAR
natural person shares 444,101 444,101
H shares of RMB1 each EREEARBIITZHER 202,400 202,400
833,046 833,046

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and
when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote

per share without restrictions.

ERBEFBEABERARRE RS E
WEREE - 8REARARKR-—EARRE

- mEAZRE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

36. SHARE CAPITAL(CONTINUED)

Shares (continued)
During the years ended 31st December, 2008 and 2009, the
movements in share capital were as follows:

On 12th November, 2006, the Company entered into a conditional
agreement with TAGC whereby the Company agreed to issue an
aggregate of 190,653,552 new A shares with a par value of RMB1
each (the “Consideration Shares”) to acquire 71.88% equity interest
in TAGC that the Group did not already own (the “TAGC
Acquisition”) at an issue price of RMB20.47 per share. The TAGC
Acquisition was approved by shareholders of both the Company and
TAGC at their respective general meetings held on 29th December,
2006. Completion of the TAGC Acquisition took place on 23rd April,
2007, and the Company issued the Consideration Shares on the
same day.

Upon completion of the TAGC Acquisition, (i) the shares of TAGC
were cancelled; (ii) TAGC's assets were absorbed into and its liabilities
assumed by the Company; and (iii) TAGC were deregistered and
ceased to exist (“Legal merger with TAGC”). In addition, the
Company'’s A shares were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on
30th April, 2007 while its H shares continued to be listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3nd November, 2008
regarding a bonus issue of six shares for every 10 shares held by the
shareholders as of 2nd December, 2008, the issued capital of the
Company was increased from RMB520,654,000 to RMB833,046,000
by capitalisation of share premium of RMB312,392,000.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD

Bt 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EFAFF=ASt—H

36. B AN (£8)

B (48)
REZE-_ZETZNER_ZTTANF+_A
=+—HUEFEZRAZEHNT

R=ZZEZEAF+—A+=H AQRHE
MANERBITL —HDBGEHZE - B
It ARBRENERARK2.47 T
2 BAITEE (T A 190,653,552 Kk & ik mE
BEARBITZHAR(TRERS )
LES ABAEEFAENMRAENAR
B71.88% 2 A= ([ M AERE WK
Bl - RZZEEF+ZA=+N1A8
MK ETE W D B AR R R A AE
MEBEZRERSERERME - BAER
BRBER-_ZTEELFHNA=-+=H%
K ARRRRBZETRER®D -

EMANERERBIEKE - OBRAENR
B RO FEE (AR A RO NE
MEBEZEENRAEEAG  Rii)HEAE
MERTIEHE([EMANEREZAE
BH) O RAFARER - F
TtFORA=F+TBERRM LT MARQ
AHRBEEN BT BB XM LT -

BRERZ_ZEZNF+—A=ZHBAN
MRRAEBEE-_TEZTENF+_A=ZBZ
IR —IBEFI10RE B R w7 X 1T
AR LERAZR  ARABBITRA
# A R #520,654,000 7T # hn B 19 % B
& AR AR #312,392,000 T & A R
833,046,000 7T ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

36. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Shares (continued)
A summary of the transactions during the years with reference to the
above movements in the Company’s issued capital and the Group's

87§55 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_A=+—H

36. Bx AN (£8)
IR (48)

BEFREETZABLEARRE #EIT
BEARAEERDEERESH X HH

share premium account is as follows: ZMT
Number of shares in issue
ERTROHAE
Issued Share
H shares A shares Total capital premium Total
BT
H & AR &5t BRA  ROEE &t
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
T & T & TR ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1st January, 2008 RZBEZEN\F
—H—H 126,500 394,154 520,654 520,654 2,368,660 2,889,314
Bonus issue 7 ike 75,900 236,492 312,392 312,392 (312,392) —
At 31st December, 2008 and R =TT )\ F
at 1st January, 2009 +=-A=+—H
RZZTTNF
—H—H 202,400 630,646 833,046 833,046 2,056,268 2,889,314
At 31st December, 2009 R-ZETNF
+=—A=+—H 202,400 630,646 833,046 833,046 2,056,268 2,889,314
37. RESERVES 37. 61
(a) Group (a) A&H

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial
statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group includes the Group’s share
premium of RMB2,056,268,000 and the non-distributable
reserves of the Company and its subsidiaries created in
accordance with the accounting and financial regulations of the
PRC.

AEERAFERBEFEZHE
EREEZHRIINUBHRR 24

AN

REBZERNFBRIEASE 2R
7% B A R #2,056,268,000 7T M A&
RalREMBARBREFRE 2 &

R

ERIYLZ DA DIk H s o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

37. RESERVES (CONTINUED)
(@) Group (continued)

Surplus reserves

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles of
association of the relevant companies, the Company, its
subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled entity are required
to appropriate a certain percentage of their net profits after tax
to the surplus reserves comprising statutory surplus reserve and
discretionary surplus reserve. Subject to certain restrictions set
out in the relevant PRC regulations and in the Company’s
articles of association, the statutory surplus reserve may be
used either to offset losses, or to be converted to increase
share capital. These reserves cannot be used for purposes other
than those for which they are created and are not distributable
as cash dividends.

Distributable reserves

At 31st December, 2009, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the relevant
regulations, amounted to RMB6,340,303,000 (2008:
RMB3,901,978,000), out of which dividend of
RMB399,862,000 (2008: RMB108,296,000) for the year ended
31st December, 2009 was proposed on 26th April, 2010. In
addition, the Company’s share premium account in its statutory
financial statements, in the amount of RMB1,832,568,000
(2008: RMB1,832,568,000), may be distributed in the form of
fully paid bonus shares.

The amount for which the Company can legally distribute by
way of a dividend is determined based on the lower of the
retained profits determined in accordance with the generally
accepted accounting principles in the PRC and the HKFRSs.

MEDNRMDERLT

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)

=FZ

37.

NF+ZHAH=+—H

&t (4&)

(a)

REE (FE)
RIEFBERQBERERA B2 AR
BRE ARBAREMBRR - BE
RARHARAEHERARRSE ZR
BARFENBZ —E LD EERER
AET (BREEAKATES IME
BEAKATER) EEEBKRAED
AARTHEEBERAER SR ANE
e AT EBEEREARA
ZHEBERZETRS - Z5FHE
IERARRIBZEAIIN 2 BE KA
ERD KRB S -

Al K 7 5
RZZBEZHE+-_A=+—H B
BREBREFTEZARRANDIK
& & A R #6,340,303,000 T ( =
T )\F: AR ¥3,901,978,000
L) ERFR=_ZFT—ZFTFNWMA
T RAERREHE-_ZTT N
F+_A=+—"BLEFEZR
B A R #399,862,000 L ( — &=
J\F + AR #108,296,000 JT ) ©
ot KRR REEMBRERA
2R REEREZEBEAARK
1,832,568,000 T( Z T T N\F : A
R #1,832,568,000 7T ) © A] A & 2
ARz HFADIE °

AABAABRETABED IR ZE
BERETFEAREHERRBER
BRELENEE 2RENBZEE
EEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)
31st December, 2009 —EENFF+-A=4+—H

37. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 37. B (88)
(b) Company (b) AT

Available-
for-sale
investments
Capital Surplus revaluation Retained
reserve reserves reserve profits Total
A&
REEM
EXfEE BHARS wE RENE &t
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
izt AR®TT AR® T AR%®TT ARBTT ARETR

Balance at 1st January RZZTENF

2008 —A—Hz&&#% 2,128,409 400,639 — 2,461,040 4,990,088
Bonus issue %A% 36 (312,392) — — — (312,392)
Total comprehensive AEEZERARSE

income for the year — — (83,130) 1,636,425 1,553,295
Appropriation to statutory % Bt & % T & #4

surplus reserves N — 163,792 — (163,792) —
Proposed final 2008 BE-ZTN\EF

dividend RERE 12 — = = (108,296) (108,296)
At 31st December, 2008 A =EE )\ £

+-A=+—H 1,816,017 564,431 (83,130) 3,825,377 6,122,695
Total comprehensive AEEZEWARSE

income for the year — — 242,080 2,828,588 3,070,668
Appropriation to statutory 5 B Z AT A%

surplus reserves N — 282,958 — (282,958) —
Proposed final 2009 BE-ZTNEF

dividend RERE 12 — = = (399,862) (399,862)
At 31st December, 2009 R-ZEHF

+-A=+—H 1,816,017 847,389 158,950 5,971,145 8,793,501
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION

In 2009, the Group acquired additional equity interests in Eaton Fast
Gear (Xi'an) Co., Ltd. ("Eaton Fast”), and Chongging Jialing
Chuanjiang Vehicles Manufacturing Co., Ltd (“Jialing Chuangjiang”).
Upon the acquisition, these entities became the Group’s subsidiaries.
Details are as follows:

On 7th May, 2009, the Group acquired an additional 55% equity
interest in Eaton Fast, which was formerly an associate of the Group
and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group upon the
acquisition. Eaton Fast is engaged in the manufacture of heavy duty
automotive gears and parts. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition of the additional equity interest was in the form of cash
of RMB1. Eaton Fast was subsequently merged with Xi‘an Fast Auto
Drive Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, and deregistered after the
merger in November 2009.

On 3rd December, 2009, the Group acquired an 80% equity interest
in Jialing Chuanjiang from its original investors. Jialing Chuanjiang is
engaged in the manufacture and trading of automobiles and related
automotive components. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash of RMB5,000,000 paid at the
acquisition date.

KB NRMBERR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)

31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+ZA=4+—H
38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED) 38, RXIFEH (&)
The aggregate fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of fL LE W 2 BT B8 A B R W B B ]
the above acquired subsidiaries as at the date of acquisition and the BAEERRENAFEABERERK
corresponding carrying amounts immediately before the acquisition BRAEOREENT
were as follows:
Fair value
recognised on Carrying
acquisition amount
A UK B B R R
ZAY¥HE BRMEE
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
Bt 5 ARBTT ARETTT
Property, plant and equipment ME  BEKXE 14 79,408 79,408
Prepaid land lease payments B L EFE 16 5,411 5,411
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, RUENE BREREERSA
plant and equipment 7% & 40,870 40,870
Trade and bills receivables JEHSZ%’%EEM&mTJ% 11,060 11,060
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — FE{5UIE 24 & H b fE Uk 3118 2,314 2,314
Cash and cash equivalents HERIREEEY 7,621 7,621
Trade and bills payables ENESERRZE (22,963) (22,963)
Other payables and accruals H i fE 4 518 R B A B A (146) (146)
Warranty provision R1& B 35 (1,978) (1,978)
121,597 121,597
Excess over the cost of business combination  FA UL % & HE R B B £ 7 & BB AR
recognised in the income statement 7 2615 5 (87,334)
34,263
Satisfied by: BUATARAZAN :
Cash and cash equivalents HEeRREZEEY 5,000
Investments in an associate R—REE DR Z/E 29,263
34,263

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in

RRBELAMBARERNASRAS

respect of the acquisition of the above subsidiaries is as follows: EEBYREFELTOT :
RMB’000
AR T
Cash consideration ReRE (5,000)
Cash and bank balances acquired WHEIR € RIRTT & 8 7,621
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents LU EE M B A A ﬁ BRHIR SR
in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries BEeEEYRAFEE 2,621
Since the acquisition, the newly acquired subsidiaries made no B U AR - sTUREE AT B 2 EBQE/%?:
contribution to the Group's turnover and accounted for a loss of fggﬂf‘f’;ﬁ =t—RLEFEYRE
RMB9,032,000 to the consolidated profit for the year ended 31st HASESXBELAR  YREEF
December, 20009. %15 B 18 A R #9,032,000 7T °
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year ended BEABEHNRBE_TTEAE+ =
31st December, 2009, the revenue and the profit of the Group for A=+ —HIEEENELEE  BXRF
the year would have been RMB35,260,899,000 and RMB3,931,381,000, EASBENBARFANBD R BARE
respectively. 35,260,899,000 7T & A KX #3,931,381,000
7'E o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)
31st December, 2009 —EENFF+=-A=+—H
39, DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 39, HE— MBS
2009
—EThE
Note RMB’000

B & AR¥ T

Net assets disposed of: HEBEEFE
Property, plant and equipment M- WERZE 14 46,740
Inventories TE 24,227
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFACEEY 7,816
Trade receivables FEU & 5 Bk 18,040
Prepayments and other receivables T8 7 RRIE K H e U R IE 13,110
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SFERIETREMER (14,000)
Trade and bills payables BB ZEFRRER (8,088)
Other payables and accruals HhEARIERESTER (39,969)
47,876
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—RHE A A Kk =
47,876
Satisfied by: BAT AT -
Deposits and other receivables e & HE e W IE 29,093
Investments in associates REtE QR 2R E 18,783
47,876
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in MHEE—FRNBAREENRSEE S
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: ZEEYRLFESINAOT
2009
—EENEF
RMB’000
AR¥T
Cash consideration RERE —
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERSRREEED (7,816)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents REE—"FXHBRARALENES R
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary REeEEEYR L FRE (7.816)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

40.

41.

L2.

87§55 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_A=+—H

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 4o, AREE
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided RBEBRR - KRRH B mR A E 2k
for in the financial statements were as follows: REEWLT -
Group Company
rEH PN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EThE —TT)N\F —EZThEF ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®BT T ARBTT AR®TR ARBTx
Guarantees given to MEBE=ZFEERZ
banks in connection EEim4 TiRT
with facilities granted Z AR
to third parties 1,053,691 1,754,055 — —
The above guarantees are made by subsidiaries of the Group to the FHERTI B A S B &M E A F A
dealers and agents for their business. PRI R S M EEL o
PLEDGE OF ASSETS b1, EER
Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the banking facilities of the HASERTREEFEENASEEER
Group are included in notes 14, 16, 27, 29 and 34 to the financial BEEFBHRNMBRERWMTI14 16
statements. 27 ~ 29K 34 ¢
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 42, REMENOLHE

(a) As lessor

The Group leases certain of its investment properties (note 15)
and plant and machinery under operating lease arrangements.
Leases for properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one
to two years and those for plant and machinery negotiated for
terms ranging from one to two years. The terms of the leases
generally also require tenants to pay security deposits and
provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then

prevailing market conditions.

At 31st December, 2009, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with

its tenants falling due as follows:

(a) FEALEMEA
AEBRBELELEHEOTHHAHESE
FHREME (K E15) - BE K #
Ho-MEHRELHE2BHN T —
EFTE MBERERELHE
ZHEMNF—Z2_F1T%F - Y
B —RIMERBARLZ MRS KB
BEEEMSBACHAERMES -

RZTEZENF+ZA=+—H &
SEREBETAME 2 ELHEOMR
THIFEHfE R 2 R KRR EE S

BMEOT

Group

rEE
2009 2008
ZEZAF —ZETNEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARBTET
Within one year —F R 9,872 2,375
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EERF(BEEEMTE) 340 8,078
After five years FELAIE — 23,930
10,212 34,383
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)

—EFAFF=ASt—H

4?2, OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) As lessee

The Group leases certain plant and machinery and properties
under operating lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for
terms ranging from 1 to 10 years and rent is fixed over the

lease term.

At 31st December, 2009, the Group and the Company had
total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

5 TH m’] <z }# ( g )
(b) e R A A

AEERBEEHOLHEESR T
ME - #Es R - K1 2 8 E
NF—Z2+F1%5  HHEAEIH
EFEMEE -

“EPAFT-A=T-H A
5 0 RR 2 AR BT AL 2 A8
40958 T 3 8 R B 8 2 ok R B AR
BemENT :

Group Company
K VNN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENE —EE)NEF —EENEF —EEI)N\EF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT AR¥T R AR®ET T
Within one year —F R 26,707 24,233 — 335
In the second to fifth years, B_EERF
inclusive (BREERMSF) 81,547 92,658 — 59
After five years RFEE 149,852 195,063 — —
258,106 311,954 — 394
43, R

43, COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note
42(b) above, the Group and the Company had the following capital

Bk UA £ Bt 5E42(b)FF a2 48 & TH 49 AR
N ARBRARARBEHRROER

commitments at the end of reporting period: EEMAT
Group Company
rEH KA A
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENE —EE)N\F —EEAE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥B TR ARETFT AR® TR AR T T
Purchase of property, BEME  WEKXZXE
plant and equipment
— Contracted but not — BRI ERE®E
provided for 946,771 1,168,332 399,279 416,243
— Authorised but not — EREERFTLD
contracted for — 34,750 — —
946,771 1,203,082 399,279 416,243

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

4L, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions with related parties during the year:

BB HRE
ZETNF

uL, [ B
(a)

Bt 5% (£8)
+=-A=+—H

AR %7
BABMBREAMBHFLZXS
5 7 g R A 4 SRR O AT
ZERRHMT :

Group
rEE
2009 2008
—EENF —ETNF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Pt 5 AR¥T R ARBTIT
Sale of products to ML T BB T & E
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries Y S 4 R 2 BB B A A i 734,283 419,132
Lonking Holdings and its subsidiaries BE TR K E BB A A ii 612,317 789,848
Minority shareholders groups DB R E iii 1,169,365 1,388,385
Jointly-controlled entity R EH B2 39,836 17,179
Associates iR /NG| 26,289 25,820
2,582,090 2,640,364
Purchase of raw materials from M AT B 5 B E R R
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries S PR AR e BB B A A i 316,182 276,785
Minority shareholders groups LEHREER iii 1,827,940 1,187,711
Jointly-controlled entity [ 2 ) B 2 75,131 —
Associates iR W/NE] 327,948 522,973
2,547,201 1,987,469
Warehouse and logistics service RKENWNTEEZREE
fees income from 7% AR 7% & WA
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries S PR AR R BB B A A 3,460 441
Other service fees income from RE TR
Z H A R 75 B WA
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries HESe iR Ko ELT B A 7 10,465 7,558
Other service fees paid to M AT BB 5
Z EH AR &
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries S 4 R 2 BB & A A i 25,408 25,519
Minority shareholders groups DB R E iii 82,122 90,139
107,530 115,658
Utility service fees paid to Al LA T B Bk 5 2 {5
PRAEXERBE
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries 5 PR AR e EL TS 8 A A 157,104 152,882
Utility service income from AT B S
ZAAEXRBKA
Minority shareholders groups LHREER iii 11,680 11,866
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

L4, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions with related parties during the year: (continued)

Rental income for certain premises,
machinery, and equipment from

REATHEBINET
ME BRRREZ
HaBA

87§55 ¥R < Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_HA=+—H

by, EBAXR % (18)
(@) BAMBRREMEBNFARZRS
S REBRAFE EEE T ET
ZERZSMT : (&)

Group
E
2009 2008
—EENF —EENEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000

it 5E ARBTT ARETT

Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries 5 PR AR e EL BT 8 2 7] i 2,115 —
Minority shareholders groups LEHREER iii 1,813 1,800
Jointly-controlled entity K[ 5l & e 1,384 —
Associates /N 5,540 3,085
10,852 4,885
Rental paid for certain premises, AT BT & T
machinery, and equipment to mE - R kREcES
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries S TR AR R BB B A A i 46,218 46,244
Minority shareholders groups LHEBRREHE ii 27,377 37,593
Associates kN = 518
73,595 84,355
Sales and warranty period repair service REATREAREE
fee income from RREMBERBEKRA
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries HE e iR K E T B A A 13,253 3,327
Purchase of fixed assets from FA T AT EE
EBE
Minority shareholders groups LHREER iii 1,226 —
Processing service fees paid to SHMIRBET
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries G TR AR R EL BT B A A i 55,962 92,273
Minority shareholders groups LHEBRREHE ii 5,867 —
61,829 92,273

Notes:

(i)

Weichai Holdings is the single largest shareholder owning a 14.92%
interest in the Company as at 31st December, 2009. The related party
transactions disclosed above were entered into with Weichai Holdings
and its subsidiaries, mainly including Chongqing Weichai Diesel
Engine Works, Chongqing City Jiangjin District Chongwei Casting
Co., Ltd., Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd., Weichai
Heavy Machinery Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Heavy Machinery”, formerly
known as Shandong Juli Company Limited), Weifang Weichai Deutz
Diesel Engine Co., Ltd., Weichai Tongxin Real Estate Co., Ltd., Weichai
Property Development Co., Ltd., and Shandong Huafeng Power Co.,

Ltd.

MEDNRMDERLT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

L4, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions with related parties during the year: (continued)

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

Lonking Holdings Limited (“Lonking Holdings”, formerly known as
China Infrastructure Machinery Holdings Limited) is a Hong Kong
listed company which is owned by a non-executive director of the
Company and his wife as to 54.33% as at 31st December, 2009. The
couple also own a 4.13% interest in the Company. The related party
transactions disclosed above were entered into with the subsidiaries
of Lonking Holdings, namely Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery
(Group) Company Limited and Shanghai Longgong Machinery
Company Limited.

Certain companies of the Group entered into related party
transactions as disclosed above with their minority shareholders,
which were able to exert significant influence over the companies,
and the subsidiaries thereof (collectively referred to as “Minority
shareholders groups”). Such minority shareholders include:

— Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd., which
owned a 49% interest in a subsidiary of the Group, namely
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd., as at 31st December, 2009.

— Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd., which owned a 49%
interest in a subsidiary of the Group, namely Shaanxi Heavy
Duty Automotive Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Zhongqi”), as at 31st
December, 2009.

— Dong Feng Automotive Group Co., Ltd., which owned a 40%
interest in a subsidiary of the Group, namely Dong Feng Off-
road Vehicles Co., Ltd., as at 31st December, 2009.

— Zhuzhou Gear Share Co., Ltd. (“Zhuzhou Gear Share”), which
owned a 33.98% interest in a subsidiary of the Group, namely
Zhuzhou Gear Co., Ltd. (“Zhuzhou Gear”), as at 31st
December, 2009.

— Mudan Jiang Huatong Automotive Group Company Limited
(“"Huatong”), which owned a 20.04% interest in a subsidiary
of the Group, namely Mudan Jiang Futong Automotive Air
Conditioner Co., Ltd. (“Futong”), as at 31st December, 2009.

87§55 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_A=+—H

4. BB AR % (18)

(a)

BRAMBREREMBOHFL RS
S - AR SR B R AN AR K SRR B T 1T
ZERZHMT : (&)

et -

(i) R=ZFFEAF+ZA=+—A &
RA]—BHBTEEFRARBRE
BLETRAAFEHETZERERA
Al ([BE L AR ]) # B54.33% K
o BEKIFNHAE LR R A413%
Wz o FHMBEZBHETRZTS
HETHERZHEBAAGTYL @ BlE
BEEZIEEW (EB)BERAALR
BEL (L&) HHMBERRAA -

(i) ~AEEETAAHELHRRET L E
BRBEZHHS RS ZELEHR
REZERFRANERF(HE
[LBRREE ) BREEAZE -
ZELHBREERE :

— PAETEAEEHEERS
Bad RZBEZEAFL=
A=1+—H#BAEH XK
HiEREIBEAE . E R A
RAGEIAI49% 1E2s ©

— KATELEEEFERAE R
—EEAF+=—A=+—H
HH A EE— K[ E R E] B
PERTEFRA A ([ B
E%])H49% Bz o

— FRATELEERNDABRA
A R=ZFZFENF+ZA
=+ —HE#EBLXEE—FH
BRABRIREYEELRRA]
H140% HE 25 ©

—  HBNEHBRGERRE([#H
MEHKRGB]) R=ZFF
NE+=—A=+—B#HEX
EEH KM B A AKNE TR
BIRRB([HNE g )i
33.98% 1z ©

— HATEETEZTHMHERE
REI([EE]) R=—FFAN
Fr_A=+—HHEFLE
B — XK B 2 Al 4t F T = A
REEBERAA(EE])
£920.04% ¥ 7

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 iR

205



206

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e\

31st December, 2009

L4, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(d)

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Other transactions with related parties:

(i) As at 31st December, 2008, Zhuzhou Gear Share pledged
its buildings with net book value of RMB16,220,000 for
general banking facilities granted by a bank to Zhuzhou
Gear. All the relevant bank loans have been repaid in

2009.

(i) As at 31st December, 2008, Huatong pledged a building
with net book value of RMB24,802,000 for general
banking facilities granted by a bank to Futong. All the
relevant bank loans have been repaid in 2009.

Balances due from/to related parties:

The balances due from/to related parties mainly resulted from
trading transactions and miscellaneous amounts reimbursable
by/to the related parties. Further details are set out in notes 27,
28, 31 and 32 to the financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

Bl 5 ¥k R B 5 (78)
—FFAFF+-_A=1+—H

4, EEH
(b)

EX% (mg)
ERRFEE ST HMR S

(i) F_2%A¢+—H_+f
RN B R D M SR 1T
ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%@@ﬁm&ﬁ%
16,220,000 L Z#EF - EAR
BITHEMNEHTH — KRR
TREEZER - R=ZFZT A
E %ﬁm%ﬁﬂfﬁﬁa

T

nTu}a
nilE

(i) R=ZBEFZNAF+_A=+-—
H - ZRa@EcEBFEER
& A A K% 24,802,000 7T 2
BF  UEARITHEAR
H—RETEEZER - B
—ZZNF - FMAMEBRST
BERHYBEEE -

e, AT BB 7 2 A BR

JEW TN BREE S 2 BB EERE
BB ET IR EERAREE
B/ EWHEBTHESE - E—F
& B B 7S K MY E27 - 28
31532-

AEBEBREEASNEHH

Group
E¥
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR T
Short term employee benefits HEHEERA 19,709 15,649
Post-employment benefits 215 175
Total compensation paid to key DNBEREBAENGMEE
management personnel 19,924 15,824

Further details of directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments are
included in note 8 to the financial statements.

Except for the transactions with jointly-controlled entity and
associates, all the above related party transactions also
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

KB NRMBERR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) Bt ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5% (&)
31st December, 2009 —EFANFF+ZHA=1+—H
45, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY v, BB T AN
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EEMBIERBERRCEEEN
instruments as at the end of reporting period are as follows: N
2009 —EENE
Financial assets MBEE
Group
rEE
Available-
for-sale
Loans and financial
receivables assets Total
BERR e
& W BR 3K MKEEE wm
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR®TR AR®BT=R

Trade and bills receivables (note 27) FEWE ZFEZR N EE

(Kizt27) 11,352,945 = 11,352,945
Financial assets included PIABRRE  Zek

in prepayments, deposits and H fth & W 5k IE 2 B 75

other receivables (note 28) BE (M aF28) 688,032 = 688,032
Available-for-sale investments Al ERE (faF23)

(note 23) == 477,430 477,430
Pledged deposits (note 29) BB FR (A 7F29) 2,979,932 = 2,979,932
Cash and cash equivalents (note 29) 3R & RIBEE&EEW (AiE29) 3,598,339 = 3,598,339

18,619,248 477,430 19,096,678
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) Bt 15 3R R Bt 5E (48)
31st December, 2009 —EFTNFF+=A=4+—H
45, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY us. BB TE NG (8)
(CONTINUED)
2009 —EEBNLF
Financial liabilities BEaE
Group
rEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
g
RAGHE K
HKasE
RMB’000
AR TR
Trade and bills payables (note 317) ERESERRRE (HZ31) 11,830,642
Financial liabilities included in other payables and TIAEMENBERNETER Z P&
accruals (note 32) BE(MaE32) 2,826,910
Debentures (note 33) &% (M1 33) 1,281,669
Interest-bearing bank and T RERIT R EMAER (M E34)
other borrowings (note 34) 2,457,864
18,397,085
2008 —ZETNF
Financial assets HEEE
Group
rEH
Available-
for-sale
Loans and financial
receivables assets Total
BEREk A E
FE Uk BR 5k % & E ]
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBETT ARETEIT AR®TR

Trade and bills receivables (note 27) JEWE FEZXNREE

(HtaE27) 6,930,008 — 6,930,008
Financial assets included PIATERRIE - i2e &

in prepayments, deposits and H e UK BR 3k 2 B A

other receivables (note 28) BE (KiF28) 891,026 — 891,026
Available-for-sale investments AT HERE (ffaF23)

(note 23) — 178,187 178,187
Pledged deposits (note 29) BB F R (A7 a£29) 2,511,809 — 2,511,809
Cash and cash equivalents (note 29) & MIE & EEW (Ff:£29) 3,352,138 — 3,352,138

13,684,981 178,187 13,863,168
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

45, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

87§55 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_A=+—H

45, B TR (58)

(CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities B aE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
bivg s
AR ET £ #
Mg atE
RMB’000
AR T T
Trade and bills payables (note 317) ERESERRARE®E (M 7F31) 10,627,951
Financial liabilities included in other payables and FIAEMEMBERRESER 2%
accruals (note 32) af&E(fraE32) 1,863,379
Debentures (note 33) &% (M #E33) 1,700,000
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITRE MBI (M 7F34)
other borrowings (note 34) 2,086,004
16,277,334
2009 ZEEAF
Financial assets MKEE
Company
QT
Available-
for-sale
Loans and financial
receivables assets Total
BEREK it e
& Ui BR X BMEEE wE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARBTR AR®Tx

Trade and bills receivables EWE ZEREEE

(note 27) (Hfz£27) 7,219,623 — 7,219,623
Financial assets included ABRRIE  Zek

in prepayments, deposits and H i j& W BR R 2 Bt 7

other receivables (note 28) B E (K 7328) 763,028 = 763,028
Available-for-sale investments A EIRE (ME23)

(note 23) — 381,000 381,000
Pledged deposits (note 29) BEEMFER (A 7729) 655,138 = 655,138
Cash and cash equivalents (note 29) R4 RIESZEEW (f1729) 1,442,978 = 1,442,978

10,080,767 381,000 10,461,767
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)

31st December, 2009

—EFAFF=ASt—H

45, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 45, B TH 8 (88)

(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities

MHERE

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

A5t 2 H

BEaE

RMB’000

AR T

Trade and bills payables (note 317) BB SERRAKRE®E (M 7F31) 4,957,975
Financial liabilities included in other payables and TIAEMENBERANETER Z P&

accruals (note 32) BE(MaE32) 1,681,522
Debentures (note 33) &% (M #E33) 1,281,669
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTERIT RE MBI (M 7F34)

(note 34) 748,282

8,669,448
2008 —EETNF
Financial assets MKEEE
Company
PiN/NE]
Available-
for-sale
Loans and financial
receivables assets Total
Bk A E
FE Uk BR 5% %5 E E k]
RMB’'000 RMB‘000 RMB’'000
AR T AR T T AR T T
Trade and bills receivables (note 27)  FEUE SRR =& (A17#27) 3,414,244 — 3,414,244
Financial assets included HIATERRIE « e &

in prepayments, deposits and B e UK BR 3k 2 B ES

other receivables (note 28) BE (K£28) 789,947 — 789,947
Available-for-sale investments At ERE (ffiF23)

(note 23) — 96,200 96,200
Pledged deposits (note 29) BB FR (A7 7529) 1,813,232 = 1,813,232
Cash and cash equivalents (note 29) I} & RIS EEW (A1:7£29) 770,079 — 770,079

6,787,502 96,200 6,883,702

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

45, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities

87§55 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_A=+—H

45, B TR (58)

MEaE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
bivg s
AR ET £ #
Mg atE
RMB’000
AR T T
Trade and bills payables (note 317) ERESERRARE®E (M 7F31) 4,791,896

Financial liabilities included in other payables and FIAEMEMBERRESER 2%
accruals (note 32) BE(MaE32) 1,151,450
Debentures (note 33) &% (M #E33) 900,000

Interest-bearing bank and FTERITRE MBI (M 7F34)
other borrowings (note 34) 868,346
7,711,692
U6. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY u6. nFERER

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and AEENMANLTEREERBEETHLT

disclosing the fair values of financial instruments: BH)RFME

Level 1:  fair values measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted) F—EH: AFENZRRAEEEXERE
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. RERMISE Z2HE (K

A= -

Level 2:  fair values measured based on valuation techniques for F_EBH: AFEDNIRGEREASE
which all inputs which have a significant effect on the ZEMBEREME AR
recorded fair value are observable, either directly or HEHARATEREERY
indirectly. ZM(EERERZ) X

& -
Level 3:  fair values measured based on valuation techniques for FZEBH: AFENDRGEEREATE

which all inputs which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs).

ZEHETAMER O BUR
BRPARRIFEEERY
ENTATBETSHE (T
AEEE) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B RS R R P 5E (48)
31st December, 2009 —EFTNFF+=A=4+—H
46. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED) ue. nFEREBIR (F8)
As at 31st December, 2009, the Group held the following financial RZZBEZARFE+A=+—H x&H
instruments measured at fair value: BEUATRATEFENMBIA :
Assets measured at fair value as at 31st December, 2009: R-BETZAF+_-_A=1+—BERAFE
TEMEE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E-—EBR EE®R FE=ZBH W

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TR ARWTRT AR®TR

Available-for-sale investments At ERE
Equity investments RiERE 385,997 — — 385,997
As at 31st December, 2009, the Company held the following RZZEZNRF+ZA=1+—H  A2Qf
financial instruments measured at fair value: BEATRZAFEFENHHEIA :
Assets measured at fair value as at 31st December, 2009: RZZEZENFF+_A=+—HEZAFE
TENEE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—EB#& E-BHR E=ZEB#& g
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®BTR ARBTRT AR%®Tx
Available-for-sale investments Al HE KB
Equity investments [i% 7 % & 381,000 = = 381,000

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£8)

31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+ZA=4+—H

47. FINANCIAL RISk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND vy, B ERESEEZEEREKR

POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise debentures,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and cash and short term
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, equity
price risk and commodity price risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk
The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s long term debt obligations with a
floating interest rate.

The Group'’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed
and variable rate debts. The Group currently does not have any
interest rate hedging policy.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's profit before tax (through the impact on
floating rate borrowings) and the Group's equity.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the end
of reporting period. For variable-rate bank borrowings, the analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the end of
reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 15 basis
point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

AEENTIEVBIABRKEGES &8
ROREMENR UERREREHF
R-REUBITAZIZENRRENE
BXERHEESXH - AEEATHEAZS
REMMBEEREG  OIMERRNE
BHEEZRBRESERNENE SK

#7 o
AEEMBIEEEZEERBR AT X
R - SNERBR - 5 E R R ‘//lL@J‘_&LH

|§E/\ HX{EﬂﬁrA&PﬁDDET&Hﬁmoéég

EHVRAE LM SIERR 2 EREBER
ZEBERBA T o

F) 2= & bz
ﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁmﬁ%ﬂf“ﬁﬂﬁzx
BRASEENZHFRFE 2 REET
R o

AREBBRELRE HAFRATERTZE
BEHEEER B A - A% BRI ET
] ) 5 SR BUR o

BRBE D

TRIARAEEMAZEERRFTE
MBERT  AEBERBHANECGERF
BRERERNTZE) RAEE# YA
REEAREBHNERE -

ATHSRBRESNIDERRERRIED
ATEZMERBET - 317 8RTE
AmE - HEALSMDEBRENBERARZ
AEEEERARBEFERNGKRE
B MEAREREASANEERMNERR
B RIS E AR AR KREE

BHMENAEBELEIEHOTH -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

L7, FINANCIAL R1Sk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

Bt 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EFAFF=ASt—H

b7 B ERER 2B IRKEEBR

POLICIES (CONTINUED) (%&)
Foreign currency risk SMEE & B
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in Increase/
(decrease) in profit before (decrease) in
basis point tax equity
HEEE FR % 51 F 5 =
#mORd)  #®mnGES)  EmCRD)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR TR
2009 —EENE
RMB A B 15 (3,361) (2,845)
RMB AR (15) 3,361 2,845
usD E7T 15 (102) (87)
usD ETT (15) 102 87
HKD & TT 15 (123) (103)
HKD T (15) 123 103

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates
between the RMB and other currencies in which the Group conducts
business may affect its financial condition and results of operations.
The Group seeks to limit its exposure to foreign currency risk by
minimising its net foreign currency position.

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise
from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other than
the units’ functional currency. Approximately 9% (2008: 9%) of the
Group's sales and 0.44% (2008: 0.79%) of the Group’s purchases are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
operating units making the sales and purchases. The Group has not
entered into any forward currency arrangements during the year
ended 31st December, 2009.

MEDNRMDERLT

SSERBEREXSEHELBANEA
B ARBEEAKBREXBBRMNHE
MEEZRNEXKHEXELAKEN
MBERARAMELES - AKEBK BB
B INE T B ALY T3 R R R ESMNE R B o

AEBAEAXRHEREAR - ZFRRE
TEREEUUNEEEENAINZE
BETHWEE - AEEHNI%(ZFZTN
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

L7, FINANCIAL R1Sk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

Foreign currency risk (continued)

87§55 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
—EENFF_A=+—H

7 I ERERZEBERER KR
POLICIES (CONTINUED) (£88)
SNE R B (48)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the United States
dollar/RMB exchange rate, in the EUR/RMB and in the Hong Kong
dollar/RMB, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's
profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets
and liabilities) and the Group’s equity.

TRINFARPTA H A & F=Ris T
MEBERAT  AEERVAMNE(BRE
BEERBRBEAFEED) RAKHEHE
SR BERREEZTHARE BTH
ARBRABTLTAANRKEE RIS IE A G
HEHBRE -

Group N EE
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in Increase/
USD/EUR/HKD profit before (decrease)
rate tax in equity
Ex/®Wx,/
78 T B ® B % A A B E xR
EFH (T &) #im, GRd) #wn, GRd)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR® Tt
2009 —EEAE
If RMB weakens against USD MARENETRE 5 4,472 3,706
If RMB strengthens against USD i A R # 3 £ T FHE (5) (4,472) (3,706)
2009 —BBAE
If RMB weakens against EUR AR SBITRE 5 303 244
If RMB strengthens against EUR  fi§ A &% ¥ B T FH & (5) (303) (244)
2009 —EThF
If RMB weakens against HKD MARE S B TRE 5 216 180
If RMB strengthens against HKD i A B & %78 T FH{& (5) (216) (180)
Credit risk FEERK

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions
with overseas customers, the Group does not offer credit terms
without the specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.

AEEERFEREFREEANENE=
FEARS BRAEEHNBE A
BRREEEHETXINEF  LAKS
FEZERFR  AAERE - WI K
SESREEREREHHNEBER  MA
SENZEEARIE AEKR - HEBIHINE
FETHRZME AEBLERMHE
Ef RIBSEEENZTEZRHIM
/e
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2B

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, available-for-sale
financial assets, amounts due from associates and a jointly-controlled
entity, and other receivables, arises from default of the counterparty,
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments. The Group is also exposed to credit risk through the
granting of financial guarantees, further details of which are
disclosed in note 40 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of
credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical
region and by industry sector. At the end of reporting period, the
Group has certain concentration of credit risk as 14.39% (2008:
22.18%) of the Group's trade receivables were due from the five
largest customers.

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’
financial conditions. The allowance for doubtful debts is based upon
a review of the expected collectability of all trade receivables.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade and bills receivables are disclosed in note 27 to
the financial statements.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of not having access to sufficient funds to
meet the Group’s obligations as they become due. The Group seeks
to manage its liquidity risk by maintaining a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans
and debentures.

MEDNRMDERLT

Bt 5 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EFAFF=ASt—H
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

L7, FINANCIAL R1Sk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

87§55 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)

ZEFAFFZA=1—

7 B ERER 2B IRKEEBR

H

POLICIES (CONTINUED) 8)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEMRRE (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of BEROARFTRMNAAE  AEEREE
reporting period based on the contractual undiscounted payment, is MRZHMBRABZHHBERAT
as follows:
Group ZN S
2009 —EEAF
3 to
On  Less than less than 1to5 Over
demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
3Z LR
RERX OR3EA 1218 A 1256  HBsH &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR¥TRT ARBTRT AR®TR ARTR AR¥T:R
Interest-bearing bank and AERTREMER
other borrowings — 334,133 1,159,558 1,010,331 6,284 2,510,306
Trade and bills payables ERESERRER — 10,486,201 1,344,441 = — 11,830,642
Financial liabilities included in B1) 7% L At B BR A0 2
other payables and accruals EAERNTKARE — 1,077,365 1,749,545 - — 2,826,910
Debentures &5 — - 42,900 1,557,400 — 1,600,300
— 11,897,699 4,296,444 2,567,731 6,284 18,768,158
Group RE
2008 —EE)N\EF
3to
On Less than less than Tt05 Over
demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
EEN
BEX  JSR3EA 12{8 A 1255 BBsHF Ch
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARETRT ARBTE ARBTR ARBTR ARETT
Interest-bearing bank and FERTREMBER
other borrowings — 258,877 1,201,900 812,703 12,004 2,285,484
Trade and bills payables EREZERRER — 5798843 4,829,108 = — 10,627,951
Financial liabilities included in §|Jﬁﬁm@ﬁﬁﬁm&
other payables and accruals BAZ2ENTKARE — 939,147 924,232 — — 1,863,379
Debentures fE% — 805,416 923,400 — — 1,728,816
— 7,802,283 7,878,640 812,703 12,004 16,505,630
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

87 955 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)

31st December, 2009 —EFNFF+=A=1+—H

47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND w7 B RRERBCERRKER
POLICIES (CONTINUED) (%48)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEMRRE (&)
Company AT
2009 —EENF
3to
On  Less than less than 1to5 Over
demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
3ZHR
RER SH3fER 1218 A 1258  BB5F Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR¥ETR ARBTRT AR®Tn ARTR AR¥Tx
Interest-bearing bank and FTEBRITREMER
other borrowings — 76,864 502,235 210,246 — 789,345
Trade and bills payables ENEZEFREE — 4,427,987 529,988 - — 4,957,975
Financial liabilities included in Bl B E A EAERR K
other payables and accruals B ERMBKER - 100,811 1,580,711 - — 1,681,522
Debentures &% - — 42,900 1,557,400 — 1,600,300
— 4,605,662 2,655,834 1,767,646 — 9,029,142
Group A F
2008 —ET)N\F
3to
On Less than less than Tt05 Over
demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
EEYN
BE2x  LR3EA 1218 A 1E5%  BESF =
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR ARETRT ARETR
Interest-bearing bank and T ERTREMER
other borrowings — 68,716 100,014 747,093 — 915,823
Trade and bills payables EREZERRER — 2,242,988 2,548,908 — — 4,791,896
Financial liabilities included in Fl B E M EAERR K
other payables and accruals E:tERANTHKaE 236,991 518,556 395,903 — — 1,151,450
Debentures B5 — — 923,400 — — 923,400
236,991 2,830,260 3,968,225 747,093 — 7,782,569
218 WeicHat Power Co., LTD. %@ NBRHRERLS




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5F (£8)

31st December, 2009 ZEFTNFF+=A=1+—H

47, FINANCIAL R1SKk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND n7 B EAREIREvERERE KR

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the
value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price
risk arising from individual equity investments classified as available-
for-sale investments (note 23) as at 31st December, 2009. The
Group's listed equity investments are mainly listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted market prices at the end of
reporting period.

The market equity indices for the following stock exchanges, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of
reporting period, and their respective highest and lowest points
during the year were as follows:

31st December
2009
—BBAE
+=BR=+—H

Shanghai — A Share Index  E/8 — AR H 3,437

(%&)

R EE%E R
P 32 (B 1% = B B B S 58 55 A (B B B AR
BEKTRENZESFBENE S ME

ENER R-TFTFAFT_HA=1+—
B AEEEHRBENKINAAHEE
KRE(ME23)WREREMEENRRE
BERAR AKEZETEREREETE
EEBELSXSA LT MEEERASF
RERSHROTHRE -

NTRAEXGAINFARAERX S B ER
EHREXRHAEREORETIS HE
RERAEEZRSMUMKRELZAT :

High/low 31st December High/low
2009 2008 2008
—2ELF —TENEF —ZEZN
=5/ +t=ZA=+-—8H =/ &
3,644/ 1,912 5,771/
1,956 1,793

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10% change
in the fair values of the listed equity investments, with all other
variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on their
carrying amounts at the end of reporting period. For the purpose of
this analysis, for the available-for-sale listed equity investments the
impact is deemed to be on the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors such as
impairment which might impact the income statement.

TRIBERBEHRNEEESE - £
TEREREATEBI0%EY (EHE
Al FEERREFAE - TR AT A

FE INBRE -BRANHME - A
HEELETRERE 2FEWRFEATH
HEREELREIFE LB RE
AR PIMAEHRERERTEZ
AR e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

47, FINANCIAL R1Sk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

87 55 ¥R R BT 5E (48)
—EFAFF=ASt—H

b7, MBRREECEBRR KR

POLICIES (CONTINUED) (#&)
Equity price risk (continued) REEERER (&)
Group AEME
Carrying amount Increase/
of equity decrease in
investments equity
REREZ Ew
REE #m, W
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR T T
Equity investments listed in: MRS ) RERE
Shanghai — Available-for-sale B —AftEE 381,000 38,100
Elsewhere — Available-for-sale Hiphm — Ak H & 4,997 500
Commodity price risk & m B R b

In addition to the above risks relating to financial instruments, the
Group is exposed to the commodity price risk such as steel and metal
(major components of the Group’s raw materials). The Group
currently does not have any arrangement to hedge the price risk
exposure of its raw material purchases.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it,
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31st December, 2009 and 31st December,
2008.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2009

L7, FINANCIAL R1Sk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade, bills and other
payables, debentures, less cash and cash equivalents and pledged
deposits, and excludes discontinued operations. Capital includes
equity attributable to equity holders of the Company. The gearing
ratios as at the end of reporting period were as follows:

87§55 ¥R 2 Bff 5 (4&)
—EFENFF_A=+—H

b7, MBERREEBECERR KR

(%&)

EXERE (&)
AEERBEAABXR(EERRFA
BERNEEREFREZM) EEER -
BEFEEASRITREMENR &
NEZER FEREMENTE &
o RRAELACEEYREERER
(TERERLEEXRR) BEXRBENRN
RAEEFBEABRGERAE - RREHAR
BARBEXRMT :

Group b=

2009 2008

—EENEF —ET)NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARB TR AR T T

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings AT B ERIT R E Ab 1B 2,457,864 2,086,004

Trade and bills payables BB ZEFRRER 11,830,642 10,627,951

Debentures BEH 1,281,669 1,700,000

Other payables and accruals HENERRESTER 3,574,003 2,916,253
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and B IBeRIBEEEYIAR

pledged deposits B IR F R 6,578,271 5,863,947

Net debt & 7% % 58 12,565,907 11,466,261

Equity attributable to owners of the parent BARHAE ARGER 11,754,618 7,257, 754

Capital and net debt BREZFAREG 24,320,525 19,464,015

Gearing ratio BEARBEX 52% 59%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2009

48.

49,

50.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 25th March, 2010, the Company, Shaanxi Zhongqi, Weichai
Heavy Machinery and Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd.
(“SHIGC") entered into an agreement with Shantui Construction
Machinery Co., Ltd. (“Shantui”), pursuant to which the Company,
Shaanxi Zhongqi, Weichai Heavy Machinery and SHIGC agreed to
make a capital contribution of RMB180 million, RMB180 million,
RMB180 million and RMB200 million, respectively, into Shantui
Leasing Co., Ltd., which is currently a wholly owned subsidiary of
Shantui. Upon completion of the capital contribution, the Company
and Shaanxi Zhonggqi will each own 19.565% interest in Shantui
Leasing Co., Ltd.. The transaction was approved by the board of
directors of the Company on 5th February, 2010.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements, due to
the adoption of new and revised HKFRSs during the current year, the
accounting treatment and presentation of certain items and balances
in the financial statements have been revised to comply with the new
requirements. Accordingly, certain comparative amounts have been
reclassified and restated to conform with the current year'’s
presentation and accounting treatment.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 26th April, 2010.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and minority interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as
appropriate, is set out below:
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Year ended 31st December

BEt-A=+t—BHLEE

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
ZEENFE ZEENFE ZEELFE ZEERF ZZETRF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTRT ARETT AR®TIT AR®%Tx
RESULTS ES
REVENUE A 35,260,899 32,567,190 28,786,183 6,633,668 5,250,735
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R ¥4 51 F 8 4,679,244 2,740,698 3,273,142 889,109 410,602
Tax T 18 (732,380) (328,989) (479,566) (181,099) (93,919)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 2 FFH 3,946,864 2,411,709 2,793,576 708,010 316,683
Attributable to: AT AL RS :
Equity holders [SI/NGIE X
of the parent A A 3,406,935 1,928,955 2,014,904 702,695 315,203
Minority interests DB R 539,929 482,754 778,672 5,315 1,480
3,946,864 2,411,709 2,793,576 708,010 316,683
Dividends iz 2 399,862 108,296 229,088 133,685 108,900
Basic earnings BRERAEF
per share (in RMB) (AR TT) 4.09 2.32 2.72 1.33 0.60
ASSETS, LIABILITIES EE &
Total Assets BEE 36,375,477 29,949,867 22,592,493 16,855,513 5,611,955
Total Liabilities R =R (20,714,162) (18,623,389) (13,194,305) (10,496,149) (3,150,994)
Capital and reserves BARNGEE 15,661,315 11,326,478 9,398,188 6,359,364 2,460,961
Equity attributable ZN/NIS v
to equity holders BB A
of the Company FE 45 & 11,754,618 7,997,754 6,383,472 2,984,562 2,398,581
Minority interests DR R HE S 3,906,697 3,328,724 3,014,716 3,374,802 62,380
15,661,315 11,326,478 9,398,188 6,359,364 2,460,961
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION WmTaEl

STATEMENT OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CONSOLIDATED RIFESBUHFHRESER (BB H
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER HONG KONG REEH ) FEROGOMIFEHRETM
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS”) AND RIFPREFSHER ([PBE LR
THOSE UNDER ACCOUNTING STANDARDS FOR BUSINESS SHEH ) MERRGOMBHRETMN
ENTERPRISES (“PRC GAAP”) & 5l 2 687

Other than certain classification of financial statement items, there are no R BBEXEENE THEN BREFBEAQ
significant differences between the results for the year ended 31st R B EURROEENREFTEV RS
December, 2009 and the net assets as of that date as reported in the ZABENEEMZIN 2B E_ZTZTNEF
accounts prepared using PRC GAAP and HKFRS. T A=+ BLEFEZESERRNZBZF
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